Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: November 9, 2021 REVISED: April 27, 2022 ACCEPTED: June 9, 2022 PUBLISHED: July 13, 2022

Supercool composite Dark Matter beyond 100 TeV

Iason Baldes,^a Yann Gouttenoire,^{b,c} Filippo Sala^d and Géraldine Servant^{b,e}
^a Service de Physique Théorique, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Boulevard du Triomphe, CP225, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium
^b Deutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron DESY, Notkestr. 85, 22607 Hamburg, Germany
^c School of Physics and Astronomy, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv 69978, Israel
^d LPTHE, CNRS & Sorbonne Université, 4 Place Jussieu, F-75252, Paris, France
^e H. Institute of Theoretical Physics, Universität Hamburg, Luruper Chaussee 149, D-22761 Hamburg, Germany
E-mail: iasonbaldes@gmail.com, yann.gouttenoire@gmail.com, filo.sala@gmail.com, geraldine.servant@desy.de

ABSTRACT: Dark Matter could be a composite state of a confining sector with an approximate scale symmetry. We consider the case where the associated pseudo-Goldstone boson, the dilaton, mediates its interactions with the Standard Model. When the confining phase transition in the early universe is supercooled, its dynamics allows for Dark Matter masses up to 10^6 TeV. We derive the precise parameter space compatible with all experimental constraints, finding that this scenario can be tested partly by telescopes and entirely by gravitational waves.

KEYWORDS: Beyond Standard Model, Confinement, Cosmology of Theories beyond the SM, Technicolor and Composite Models

ARXIV EPRINT: 2110.13926



Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1
2	Supercooling from a nearly-conformal sector		
	2.1	The dilaton potential and interactions	4
	2.2	Finite-temperature corrections	6
	2.3	Computation of the nucleation temperature	7
3	Dilaton-mediated composite DM		
	3.1	DM candidates in composite Higgs	10
	3.2	Dilaton-mediated interactions between DM and SM	12
	3.3	DM annihilations and unitarity bound	15
	3.4	Indirect detection	17
	3.5	Direct detection	21
	3.6	Collider limits	22
	3.7	DM abundance fixed by freeze-out	24
4	Supercooled dilaton-mediated composite DM		
	4.1	Dilution of the fundamental quanta	26
	4.2	Enhancement by string breaking	27
	4.3	Enhancement by deep inelastic scattering	28
	4.4	Thermal effects	29
	4.5	Phenomenology	32
5	Stochastic gravitational wave background		
	5.1	GW from bubble collision	33
	5.2	Signal-to-noise ratio	35
	5.3	Analytical estimate	36
	5.4	Comments	37
6	Sun	nmary and outlook	38
A	5D dual picture		
	A.1	Dilaton in warped extra dimensions	41
	A.2	From 5D to 4D	42
в	Analytical tunneling approximations		
	B.1	The thick wall limit	43
	B.2	Application to the light-dilaton scenario	43
		B.2.1 High-temperature or low-temperature expansion	43
		B.2.2 $O(3)$ thick-wall action	44
		B.2.3 $O(4)$ thick-wall action	45

	B.3	Analytical expression for the nucleation temperature	45
		B.3.1 $O(3)$ nucleation temperature	45
		B.3.2 $O(4)$ nucleation temperature	46
		B.3.3 Discussion	48
	B.4	Precise percolation temperature	48
С	C More plots		
	C.1	Non-supercooled dilaton-mediated composite DM	50
	C.2	Supercooled dilaton-mediated composite DM	50
D	DM	non-relativistic potential	52
	D.1	Dilaton-mediated channel	53
	D.2	Higgs-mediated channel	56
E	DM	annihilation cross-sections	57
	E.1	Fermion	61
	E.2	Scalar	62
	E.3	Vector	63
F	Dire	ect-detection cross-sections	64
	F.1	Fermion	64
	F.2	Vector	65
	F.3	Scalar	65
	F.4	pNGB	65
G	Dilaton decay width		
	G.1	Into WW and ZZ	65
	G.2	Into Higgs	65
	G.3	Into fermions	66
	G.4	Into pNGB DM	66

JHEP07 (2022)084

1 Introduction

In the coming years we will be flooded by data offering new windows on particle physics at high energy scales. Telescopes such as CTA [1] and LHAASO [2] will collect, for the first time, γ rays at and above 100 TeV, and KM3NeT [3] will explore a similar energy range in upward going neutrinos from the Galactic Centre. Underground experiments for Dark Matter (DM) direct detection, such LZ [4] and DARWIN [5], will test new parameter regions of heavy DM mass. Further in the future, interferometers such as LISA [6], DECIGO [7], and the Einstein Telescope [8] will be sensitive to gravitational waves (GWs) generated at (currently unexplored) high temperatures in the early universe, thus offering yet another beacon on physics at high energies. These prospects are particularly exciting as they could unveil some of the current mysteries of Nature at a fundamental level. It appears unavoidable that some physics beyond the Standard Model (BSM) lives at high energy scales, given the success of the Standard Model (SM) in explaining physics below a TeV.

In comparison with the information extracted from colliders, these upcoming experiments will offer indirect information. However, they are highly complementary with each other. It is therefore important to cross-correlate the signals that any given BSM sector could yield in each of these experiments. It is likely that this would be the only way to tell apart different models, which can easily appear indistinguishable in a single dataset. In this paper we take a step in this direction. We determine how telescopes, underground labs and GW interferometers interplay in testing a concrete class of heavy DM models, that are motivated by a wide picture of solutions to other problems of the SM.

We will consider Dark Matter as a composite state of a new confining sector, which acquires mass precisely at the associated confining phase transition in the early universe. From the DM point of view, new strongly coupled sectors are appealing because they are associated with global symmetries of high quality below the confinement scale. These symmetries imply the existence of stable or very long-lived composite states, much like the proton in QCD, and therefore render confining sectors a natural starting point in building DM models, see e.g. [9]. This property also makes confining sectors useful for BSM more generally, for example they can solve the quality problem of the QCD axion [10, 11]. Such sectors have also attracted enormous attention because they dynamically generate a mass scale via dimensional transmutation, when their characteristic coupling runs from perturbative values in the UV to large values in the IR. This adds to their appeal for DM model building, as they provide an explanation for the origin of the DM mass. Independently of DM, strongly-coupled sectors are ubiquitous in extensions of the SM because dimensional transmutation enables one to obtain large and stable hierarchies among mass scales. This has, for example, been used to address the hierarchy problem in composite [12, 13], Twin Higgs [14-17] and relaxion models [18, 19] and to explain the separation between the supersymmetry breaking and the Planck scale [20, 21]. Needless to say, a new confining sector could address several of the SM issues mentioned above at the same time.

Here we will focus on strongly-coupled sectors where an approximate scale symmetry is spontaneously broken at confinement, so that a light pseudo-Goldstone boson exists in the spectrum, the dilaton [22]. When the explicit breaking of conformal invariance is sufficiently small, the dilaton can be significantly lighter than the confinement scale set by the dilaton vacuum expectation value (vev). As the dilaton vev sets all scales in the strong sector, if the dilaton is light, other dynamical fields can be integrated out and the confinement phase transition can be described in terms of the dilaton vev only. In these models the confining phase transition (PT) in the early universe is supercooled, namely bubble nucleation is so delayed that the radiation energy density becomes smaller than the vacuum energy, so that the universe undergoes a stage of inflation until the PT ends [23]. Supercooled PTs have been predicted in the 5D holographic warped description [24–36], which is dual to nearly-conformal 4D theories [37–45], and have attracted a lot of interest recently. Unique dynamical features of any such PT were pointed out and modelled in [45]: fundamental quanta of the confining sector, upon being swallowed by the expanding bubbles, connect to



Figure 1. The abundance of scalar composite DM is reproduced along the red dashed line in the case of standard freeze-out, and along the blue lines in presence of a supercooled phase-transition, for different values of the nucleation temperature $T_{\rm nuc}$. See eq. (4.18) and eq. (4.19) for a description of the sub-freeze-out and sub-freeze-in regimes. See figure 6 for analogous figures with experimental limits and sensitivities superimposed. This figure has been drawn for Z = 5 (defined in section 2.1) and BR = 10^{-6} (defined in eq. (4.16)). If the reheating temperature is smaller than the freeze-out one $T_{\rm RH} \leq T_{\rm FO}$, then the phase transition results in a slightly different DM abundance than the standard case even for vanishing supercooling (large $T_{\rm nuc}$), cf. eq. (4.18), so that the red and the leftmost blue lines do not overlap.

their walls via strings which then fragment, producing high-energy populations of hadrons. These dynamics have several important effects, for example the relic abundance of composite states, which acquire mass at the PT, is affected by many orders of magnitudes with respect to the (wrong) treatment where these effects are ignored.

In the present work we build upon the results of [45] and apply them to a concrete model of composite Dark Matter which interacts with the SM through the dilaton portal, thus generalizing, extending and updating former studies in refs. [46–50]. We offer a preview of our result for the DM abundance in figure 1, where one can appreciate that a wide parameter space opens up for DM heavier than what predicted by standard freeze-out.

This paper is organised as follows. In section 2 we introduce a light dilaton, which controls the physics of the phase transition, and calculate the associated nucleation temperature. In section 3 we assume that the dilaton mediates the interactions between DM and the SM, which allows us to make precise statements regarding the DM abundance and, in section 4, to unify its treatment with that of the PT. It also allows us to explore the complementarity among the myriad experimental signatures of this scenario, which were not addressed in [45]: we explore DM signals in sections 3.4, 3.5 and GW ones in section 5. We conclude in section 6, and complement this paper with a series of technical results in the various appendices.

2 Supercooling from a nearly-conformal sector

Spontaneous breaking of scale invariance. We assume that, at high-energies, the theory is described by a strongly-interacting conformal field theory (CFT) plus a small explicit breaking of scale invariance, which we parameterise with the slightly relevant operator $\epsilon \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon}$, with scaling dimension $d = 4 + \gamma_{\epsilon} \leq 4$ and $\epsilon \ll 1$ in the UV. We assume that ϵ grows at lower energies, until the CFT is spontaneously broken and a confinement scale f is generated. Similarly to QCD, we expect this to give rise to a tower of resonances of mass of order f.

EFT described by the dilaton. We further assume that the dilaton χ , the pseudo-Goldstone boson associated to the spontaneous breaking of scale invariance, is lighter than these resonances. It is then possible to integrate them out and describe the phase transition in terms of the dilaton field only. A model building effort is required to obtain a parametrically light dilaton in strongly-coupled theories [51–57]. In this paper we will not make progress in this direction, and we will limit ourselves to dilaton masses $m_{\sigma} \gtrsim f/5$.

Connection to the lattice. On the lattice side, evidence for a light dilaton with a mass $m_{\sigma} \simeq 0.5 m_{\rho}$ where ρ is the lightest vector meson¹ have been shown in SU(3) gauge theory with $N_f = 8$ massless Dirac fermions in the fundamental representation [59] or with $N_f = 2$ massless Dirac fermions in the sextet (two index symmetric) representation [60, 61]. In that context, see the studies [62–64] where free parameters of some dilaton EFT are adjusted on the results of the lattice simulations.

2.1 The dilaton potential and interactions

pNGB of scale invariance. The dilaton is defined by its transformation rule, $\chi'(x) \rightarrow \lambda \chi'(x/\lambda)$, under dilatations $x_{\mu} \rightarrow x_{\mu}/\lambda$. The prime index is to account for the option that the kinetic term of χ' is non-canonically normalised, a possibility which turns out to have phenomenological relevance, and which we therefore treat in some detail. A non-canonically normalised kinetic term is for example a well known prediction of 5D duals of our 4D CFT picture (see e.g. [24–26, 65, 66]). We review such duality in appendix A and stick to a purely 4D description in the rest of the exposition.

Scale invariance allows one to write a potential term of the form χ'^4 , which is either unbounded from below or implies $\langle \chi' \rangle = 0$, with no pNGB in the spectrum. The slightly relevant coupling ϵ , which comes from a small explicit breaking of the scale invariance, generates an additional potential for the dilaton, $\epsilon(\chi')\chi'^{4+\gamma_{\epsilon}}$, that in turn can lead to spontaneous symmetry breaking $\langle \chi' \rangle \neq 0$. We then parametrize the dilaton field as

$$\chi'(x) = f e^{\frac{\sigma'(x)}{f}} \tag{2.1}$$

where $\sigma'(x)$ transforms non-linearly under dilatations, $\sigma'(x) \to \sigma'(\lambda x) + f \log \lambda$. Assuming \mathcal{O}_{ϵ} stays close-to-marginal till confinement, $|\gamma_{\epsilon}| \ll 1$, one has $\partial \epsilon / \partial \log \mu \simeq \gamma_{\epsilon} \epsilon$, where μ

¹If the scalar σ is indeed the dilaton, we expect m_{σ}/m_{ρ} to go to zero in the large volume limit [58].

²This does not happen in QCD, where $|\beta_{\alpha_s}| \sim O(1)$ at confinement, and where indeed there is no evidence for a light dilaton. See [53, 54] for models that achieve $|\beta_{\epsilon}| \ll 1$ (or $|\gamma_{\epsilon}| \ll 1$, equivalent for our discussion).

is the renormalization scale. As anticipated, ϵ grows in the IR³ until scale invariance gets spontaneously broken. We parameterise the dilaton potential as

$$V(\chi') = c_{\chi} g_{\chi}^2 \chi'^4 \left[1 - \frac{1}{1 + \gamma_{\epsilon}/4} \left(\frac{\chi'}{f}\right)^{\gamma_{\epsilon}} \right], \qquad (2.2)$$

where c_{χ} is an order one parameter and $g_{\chi} \gtrsim 1$ is a coupling, about which we give more details in appendix A. We omit for simplicity a constant term ensuring the smallness of the cosmological constant. This potential implies $\langle \chi' \rangle = f$.

Dilaton EFT. The field χ' is responsible for the generation of the masses m_{ψ} of the composite resonances ψ (and via the Higgs also of the SM fields, in CHMs). We conveniently employ χ' as a compensator for any non-marginal operator in the Lagrangian [67]. All in all, accounting for the possibility of a non-canonical normalisation $Z \neq 1$ of the kinetic term ($Z^2 = 24$ in the 5D dual reviewed in appendix A), the Lagrangian for χ' reads

$$\mathcal{L}'_{\chi} = \frac{Z^2}{2} (\partial_{\mu} \chi')^2 - V(\chi') - y_{\psi} \bar{\psi} \psi \chi', \qquad (2.3)$$

where we have introduced the coupling y_{ψ} such that

$$m_{\psi} = y_{\psi} f. \tag{2.4}$$

Canonically normalized dilaton. We define the canonically normalised compensator field χ and the dilaton field σ as

$$\chi \equiv Z\chi', \quad \text{and} \quad \sigma \equiv \chi - Zf.$$
 (2.5)

This leads to the potential

$$V(\chi) = \frac{c_{\chi}}{Z^4} g_{\chi}^2 \chi^4 \left[1 - \frac{1}{1 + \gamma_{\epsilon}/4} \left(\frac{\chi}{Zf} \right)^{\gamma_{\epsilon}} \right], \qquad (2.6)$$

with a minimum at $\langle \chi \rangle = Z f$. The dilaton interactions read

$$y_{\psi}\bar{\psi}\psi\frac{\chi}{Z} = m_{\psi}\bar{\psi}\psi\left(1 + \frac{\sigma}{Zf}\right),\tag{2.7}$$

from which it is manifest that the interactions of σ are suppressed by a factor Z with respect to the naive expectation m_{ψ}/f .⁴ Since the value of Z sizeably impacts the phenomenology presented in this paper, in the main text we will show results for different values of this parameter.

³Subleading terms in the evolution of ϵ can be parametrized as $\partial \epsilon / \partial \log \mu \simeq \gamma_{\epsilon} + c_{\epsilon} \epsilon^2 / g_{\chi}^2$, where c_{ϵ} is a small parameter that e.g. in CHMs receive contributions from loops of partially-elementary SM fields. The new term tames the growth of ϵ in the IR, causing it to flow to the IR fixed point $\epsilon_{\rm IR} = -\gamma_{\epsilon} g_{\chi}^2 / c_{\epsilon}$. Subleading terms do not play a crucial role in our discussion and we do not explore them further here, the interested reader can find more details in [39].

⁴Had we reabsorbed Z in the definition of f, as f' = Z f, then Z would have appeared in the definition of the masses in terms of f', and the physics would have of course not changed.

Dilaton mass. Remembering $\gamma_{\epsilon} < 0$, we obtain for the dilaton mass

$$m_{\sigma}^{2} = \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial \sigma^{2}} V(\chi(\sigma))\big|_{\sigma=0} = -4\gamma_{\epsilon} c_{\chi} g_{\chi}^{2} \frac{f^{2}}{Z^{2}}.$$
(2.8)

The smallness of m_{σ} is then tied to the smallness of the anomalous dimension γ_{ϵ} at the confinement scale. Note that in the limit where $|\gamma_{\epsilon}| \ll 1$, the dilaton potential at zero-temperature in eq. (2.6) reduces to the Coleman-Weinberg potential [68]

$$V(\chi) \simeq \frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{Z^2 f^2} \frac{\chi^4}{4} \log\left(\frac{\chi}{e^{1/4} Z f}\right).$$
 (2.9)

Vacuum energy. Finally, the vacuum energy in the unbroken phase reads

$$\Delta V = V(\chi = 0) - V(\chi = Zf) \simeq \left(\frac{Zm_{\sigma}f}{4}\right)^2.$$
(2.10)

This defines the quantity c_{vac} in [45]. If the Higgs is also a condensate of the same strong sector, as in CHM, then one has $\Delta V = (Zm_{\sigma}f/4)^2 + (m_h v_{\rm H})^2/8$, where $m_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$ is the physical Higgs mass and $v_{\rm H} \simeq 246 \text{ GeV}$ its vev. Given the experimental limits on f and the dilaton masses we consider, the Higgs contribution is always negligible with respect to the one of eq. (2.10).

Consequences of non-canonical kinetic term. To summarise, a non-canonical kinetic term for the dilaton has the effect of

- suppressing its physical mass,
- suppressing its couplings,
- enhancing the difference in potential energy between the false and the true vacuum.

2.2 Finite-temperature corrections

Deconfined phase. In the previous section, we discussed the potential of the dilaton in the confined phase which we expect to be the thermodynamically most favorable phase when the temperature is notably below $g_{\chi}f$.⁵ However, when the temperature is notably above $g_{\chi}f$, we expect the deconfined phase to be thermodynamically most favorable. The EFT contains only the dilaton and the SM, so it is inappropriate to use it to describe the departure from the confined phase to the deconfined phase at $T \sim \mathcal{O}(g_{\chi}f)$, since we expect the excitation of heavier bound states as well as their deconfined constituents to play an important role at this temperature and above. Instead of looking for a finer description of the strong sector, which would be very model dependent, we assume that we can approximate the deconfined phase by an $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SU(N) super Yang-Mills which in the large N limit is

⁵The appearance of g_{χ} here can be understood by restoring Planck's constant: $[g_{\chi}] = \hbar^{-1/2}$ and $[f] = \hbar^{1/2} E$, such that $g_{\chi} f$ has the dimension of an energy scale.

dual to an AdS-Schwarzschild space-time [69, 70]. This is known to have free energy $[24]^6$

$$F_{\rm dec} = -\frac{\pi^2}{8} N^2 T^4.$$
 (2.11)

Confined phase at finite-temperature. Without a precise UV description, we are unable to determine the potential for $0 < \chi < T/g_{\chi}$. Nevertheless, we follow [25, 39] and proceed by assuming that the dilaton still approximately exists in this regime, and that its potential can be estimated. With regard to the thermal corrections, we assume that they arise from the N^2 bosons of the CFT in the deconfined phase and model them as [25, 39]

$$V_{\rm T}(\chi,T) = \sum_{\rm CFT\ bosons} \frac{nT^4}{2\pi^2} J_B\left(\frac{m_{\rm CFT}^2}{T^2}\right),\tag{2.12}$$

where each bosonic state comes with a degeneracy factor n, and mass $m_{\rm CFT} = g_{\chi}\chi/Z$. The thermal function J_B is given by

$$J_B(x) = \int_0^\infty dk \ k^2 \log\left[1 - e^{-\sqrt{k^2 + x}}\right].$$
 (2.13)

In order to recover the free energy eq. (2.11) in the deconfined phase, we set

$$\sum_{\text{CFT bosons}} n = \frac{45N^2}{4}.$$
(2.14)

Effective potential. Combining the above, the finite-temperature effective potential for the dilaton is

$$V(\chi, T) = V(\chi) + V_{\rm T}(\chi, T),$$
 (2.15)

with $V(\chi)$ and $V_{\rm T}(\chi, T)$ defined in eq. (2.6) and eq. (2.12). Note that we have neglected the thermal corrections induced by the light degrees of freedom in the confined phase, as these will also be light in the deconfined phase, and irrelevant for our purposes.

2.3 Computation of the nucleation temperature

Tunneling rate. The phase transition, being first order, completes through bubble nucleation via quantum or thermal tunneling. The decay rate of the false vacuum is given by [71-75]

$$\Gamma(T) \simeq \max\left[T^4 \left(\frac{S_3}{2\pi T}\right)^{3/2} \exp\left(-S_3/T\right), \frac{1}{R_c^4} \left(\frac{S_4}{2\pi}\right)^2 \exp\left(-S_4\right)\right],$$
(2.16)

where R_c is the bubble radius, and S_3 and S_4 are the three and four dimensional Euclidean actions of the O(3) and O(4) symmetric tunneling solutions respectively. The former is

⁶Note that the free-energy of an interacting gluon gas is lower than the free-energy of a non-interacting gluon gas, $F = -\frac{\pi^2}{90}2N^2T^4$, by a factor of ~ 5, in conformity with the intuition that switching on the strong interaction would stabilize the phase. Note that we also neglect the number of degrees of freedom $g_{\rm SM}$ of the SM and of the techni-quarks $g_{\rm q}$ compared to the effective number of the techni-gluons $\frac{45}{4}N^2$, namely, $-\frac{\pi^2}{90}(g_{\rm SM} + g_{\rm q} + \frac{45}{4}N^2)T^4 \simeq -\frac{\pi^2}{8}N^2T^4$.

thermally-induced while the later is purely quantum. The S_3 and S_4 bounce actions read

$$S_{3} = 4\pi \int dr \ r^{2} \left(\frac{1}{2} \phi'(r)^{2} + V(\phi(r)) \right), \qquad S_{4} = 2\pi^{2} \int dr \ r^{3} \left(\frac{1}{2} \phi'(r)^{2} + V(\phi(r)) \right)$$
(2.17)

where $V(\phi)$ is the finite temperature effective potential and $\phi(r)$ is the field configuration which interpolates between the two asymptotic vacua. Extremization of the action leads to the Euclidean equation of motion

$$\phi''(r) + \frac{d-1}{r}\phi'(r) = \frac{dV}{d\phi},$$
(2.18)

with boundary conditions

$$\phi'(0) = 0,$$
 and $\lim_{r \to \infty} \phi(r) = 0.$ (2.19)

The phase transition first becomes energetically allowed at the critical temperature,

$$T_c = \left(\frac{Z m_\sigma f}{\sqrt{2\pi}N}\right)^{1/2},\tag{2.20}$$

when the two minima are degenerate.

Nucleation. We consider the phase transition to take place when the number of bubble nucleations per Hubble volume and per Hubble time is of $\sim O(1)$,⁷

$$\Gamma(T_{\rm nuc}) \simeq H(T_{\rm nuc})^4. \tag{2.21}$$

This occurs at an associated $S_{\rm crit}$, typically ~ 100 for the present scenario. We determine $T_{\rm nuc}$ in two different ways.

- Numerical approach. First of all, we solve the bounce action numerically using an "undershoot-overshoot" method. Nucleation temperatures computed numerically, showing the extreme supercooling achievable with light dilaton masses in this model, are shown in figure 2.
- Analytical approach. To aid our understanding, we also derive an analytical expression of the nucleation temperature. Restricting ourselves to the S_4 action for simplicity, we find

$$\left(\frac{T_{\rm nuc}}{T_c}\right)^4 \propto \operatorname{Exp}\left(-c_* \frac{8\,\pi^2}{S_{\rm crit}} \frac{Z^2 f^2}{m_\sigma^2}\right),\tag{2.22}$$

where $c_* \simeq 2$. We refer the reader to appendix B for the derivation, together with further details on the O(3) bounce and the minimal nucleation temperature, below which the universe remains forever stuck in the false vacuum.

From figure 2, or eq. (2.22), we see that for small dilaton mass, or equivalently for small anomalous coupling $|\gamma_{\epsilon}|$, the nucleation temperature is exponentially suppressed, thus leading to a large amount of supercooling. The origin of this behaviour can be traced back to the shallowness of the zero-temperature potential at small dilaton field values.

⁷We refer to appendix B.4 for justification, following a comparison of T_{nuc} to the temperature at which bubbles percolate.



Figure 2. Nucleation temperature, solution of eq. (2.21), after numerically solving the bounce action, as a function of the dilaton mass for different values of the kinetic rescaling factor, Z, and strong sector group SU(N) rank. We see that strong supercooling is associated with a light dilaton. We set f = 10 TeV, $c_{\chi} = 1$, and a dilaton-as-glueball inspired $g_{\chi} = 4\pi/N$. With this scaling of g_{χ} , increasing N leads to an increase in γ_{ϵ} , which can counteract the thermal effects of the additional CFT bosons and lead to a weaker transition. For the same reason, large choices of Z, N, and m_{σ} can also invalidate the perturbative analysis, which is why we restrict ourselves to smaller N for large Z. On the right axis we show approximate values for the number of e-foldings N_e , where we use eq. (4.7) with $m_{\sigma} = 0.5 f$, N = 5 and Z = 2 for definiteness (so the difference between the approximate N_e and the actual N_e is < 1 for the entire plot).

Catalysis through QCD. Finally, we note that for extreme supercooling, QCD effects may enter the effective potential [30, 31, 40, 44, 76, 77] and interestingly can trigger the new confinement phase transition. Therefore, there could be some non-trivial connection between the nucleation temperature and QCD effects. The inclusion of these corrections induces a certain degree of model dependence, due to the altered running of the QCD gauge coupling in the presence of the CFT states [30, 40] leading to two QCD phase transitions in the cosmological history and a modified QCD confinement scale at early times. The first confinement of QCD may then occur at a value far below its value today $T_{\rm QCD} \ll 100$ MeV. Note that even once QCD confines, leading to a reduction in the barrier separating the phases, the tunnelling rate can remain suppressed so that supercooling continues to some much lower temperature [30, 77]. We will not attempt to capture these effects here, but we keep in mind the possibility that our determination of $T_{\rm nuc}$ may be altered, and also that there may be an underlying reason for $T_{\rm nuc}$ to be related to the QCD scale (that has interesting phenomenological implications, such as enabling cold baryogenesis [78] and the use of strong CP violation for baryogenesis [79]).

3 Dilaton-mediated composite DM

3.1 DM candidates in composite Higgs

We consider DM, which we denote η , as being a resonance of the composite sector communicating to the SM through the dilaton portal [46–50]. Numerous other proposals of DM as a resonance of a composite sector exist in the literature, and we refer the interested reader to the review [80]. In this paper, we focus on the case where DM interacts with the SM through the dilaton only. This is a consistent assumption if we do not consider processes at energy scales larger than the confining one. Therefore it is fully justified for the direct detection and dilaton collider phenomenology that we will study later. Coming to the annihilation cross sections, the relevant energies are of the order of the DM mass, and we comment on the validity of our assumption in section 3.3.

We define here all the five models that we will study throughout our paper. To keep the material easy to read, when presenting summary plots of the phenomenological results we will restrict ourselves to two of the models in the main text: scalar DM, and pNGB DM with shift symmetry broken by the top quark. The phenomenologies of the other three models (fermion DM, vector DM, and pNGB DM with shift symmetry broken by bottom quark) are presented in appendix C.

• Scalar DM. The coupling of scalar DM with the dilaton χ can be found treating as usual $\chi' = \chi/Z$ as a conformal compensator, and reads

$$-\frac{\chi^2}{Z^2 f^2} \frac{1}{2} m_{\rm DM}^2 \eta^2 \,. \tag{3.1}$$

This gives the correct mass term after the confining phase transition. Then, the coupling between the DM and the excitation of the dilaton σ , defined in eq. (2.5), is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm DM} \supset -\left(2\frac{\sigma}{Zf} + \frac{\sigma^2}{Z^2 f^2}\right) \frac{1}{2} m_{\rm DM}^2 \eta^2.$$
(3.2)

• Fermion DM. Analogously, for the (Dirac) fermionic case we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm DM} \supset -\frac{\sigma}{Zf} m_{\rm DM} \,\bar{\eta}\eta. \tag{3.3}$$

• Vector DM. Similarly, for the vector case we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm DM} \supset \left(2\frac{\sigma}{Zf} + \frac{\sigma^2}{Z^2 f^2}\right) \frac{1}{2} m_{\rm DM}^2 \eta_\mu \eta^\mu.$$
(3.4)

• pNGB DM. Finally, another possibility for the DM is to be a pNGB of a spontaneously broken global symmetry \mathcal{G} . The main difference with the previous cases is the additional Higgs portal.

Dilaton-mediated channel. In presence of a dilaton, the DM shifts under a \mathcal{G} transformation ω as $\eta \to \eta + \omega \chi' = \eta + \omega \chi/Z$. The genuine dynamical degree of freedom, with kinetic term invariant under \mathcal{G} , is then $\eta/\chi' = Z\eta/\chi$ [39]. By defining V_{η} as the potential generated by the sources of small explicit breaking of \mathcal{G} , which we do not specify here, we then find that the operators invariant under both scale and \mathcal{G} transformations are (also see [49, 81])

$$\mathcal{L}_{\eta\chi} = \frac{\chi^2}{2Z^2} \left(\partial \frac{Z\eta}{\chi} \right)^2 + \frac{\chi^4}{(Zf)^4} V_\eta \left(\frac{Zf\eta}{\chi} \right).$$
(3.5)

The couplings between pNGB DM and the dilaton, at first order in the excitation σ defined in eq. (2.5), then read

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm DM} \supset \frac{\sigma}{Z f} \Big((\partial \eta)^2 - 2m_{\rm DM}^2 \eta^2 \Big) + \frac{\sigma^2 \eta^2}{2(Z f)^2} \Big(m_\sigma^2 - m_{\rm DM}^2 \Big), \tag{3.6}$$

where we have used integration by parts and the equations of motion for both η and σ . Note that the derivative origin of the dilaton coupling to pNGB DM results into different coefficients of the dilaton linear and quadratic interactions with DM, with respect to the case of DM as a scalar resonance eq. (3.2).

Composite Higgs & DM. The couplings of pNGB DM with SM particles are model dependent. While the possibility of DM being a pNGB is interesting irrespective of whether the Higgs boson is also a pNGB or not, here, for concreteness, we will consider the case where the Higgs is also a pNGB. We further assume that the Higgs and DM arise from the spontaneous breaking of the same compact group $\mathcal{G} \to \mathcal{H}$. Minimal composite Higgs models based on the coset $\mathcal{G}/\mathcal{H} = \mathrm{SO}(5)/\mathrm{SO}(4)$ contain just enough broken generators to accommodate the Higgs complex doublet. However, larger cosets can offer additional room for having DM among one of its broken generators. The next-to-minimal coset $\mathrm{SO}(6)/\mathrm{SO}(5)$ with its five pNGBs naturally contains an additional scalar singlet [82]. However, the requisite of DM stability imposes an additional \mathcal{Z}_2 or U(1), so that the minimal cosets containing DM and at the same time justifying its stability are O(6)/O(5) [83, 84] or $\mathrm{SO}(7)/\mathrm{SO}(6)$ [85–87].⁸ Note further that we have made the simplifying assumption that the f of the composite Higgs and the one of the scale breaking coincide, while they really do only up to the ratio of two O(1) couplings, see e.g. [38].

Higgs-mediated channel and quark contact interactions. An intrinsic property of pNGB DM is its derivative coupling with the Higgs, which is entirely fixed by the choice of the coset. A second feature is the DM-Higgs marginal mixing $\lambda_{h\eta}$, which depends on the incomplete representation of the global symmetry \mathcal{G} in which the third generation of quarks is embedded [86]. We focus on the case where the symmetry breaking

⁸Many other examples have been studied in the literature, e.g SO(6)/SO(5) [88–91], SO(7) $\rightarrow G2$ in [92], SU(4)²/SU(4) in [93], SU(4)/Sp(4), SU(5)/SO(5) and SU(4)²/SU(4) in [94], SU(3)/SU(2) × U(1) and SU(2)² × U(1)/SU(2) × U(1) in [95], SO(6)/SO(5), SO(7)/SO(6), SO(7)/G2, SO(5) × U(1)/SO(4) and SO(6)/SO(4) in [90], little Higgs SU(5)/SO(5) in [96], SU(4) × SU(2) × U(1)/Sp(4) × U(1) × \mathbb{Z}_2 in [97], SU(6)/SO(6) in [98], two-Higgs doublet models SO(6)/SO(4) × SO(2) in [88, 99–101] or SO(7)/SO(5) × SO(2) in [102]. We refer to [103] for a review on existing composite Higgs models.

pattern is $\mathcal{G}/\mathcal{H} = O(6)/O(5)$ so that [83]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm DM} \supset \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} \eta)^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \mu_{\eta}^{2} \eta^{2} - \lambda_{h\eta} |H|^{2} \eta^{2} + \frac{1}{2(Zf)^{2}} \left(\partial_{\mu} |H|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \eta^{2} \right)^{2} + \frac{\eta^{2}}{(Zf)^{2}} \left(c_{t} y_{t} \bar{q}_{\rm L} \tilde{H} t_{\rm R} + c_{b} y_{b} \bar{q}_{\rm L} H t_{\rm R} + \text{h.c.} \right),$$
(3.7)

where $v_{\rm H} \equiv \sqrt{2} \langle H \rangle = 246$ GeV, $m_{\rm DM}^2 = \mu_{\eta}^2 + \lambda_{h\eta} v_{\rm H}^2$, and we have neglected terms suppressed by $v_{\rm H}^2/f^2$. The corresponding Feynman rules are given in table 2 of [83]. Two options now present themselves:

- DM shift symmetry broken by top quark. The largest breaking of the shift symmetry $U(1)_h$ protecting the Higgs mass is given by the top contribution. Having the top in some representation that explicitly breaks \mathcal{G} is necessary to give mass to the Higgs, otherwise these models would not be viable. It is model dependent whether the top also breaks the shift symmetry $U(1)_\eta$ protecting the mass of DM. If it does, then one expects the DM mass and the DM-Higgs quartic coupling to be, respectively, (see e.g. [84])

$$m_{\rm DM} \lesssim \frac{m_h}{v_{\rm H}} f \simeq 0.5 f$$
 (3.8)

if the contribution is not tuned to be small, and

$$\lambda_{h\eta} \simeq \lambda_h / 2 \simeq m_h^2 / 4 v_{\rm H}^2 \simeq 0.065. \tag{3.9}$$

For definiteness, we fix $c_b = c_t = 1/2$.

- DM shift symmetry broken by bottom quark. The DM-Higgs mixing can be lowered and the direct detection constraints weakened if the DM shift symmetry $U(1)_n$ is only broken at the bottom level [86]

$$\lambda_{h\eta} \sim y_b^2 \sim 10^{-4}.$$
 (3.10)

In that case we fix $c_t = 0$ [83], while keeping $c_b = 1/2$.

3.2 Dilaton-mediated interactions between DM and SM

Connection to the hierarchy problem. In order to describe the dilaton interactions with the SM, we assume that the sector that breaks scale invariance is not secluded from the electroweak sector. In other words, the Higgs originates from the same sector that breaks scale invariance, as we have already assumed when writing eq. (3.7) for the Higgs coupling of pNGB DM.

Therefore, our description automatically covers the usual composite Higgs models, and is thus of interest if one cares about them as a solution of the hierarchy problem of the Fermi scale [12, 13]. In that case, the interesting values of f — which are still allowed by experiments [13] — lie as close as possible to a TeV. (Or just above a TeV, if the composite sector solves the big hierarchy problem but the little hierarchy is taken care of otherwise, e.g. by a composite twin Higgs mechanism [15–17].) With this in mind, we will display our phenomenological results for the standard thermal freezeout DM in a zoomed-in region of parameter space, where f is not too far from the TeV scale. In turn, this will allow us to connect with past studies of dilaton-mediated DM [46–50], improving them with our more refined treatment (which e.g. includes the dilaton wave-function renormalization) and updating them by the use of more recent experimental results.

Nevertheless, our description is not necessarily tied to a natural solution of the hierarchy problem, even within our assumption that the Higgs sector communicates with the one that breaks scale invariance. Large values of f could for example be motivated by other reasons, such as solutions of the strong CP problem. As we will see below, our supercooling mechanism for DM will allow for much larger values of f than the standard freeze-out, so we will extend our plots accordingly when applicable.

The hierarchy problem would then need to be addressed by some other mechanism, so that values of f much larger than a TeV could be considered. An example of such mechanism is cosmological relaxation of the electroweak scale [18]. All known successful relaxion proposals require an inflationary stage or additional assumptions about reheating. It was shown in [104] that the duration of the inflationary stage can be rather short (also see [105, 106]), and that new physics at scales f up to ~ 100 TeV can be made technically natural, via relaxation, with an inflation period of about 10 e-folds. As it will turn out, the amount of supercooling we will need, in order to reproduce the measured DM abundance, corresponds to $\mathcal{O}(10)$ e-folds. It is interesting and non-trivial that this same amount of inflation generated by the supercooled PT could be used for the relaxation mechanism mentioned above, if the Higgs is external to the CFT of the DM sector.⁹ This makes composite heavy DM technically natural up to PeV masses (because in our setup $m_{\rm DM} \sim 10f$), or even heavier if its communication with the Higgs sector is somewhat suppressed. We leave the exploration to such UV physics to future work.

Dilaton portal to SM. After electroweak symmetry breaking the dilaton χ couples to the SM fields as [47, 66, 67, 81, 107, 108]

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \sigma \partial^{\mu} \sigma - \frac{1}{2} m_{\sigma}^{2} \sigma^{2} - \frac{5}{6} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{Zf} \sigma^{3} - \frac{11}{24} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2}}{Z^{2} f^{2}} \sigma^{4} + \cdots - \left(\frac{\sigma}{Zf}\right) \sum_{q} (1 + \gamma_{q}) m_{q} \bar{q} q + \left(\frac{2\sigma}{Zf} + \frac{\sigma^{2}}{Z^{2} f^{2}}\right) \left[m_{W}^{2} W^{+\mu} W_{\mu}^{-} + \frac{1}{2} m_{Z}^{2} Z_{\mu} Z^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} m_{h}^{2} h^{2}\right] + \frac{\alpha_{\rm EM}}{8\pi Zf} c_{\rm EM} \sigma F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + \frac{\alpha_{\rm s}}{8\pi Zf} c_{\rm G} \sigma G_{a\mu\nu} G^{a\mu\nu} + \frac{\sigma}{Zf} \partial_{\mu} h \partial^{\mu} h - \frac{\sigma}{Zf} m_{h}^{2} h^{2} + \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2} - m_{h}^{2}}{2(Zf)^{2}} \sigma^{2} h^{2},$$
(3.11)

where the rescaling of the couplings with Z comes from the assumption of a non-canonical kinetic term for the dilaton, eq. (2.3). Here, γ_q is the anomalous dimension of the fermionic operators, which we assume in what follows to be $\gamma_q \simeq 0$.

⁹In the concrete example studied in this paper, the Higgs and its potential do not exist prior to the dilaton gaining a vev, and hence cannot be relaxed using the supercooled PT.

Dilaton self-couplings. The dilaton self-coupling terms, scaling as σ^3 and σ^4 , are obtained after Taylor-expanding the dilaton potential in eq. (2.6) in the small $|\gamma_{\epsilon}|$ limit.

Couplings to Higgs. In order to respect the Goldstone equivalence theorem [108, 109], we have added the dilaton coupling to the Higgs kinetic term in the last line of eq. (3.11). This term and the other ones on the same line can be derived analogously to how we derived the dilaton couplings to pNGB DM, see the discussion around eq. (3.5), and indeed arise naturally in composite Higgs scenarios [39, 49, 81].

Couplings to gauge bosons. Couplings to transverse gauge bosons are induced by trace anomalies and triangle diagrams containing heavy charged fields. We make explicit the coupling to gluons, which plays an important role for direct detection,

$$c_G = b_{\rm IR}^{(3)} - b_{\rm UV}^{(3)} + \frac{1}{2} F_{1/2}(x_t).$$
(3.12)

Here, the function $F_{1/2}$ is the triangle diagram induced by a fermion [47, 66, 107]

$$F_{1/2}(x) = 2x[1 + (1 - x)f(x)], \qquad f(x) = \begin{cases} [\sin^{-1}(1/\sqrt{x})]^2 & x \ge 1, \\ -\frac{1}{4} \left[\log\left(\frac{1 + \sqrt{x - 1}}{1 - \sqrt{x - 1}}\right) - i\pi \right]^2 & x < 1, \end{cases}$$
(3.13)

where $x_t = 4m_t^2/m_{\sigma}^2$. The constant $b_{\rm UV}^{(3)}$ is the QCD beta function above the confining scale $\mu \gtrsim f$, so it contains the contributions from both elementary states of the SM and the CFT of the techni sector. On the other hand, $b_{\rm IR}^{(3)}$ is the QCD beta function below the confining scale $\mu \lesssim f$, so it receives contributions from elementary states of the SM and light composite states, $m_* \lesssim f$, of the techni sector [81]. Hence, the term $b_{\rm IR}^{(3)} - b_{\rm UV}^{(3)}$ can be interpreted as the contribution to the QCD beta function due to loops of composite states of the techni sector lighter than f [66]. In the SM, the QCD β -function coefficient reads¹⁰ [110]

$$b_{\rm SM}^{(3)} = \frac{11}{3} N_c - \frac{2}{3} N_f, \qquad (3.14)$$

where N_c and N_f are the number of colours and fermions respectively. An appealing feature of composite Higgs models is the possibility to explain the hierarchy in the Yukawa matrix from the mixing between elementary quarks and composite resonances charged under QCD: a small degree of compositeness leading to a small Yukawa coupling [111–113]. To be conservative, we consider that only the right-handed top and the longitudinal modes of the electroweak vector bosons receives a strong compositeness fraction, and that the CFT contribution to the QCD beta function is minimal [47]

$$b_{\rm IR}^{(3)} - b_{\rm UV}^{(3)} = -\frac{1}{3}.$$
 (3.15)

 ${}^{10}\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \frac{1}{g_3^2} = \frac{1}{8\pi^2} \left(\frac{11}{3}N_c - \frac{2}{3}N_f\right).$

3.3 DM annihilations and unitarity bound

DM annihilation cross-sections. The main DM annihilation channels are the annihilation into WW, ZZ as well into dilaton pair $\sigma\sigma$. We compute all the DM to SM annihilation channels and report them in appendix E. In the limit of large $m_{\rm DM}$ these are given by

$$\sigma v_{\rm rel}|_{\eta\eta\to WW,ZZ} \simeq c_W \frac{2\pi\alpha}{v_{\rm rel}} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{(Zf)^4},\tag{3.16}$$

$$\sigma v_{\rm rel}|_{\eta\eta\to\sigma\sigma} \simeq c_{\sigma} \, \frac{2\pi\alpha}{v_{\rm rel}} \, \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{(Zf)^4},\tag{3.17}$$

where

$$\left(c_W, c_\sigma\right) = \left(\frac{3}{16\pi}, \frac{1}{16\pi}\right), \quad \left(\frac{1}{16\pi}, \frac{1}{48\pi}\right), \quad \left(\frac{3v_{\rm rel}^2}{128\pi} \left[1 + \frac{\alpha^2}{v_{\rm rel}^2}\right], \frac{3v_{\rm rel}^2}{128\pi} \left[1 + \frac{\alpha^2}{v_{\rm rel}^2}\right]\right), \quad (3.18)$$

for scalar, vector and fermion DM respectively, where α is an effective coupling defined later. In our plots, we instead use the full expression for the DM annihilation cross-section given in appendix E. In the case of pNGB DM, due to the high number of terms we do not write any analytical formula for the annihilation cross-sections, but instead we only display plots of σv in figure 20. Note that the scalar and vector DM models therefore have very similar indirect detection phenomenology, while the fermion one has velocity-suppressed annihilations and hence weaker signals.

Sommerfeld enhancement. The effective coupling α governs the strength of the dilatonmediated attractive Yukawa potential between the incoming DM wave functions,

$$V_Y(r) = -\alpha \, \frac{e^{-m_\chi r}}{r},\tag{3.19}$$

responsible for the Sommerfeld enhancement. The non-relativistic potential between the DM wave-functions can be computed as the Fourier transform

$$V_Y(r) = -\frac{1}{4im_{\rm DM}^2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}^3}{(2\pi)^3} \mathcal{W}(\vec{k}) \, e^{-i\vec{k}\vec{r}}$$
(3.20)

of the four-point function amplitude $\mathcal{W}(\vec{k})$ with one-boson mediator exchange [114], where \vec{k} is the momentum of the exchanged boson.

As shown in appendix D, for fermion, scalar and vector resonance DM, we obtain the dilaton-mediated effective coupling

$$\alpha = \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{(Zf)^2}.$$
(3.21)

In contrast, in the pNGB DM scenario, the Yukawa potential is both dilaton and Higgsmediated

$$V_Y(r) = -\alpha_\sigma \, \frac{e^{-m_\chi r}}{r} - \alpha_h \, \frac{e^{-m_h r}}{r},\tag{3.22}$$

with

$$\alpha_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{(Zf)^2}, \qquad \alpha_h = \frac{1}{16\pi} \frac{\lambda_{h\eta}^2 v_{\rm H}^2}{m_{\rm DM}^2}.$$
(3.23)

See appendix D for the derivation of eq. (3.23) and for a discussion on the contribution of the derivative coupling $\eta \partial \eta \partial h$ to the potential. In the following, we assume that $\alpha_{\sigma} \gg \alpha_{h}$ is always realized such that we can neglect Sommerfeld effects coming from the Higgs channel.

Then, the enhancement of the annihilation cross-section can be obtained from the standard analytical formula for the Sommerfeld enhancement factor, derived from the Hulthén potential

$$V_H = -\frac{\alpha \,\overline{m}_\sigma \, e^{-\overline{m}_\sigma r}}{(1 - e^{-\overline{m}_\sigma r})}, \qquad \text{where} \qquad \overline{m}_\sigma = \frac{\pi^2}{6} \, m_\sigma, \tag{3.24}$$

and which we report here for arbitrary l-wave process [115]

$$S_H^{(l)} = \left| \frac{\Gamma(a^-)\Gamma(a^+)}{\Gamma(1+l+2i\omega)} \frac{1}{l!} \right|^2, \qquad (3.25)$$

with $a^{\pm} \equiv 1 + l + i\omega(1 \pm \sqrt{1 - x/\omega})$, $x \equiv 2\alpha/v_{\rm rel}$ and $\omega \equiv m_{\rm DM}v_{\rm rel}/(2\overline{m}_{\sigma})$. Explicitly, for s-wave annihilation one finds [116]

$$S_H^{(l=0)} = \frac{2\pi\alpha}{v_{\rm rel}} \frac{\sinh(\pi m_{\rm DM} v_{\rm rel}/\overline{m}_{\sigma})}{\cosh(\pi m_{\rm DM} v_{\rm rel}/\overline{m}_{\sigma}) - \cosh\pi\sqrt{m_{\rm DM}^2 v_{\rm rel}^2/\overline{m}_{\sigma}^2 - 4m_{\rm DM}\alpha/\overline{m}_{\sigma}}}.$$
 (3.26)

In eq. (3.16) and (3.17), we have reported the Sommerfeld enhancement factor in the limit where the range of the dilaton-mediated force m_{σ}^{-1} is larger than the de Broglie wavelenght of the incoming wave-packets $(m_{\rm DM}v_{\rm rel}/2)^{-1}$, itself larger than the typical DM bound-state¹¹ size $(m_{\rm DM} \alpha/2)^{-1}$

$$S_{H}^{(l=0)} \xrightarrow{m_{\rm DM}v_{\rm rel}/2 \gg m_{\sigma}} \frac{2\pi\alpha}{v_{\rm rel}} \frac{1}{1 - e^{2\pi\alpha/v_{\rm rel}}} \xrightarrow{\alpha \gg v_{\rm rel}} \frac{2\pi\alpha}{v_{\rm rel}}.$$
 (3.27)

The full expressions can be easily recovered by not taking the above limits. For the p-wave (l = 1) annihilation of fermionic DM, we have also included the important higher-order term $1 + \alpha^2/v_{\rm rel}^2$ in eq. (3.18), which lifts the velocity suppression when the Sommerfeld enhancement is large [115, 120].

Unitarity bound. The unitarity of the S-matrix, $SS^{\dagger} = 1$, leads to an upper bound on each coefficient of the decomposition of the inelastic cross-section into partial waves J [120–123]

$$\sigma_{\rm inel}^{(J)} v_{\rm rel} \le \sigma_{\rm uni}^{(J)} v_{\rm rel} = \frac{4\pi (2J+1)}{m_{\rm DM}^2 v_{\rm rel}}.$$
(3.28)

Saturating the unitarity bound corresponds to having a maximal probability for the inelastic process, and a vanishing probability for the elastic scattering. The scaling of the DM

¹¹We safely neglect the effective contribution, to DM annihilations, of dilaton-mediated formation and decay of bound states, because selection rules imply it is suppressed parametrically by α^2 with respect to that of Sommerfeld-enhanced annihilations [114, 117]. Dilaton self-couplings are small enough to not affect this suppression [118]. Furthmore, the pNGB coupling to the Higgs doublet in the symmetric EW phase is not of the form $H\eta^2$, which could otherwise lead to potentially significant bound state formation via charged scalar emission [119].

annihilation cross-section in eq. (3.16) and eq. (3.17) implies that unitarity is violated for DM mass larger than $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 2.6 Z f$ for scalar DM, $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 3.1 Z f$ for vector DM, and $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 3.9 Z f$ for fermion DM. This apparent violation indicates that the perturbative methods used to calculate the annihilation cross section have broken down [120]. We recover the unitarity by using for value of the DM annihilation cross-section, the minimum between the perturbative cross-section in eq. (3.16) or eq. (3.17), and the cross-section which saturates the unitarity bound in eq. (3.28).

Possible breakdown of the EFT. The energies involved in DM annihilations are of the order of the DM mass, so that one may worry about the validity of the EFT we used to perform our computations. Our predictions are solid if DM, the dilaton and the SM constitute the lightest states, and they are lighter than the EFT cutoff ~ $4\pi f$. This is realised in the case of pNGB DM, is not inconceivable in the models of heavier DM, and is the reason why in all figures we shade in gray the parameter space where $m_{\rm DM} > 4\pi f$. If other composite states are light, however, the annihilation cross section could be modified with respect to those that we have computed. In addition, our perturbative calculations become less accurate for values of the couplings, $m_{\rm DM}/(Z f)$, larger than 1, i.e. close to the region of unitarity saturation discussed in the previous paragraph. For example, either of the two comments above could imply that processes with more than two final states are relevant. All this would have a small impact for DM heavier than O(100) TeV, because in that regime the cross section is anyway close to the unitarity limit. Note that the intrinsic uncertainties associated to the coupling apply also to models of elementary DM, because their annihilation cross section is also affected by non-perturbative uncertainties in that regime.

3.4 Indirect detection

Criterion. We consider Indirect Detection (ID) constraints coming from gamma-ray measurements of the Galactic Centre from HESS, measurements of gamma-rays from dwarf spheroidal galaxies (dSphs) from FERMI, and measurements of the anti-proton flux from AMS-02. We exclude regions of parameter space which satisfy

$$BR(\sigma \to WW, ZZ, bb) \sigma v_{rel}|_{\eta\eta \to \sigma\sigma} + \sigma v_{rel}|_{\eta\eta \to WW, ZZ, bb} > 2 \langle \sigma v_{rel} \rangle_{limit}^{lD}, \qquad (3.29)$$

where $v_{\rm rel} = \sqrt{2} v_0$, $v_0 = 220$ km/s for DM annihilations in the Milky Way and $v_0 = 10$ km/s for the dSphs, see e.g. [124]. We checked that considering a proper averaging over a truncated Maxwellian DM velocity distribution, e.g. [125], does not lead to a significant change in the constraints. We introduced a factor two on the right-hand side of eq. (3.29) because we are considering non-self-conjugate DM, while all the limits we consider are given by the experimental collaborations for self-conjugate DM. The dilaton branching ratios are given in appendix G.

By writing eq. (3.29) we mean that we take the strongest limit among WW, ZZ and bb and not their sum weighted in our model, because that would require an analysis of data that goes beyond the purposes of our paper (plus, for some experiments, these data are not publicly available). This is a conservative assumption, because it effectively reduces the flux of cosmic rays produced by DM annihilations. On the other hand, the energy

spectra of cosmic-rays coming from DM annihilations into dilatons are not the same of those considered by the experimental collaborations in casting their limits on the 'pure' channels WW, ZZ and bb, because of the extra step in the cascade. Whether our procedure is conservative or aggressive, in this respect, depends on the DM mass and on the specific properties of each telescope, like the energy in which it is more sensitive and its energy resolution. Again, performing a more refined analysis goes beyond the purposes of our paper and requires access to data.

HESS, FERMI, AMS-02. The limits from HESS [126] come from 254 hours of observation, assuming a standard NFW DM profile and local DM density $\rho_{\odot} = 0.39 \text{ GeV/cm}^3$. We take them from [127], where they are given for secluded models and up to a DM mass of 10 TeV. Since the original HESS publication gave limits for DM mass up to 70 TeV, we extend the [127] limits up to $m_{\rm DM} = 70 \text{ TeV}$ following [128], to which we refer also for a discussion of caveats and details. The limits from FERMI result from the combined analysis of 15 dSphs after six years of data taking. They assume a NFW profile and extend up to at $m_{\rm DM} \simeq 10 \text{ TeV}$ [129]. For AMS-02 we use the limits derived in [130], which are provided up to $m_{\rm DM} \simeq 20 \text{ TeV}$. These were found by requiring the primary \bar{p} flux from DM annihilation not deteriorate the astrophysical-only fit of the AMS-02 data [131]. For both FERMI and AMS-02 limits we again refer the reader to [128] for more details.

CTA, KM3NeT. Finally, we also consider the expected sensitivities from the future experiments CTA and KM3NeT, as determined in [132] (where we used the 'GC survey' sensitivity for the case without a core in the Galactic Centre) and [133] respectively, for the WW channel. These sensitivities reach DM masses of at most 100 TeV not because of expected intrinsic experimental limits, but because the collaborations keep the habit of not extending their plots beyond that value. Models of heavier DM, like the ones presented in this paper and many others, not only exist but are gaining intrinsic attention and motivation. We therefore encourage the experimental collaborations to look into their data for the products of annihilations of DM with masses heavier than 100 TeV, and analogously to provide sensitivities in that regime.

Limits and sensitivities from telescopes. The limits and sensitivities described above, together with those from direct detection and colliders we will describe next, are displayed in figures 3 and 4, respectively for the cases of scalar and pNGB DM with shift symmetry broken by the top quark, and for two different values of the wave-function renormalization Z = 1 and Z = 5. Appendix C.1 contains analogous results for the cases of vector and fermion DM, displayed in figure 13, and for pNGB DM with symmetry broken by the bottom quark, displayed in figure 14. Their shape displays the resonances from the Sommerfeld-enhanced annihilation discussed in section 3.3, and becomes independent of $m_{\rm DM}/f$ for large values of this parameter just because the limits are not provided for larger DM masses. This implies that more information on models of heavy DM is contained in existing data, but is not exploited.



Figure 3. Dilaton-mediated scalar DM in the standard freeze-out case. On the left (right) we set the dilaton normalization strength to Z = 1 (Z = 5), cf. section 2.1, and the dilaton mass to $m_{\sigma} = 0.5f$ ($m_{\sigma} = 0.8f$) to avoid significant supercooling, see figure 2. The red lines show the points leading to the correct DM abundance assuming the standard freeze-out paradigm, cf. section 3.7. As $m_{\rm DM}$ increases, the required coupling strength, controlled by $m_{\rm DM}/f$, also increases to keep the annihilation cross section at the thermal freeze-out value. We impose the DM annihilation cross-section to be smaller than the unitarity bound in eq. (3.28), leading to a maximal DM mass of order ~ 100 TeV. In yellow, red plum and green we show the current indirect-detection constraints from FERMI, AMS-02 and HESS, cf. section 3.4. We add the prospects from KM3NeT and CTA in dashed purple and dashed orange. The resonances in the ID regions are due to the non-perturbative Sommerfeld effect, cf. section 3.3. In blue, we show direct-detection constraints from the current XENON-1T and the future LZ, cf. section 3.5. All (in)direct-detection constraints in this and subsequent plots assume our DM matches the observed relic abundance. In gray we also show a sketch of the current constraints from LHC and of the prospects at HL-LHC, cf. section 3.6. The fermion and vector cases are shown in figure 13 of appendix C.

HESS limits are the most constraining indirect-detection ones for all models and in all the parameter space considered in this paper. For values of $m_{\rm DM}/f$ larger than a few, they exclude values of the DM mass smaller than 70 TeV. We stress that HESS could reach larger values of $m_{\rm DM}$ already in existing data, if data were analysed in this sense. For smaller values of $m_{\rm DM}/f$ they exclude smaller values of $m_{\rm DM}$, down to $m_{\rm DM} \sim \text{TeV}$ for $m_{\rm DM}/f \sim 0.7$. HESS limits were derived under the assumption of an NFW DM density profile, if instead the profile had a core towards the Galactic Center then they would become much weaker. The most constraining limits would then become those from AMS-02 at large values of $m_{\rm DM}/f$ and $m_{\rm DM}$, and those from FERMI dSphs at smaller values of the above parameters (see [134] for a quantitative comparison of the interplay of limits and sensitivities for varying sizes of a putative DM core).

Limits and sensitivities from telescopes are stronger than collider and direct detection ones in the case where DM is a scalar or vector resonance of the strong sector, over the



Figure 4. Dilaton-mediated O(6)/O(5) pNGB DM in the standard freeze-out case. Lines and shadings as in figure 3. The constants c_b and c_t are defined in eq. (3.7). In addition to the dilaton channel, pNGB DM is coupled to the SM through the composite Higgs interactions, cf. section 3.1, which lead to a non-trivial behaviour of the red thermal relic abundance contours. We can see a horizontal resonance around $m_{\rm DM} \simeq m_{\sigma}/2$, a vertical resonance around $m_{\rm DM} \simeq m_{\rm h}/2$ and a broad funnel in the [80 GeV, 1 TeV] or [80 GeV, 500 GeV] region due to efficient annihilation into WW, ZZ, hh and tt. In figure 14, we also show the pNGB DM scenario where the shift symmetry is broken by the bottom quark instead of the top quark, such that the Higgs-DM mixing is reduced to $\lambda_{\rm h\eta} \simeq 0.065 \rightarrow 10^{-4}$, cf. section 3.1.

entire parameter space except for large Z and small $m_{\rm DM}/f$. Indirect detection is weaker than collider and direct detection in the case of fermion DM (except at large values of $m_{\rm DM}/f$ and small Z), because that is the only model for which the tree-level annihilation cross section is *p*-wave suppressed, see eq. (3.18). The fact that it is comparatively weaker also in the case of pNGB DM is instead due to the fact that the interesting values of $m_{\rm DM}/f$ are smaller in that case.

Telescopes and DM masses larger than 100 TeV. Finally concerning sensitivities, as already mentioned they do not extend to $m_{\rm DM} > 100$ TeV simply because collaborations do not report them there. In the case of DM without supercooling, this is close to the maximal DM mass allowed by the unitarity limit, so we do not extend them further. However, in the case of supercooled DM that we will study from section 4 on, larger masses are allowed and motivate searches for heavier DM in telescope data. To avoid drawing the conclusion that these models will only be tested by gravitational waves, which would be wrong, we guesstimate that future γ and ν telescope could well probe them up to $m_{\rm DM} \sim \text{PeV}$, and display this in figure 7. This guesstimate is based on our naive extrapolation of those sensitivities at DM masses larger than 100 TeV, where we observe that they cross the perturbative unitarity limit (which lies close to the prediction of our model) around a PeV.

3.5 Direct detection

The dilaton-nucleon interactions. The direct detection constraints come from the possibility for the DM to scatter off a nucleon via a dilaton exchange. The dilaton-quark and gluon interaction in eq. (3.11), lead to an effective dilaton-nucleon coupling of the form,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\sigma nn} = y_n \,\sigma \,\bar{n}n,\tag{3.30}$$

where the effective coupling y_n is given by

$$y_n \equiv -\sum_{q=u,d,s,c,b,t} f_q^n \frac{m_n}{Zf} + R^n \frac{c_G}{8\pi Zf},$$
(3.31)

with c_G given by eq. (3.12) and eq. (3.15), and

$$m_n f_q^n \equiv \langle n | \ m_q \bar{q} q \ | n \rangle, \qquad R^n \equiv \alpha_s \ \langle n | \ GG \ | n \rangle.$$
 (3.32)

The quark form factors f_q^n are taken from [135]

$$\begin{aligned} & f_u^n \simeq 0.015, \quad f_s^n \simeq 0.037, \quad f_b^n \simeq 0.072, \\ & f_d^n \simeq 0.034, \quad f_c^n \simeq 0.078, \quad f_t^n \simeq 0.069. \end{aligned}$$

The trace anomaly \mathbb{R}^n can be determined from the fact that, at first order in the heavyquark expansion, the form factors of heavy quarks coincides with the opposite sign of their contribution to the trace anomaly [136]

$$\langle n| \sum_{q=c,b,t} m_q \bar{q}q |n\rangle \simeq -\langle n| \frac{\alpha_s}{8\pi} c_G^{\text{heavy}} GG|n\rangle,$$
 (3.34)

with $c_G^{\text{heavy}} = 2N_q^{\text{heavy}}/3 = 2$. From using eq. (3.34) together with the fact that the nucleon mass m_n is the trace of the trace of the QCD energy-momentum tensor [137]

$$m_n = \left\langle n \mid \theta^{\mu}_{\mu} \mid n \right\rangle = \left\langle n \mid \left(\sum_{q=u,d,s,c,b,t} m_q \bar{q}q + \frac{\alpha_s}{8\pi} c_G G G \right) \mid n \right\rangle, \tag{3.35}$$

we find¹²

$$R^{n} \equiv \alpha_{s} \langle n | \ GG \ | n \rangle \simeq \frac{8\pi}{c_{G} - c_{G}^{\text{heavy}}} m_{n} \left(1 - \sum_{q=u,d,s} f_{q}^{n} \right) \simeq -2.4 \,\text{GeV}, \tag{3.36}$$

where we have used $c_G - c_G^{\text{heavy}} = -\frac{11}{3}N_c + \frac{2}{3}N_q^{\text{light}} = -9.$

The dilaton-mediated scattering cross-sections. The elastic cross-section between DM and nucleon mediated by dilaton interaction are computed in appendix F. In the limit $m_{\text{DM}} \gtrsim m_n$, these are approximated by

$$\sigma(\text{DMn} \to \text{DMn}) \simeq \frac{y_n^2}{\pi} \frac{m_n^2}{m_\sigma^4} \left(\frac{m_{\text{DM}}}{Zf}\right)^2, \qquad (3.37)$$

for scalar DM, the fermion and vector cases differ only by the order one factor in front of this expression, and are given in appendix \mathbf{F} .

¹²Note that eq. (3.34) and eq. (3.35) also imply the well-known [137] consistency relation $\sum_{q=c,b,t} f_q^n \simeq \frac{c_G^{\text{heavy}}}{c_G^{\text{heavy}} - c_G} \left(1 - \sum_{q=u,d,s} f_q^n\right) = \frac{2}{9} \left(1 - \sum_{q=u,d,s} f_q^n\right).$

The pNGB DM case. When DM η is a O(6)/O(5) pNGB, the η - η -h vertex and the DM-quark contact interaction in eq. (3.7) lead to the effective DM-quark lagrangian [83, 84]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\eta q q} = \sum_{q=u,d,s,c,b,t} a_q \, m_q \, \eta^2 \, \bar{q} q, \qquad (3.38)$$

with

$$a_q = \frac{\lambda_{h\eta}(1-2\xi)}{m_h^2} + c_q \frac{\xi}{(1-\xi)v_{\rm H}^2}, \qquad \xi \equiv v_{\rm H}/Zf.$$
(3.39)

We make the conservative assumption that the contact interaction terms with the first two quark generations are zero $c_{q=u,d,s,c} = 0$. Then we consider the two cases $(\lambda_{h\eta}, c_b, c_t) =$ (0.065, 1/2, 1/2) and $(\lambda_{h\eta}, c_b, c_t) = (10^{-4}, 1/2, 0)$, described along eq. (3.9) and eq. (3.10), according to whether U(1)_{η} is broken by the top quark or by the bottom quark only. The pNGB-DM-nucleon elastic cross-section is dominated by the dilaton-mediated contribution in eq. (3.37) in the bottom-breaking case, and by the Higgs-mediated contribution [83, 84] resulting from eq. (3.38) in the top-breaking case. In the limit $m_{\rm DM} \gg m_n$, it reads

$$\sigma(\mathrm{DMn} \to \mathrm{DMn}) \simeq \begin{cases} \frac{y_n^2}{\pi} \frac{m_n^2}{m_\sigma^4} \left(\frac{m_{\mathrm{DM}}}{Zf}\right)^2 & \text{bottom-breaking}, \\ \frac{c_n^2}{\pi} \frac{m_n^2}{m_{\mathrm{DM}}^2} & \text{top-breaking}, \end{cases}$$
(3.40)

with y_n given by eq. (3.31) and

$$c_n = \sum_{q=u,d,s,c,b,t} f_q^n \, a_q \, m_n, \tag{3.41}$$

with f_q^n and a_q given by eq. (3.33) and eq. (3.39), respectively.

XENON-1T, LZ. We compare the DM-nucleon cross-section to the upper bound on the spin-independent WIMP-nucleon cross-section resulting from 279 live days of data collecting in XENON-1T [138], and the projection for 1000 live days of data collecting in LZ [4].

The exclusion constraints. Let us now assume our DM matches the observed cosmological DM energy density. For normalization of the dilaton kinetic term equal to unity Z = 1, the scattering cross-section for scalar and vector DM is too weak to lead to any signal by XENON-1T or even LZ, see figure 3 and figure 13. For Z = 5, XENON-1T constrains DM mass below 100 and 400 GeV, respectively. For fermion DM, XENON-1T leads to the constraints $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 400$ GeV and $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 3$ TeV, for Z = 1 and Z = 5 respectively, cf. figure 13. For pNGB DM receiving its mass from top loops, XENON-1T leads to $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 1$ TeV and $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 600$ GeV for Z = 1 and Z = 5, respectively, see figure 4. For pNGB DM receiving its mass from bottom loops, XENON-1T constraints drop to $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 80$ GeV for both Z = 1and Z = 5, cf. figure 14.

3.6 Collider limits

Higgs couplings. For concreteness and as we have already made this assumption in the case of pNGB DM, we consider the case that the Higgs boson is a pNGB from the same

strong sector of our DM models. Higgs couplings measurements [139, 140] then imply

LHC limit:
$$f \gtrsim 0.8 \text{ TeV}$$
, (3.42)

where we have translated the combined 95%CL limit on the k-parameters k_F and k_V from figure 11 of [140] onto a limit on f by using $k_V = 1 - v^2/(2f^2)$ and $k_F = 1 - 3v^2/(2f^2)$. Note that, for simplicity and because that would depend on further model details, we have neglected the contribution to Higgs-coupling deviations that comes from a dilaton-Higgs mixing. Coming to future sensitivities, we consider those on Higgs coupling measurements at the HL-LHC as derived in [141], and translated on the confinement scale f as in the scenario 'SILH1b' there, which corresponds to the Higgs as a pNGB and to the generic expectation from partial compositeness, and matches the k-parameters that we assumed to derive the limit in eq. (3.42). The sensitivity then reads

HL-LHC sensitivity:
$$f \gtrsim 1.7$$
 TeV. (3.43)

In composite Higgs models LHC searches for strong sector resonances, like top-partners, lead to exclusions and sensitivities slightly stricter than those in eqs. (3.42) and (3.43), see e.g. [142]. This is however not the case in models where the Higgs is a pNGB but another mechanism is in place to allow for heavier resonances, like in Twin Higgs models UV-completed by a composite sector (TH+CHM), where Higgs coupling measurements drive the limits on f [15–17]. Moreover, in both CHMs and TH+CHM, the limits from top partner searches depend on further model-dependent details like the representations of the fermion resonances. To keep our discussion general, therefore, we do not display these limits in our parameter space. Similarly, we do not consider limits from EW precision tests, as they depend on unknown physics at the scale m_* and are therefore less robust than those from Higgs couplings.

Dilaton searches. To the best of our knowledge, the most recent interpretations of LHC resonance searches in the parameter space of a dilaton have been performed in [50] for $m_{\sigma} > 300 \,\text{GeV}$, and in [143] for $m_{\sigma} < 300 \,\text{GeV}$. The first analysis excludes values of f of at most a few TeV, but it is of little use for our purposes, because it is performed under the hypothesis that the dilaton coupling to gluons of eq. (3.11) reads $c_G = 7$ (which for us would correspond to the assumption that the entire SM is composite), while the benchmark we have chosen is smaller by a factor of ~ 20 , cf. eqs. (3.12) and (3.15). In addition, dilaton couplings relevant for its production at the LHC receive a contribution also from the Higgs-dilaton mixing, which is model-dependent (see e.g. the discussions in [39] and [143]). Ref. [143] has instead casted its analysis using our same benchmark for c_G (their 'holographic dilaton') and, for $m_{\sigma} \sim 300 \,\text{GeV}$, found limits on f in the range of 1.5 to 2 TeV depending on the assumption on the dilaton-Higgs mixing. We can then infer that limits on f in the same ballpark apply for the benchmark value $m_{\sigma}/f = 0.25$ that we will consider later. For larger values of m_{σ}/f , relevant to the non-supercooled DM case, one can naively expect that limits will not become stricter. In light of the above discussion, since performing a detailed collider analysis goes beyond the purposes of this paper, here

we adopt the indicative limit

LHC limit:
$$Zf \gtrsim 1.5 \text{ TeV}$$
, (3.44)

where we have added the scaling of the limits with Z, neglected in refs. [50, 143]. Analogously, we make the simplifying assumption that the HL-LHC sensitivity will be in the ballpark of the one determined in [143] for the 'holographic dilaton' and at the largest m_{σ} value considered there,

HL-LHC sensitivity:
$$Zf \gtrsim 5$$
 TeV. (3.45)

Summary. To summarise collider limits and sensitivities on our picture, they are driven by dilaton searches at small Z, and by Higgs coupling measurements at large Z. Their precise determination would deserve a more detailed study, which however goes beyond the purposes of this paper, because our main interest lies in regions of f beyond the multi-TeV. Unlike the cases of indirect and direct detection, the collider limits we consider depend only on Higgs and dilaton physics, and so are independent of which of the five DM models we consider.

3.7 DM abundance fixed by freeze-out

The Boltzmann equation. Let us review the standard freeze-out scenario without supercooling. In kinetic equilibrium, the DM abundance can be tracked using the well-known Boltzmann equation,

$$\frac{dY_{\rm DM}}{dx} = -\frac{\lambda_n}{x^{2+n}} \left(Y_{\rm DM}^2 - Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm eq\,2} \right), \tag{3.46}$$

where $x \equiv m_{\rm DM}/T$, $\lambda_n = M_{\rm pl}m_{\rm DM}\sigma_n\sqrt{8\pi^2 g_{\rm SM}/45}$, $\sigma_n \equiv \langle \sigma v_{\rm rel} \rangle x^n$ with *n* chosen so that σ_n is *x* independent, and $M_{\rm pl} \simeq 2.44 \times 10^{18}$ GeV. In the standard analysis one has n = 0 for s-wave and n = 1 for p-wave annihilations. Note the Sommerfeld enhancement factor changes the velocity dependence of the cross-section, with n = -1/2 for both s-wave and p-wave in the large coupling/low mediator mass limit. However, for the sake of simplicity in the present discussion, we neglect it for now but include it in our plots.

Frozen-out DM abundance. Assuming a sufficiently high enough reheat temperature, the DM interactions are rapid and DM is initially in thermal equilibrium with the radiation bath. When the temperature drops below $m_{\rm DM}$, the DM continues to annihilate preferentially into light degrees of freedom, until the annihilation rate becomes lower than the expansion rate of the universe and the abundance freezes-out. This occurs at the freeze-out temperature, $T_{\rm FO} \equiv m_{\rm DM}/x_{\rm FO}$, where [144]

$$x_{\rm FO} = \log\left[0.192(n+1)\,M_{\rm pl}\,m_{\rm DM}\,\sigma_n\,g_{\rm DM}/g_{\rm SM}\right] - (n+1/2)\log[x_{\rm FO}],\tag{3.47}$$

where g_{DM} is the number of degrees of freedom of DM. It is equal to $g_{\text{DM}} = 1$, $\frac{3}{4} \cdot 4$ and 3 for scalar, fermion and vector, respectively. The abundance today is then the frozen-out abundance redshifted up to now

$$\Omega_{\rm DM}h^2 = 2_{\rm DM \neq D\bar{M}} \frac{s_0 m_{\rm DM}}{3M_{\rm pl}^2 H_{100}^2} Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm FO}, \qquad (3.48)$$

where $H_{100} = 100 \text{ km/s/Mpc}$, $s_0 = 2891.2 \text{ cm}^{-3}$ [145] and

$$Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm FO} = \frac{(n+1) \, x_{\rm FO}^{n+1}}{\lambda_n}.$$
(3.49)

The potential factor 2 in eq. (3.48) stands for DM as being counted as $\Omega_{DM} + \Omega_{D\bar{M}}$. It must be removed if DM is its own anti-particle.

Summary of improvements. In the parameter space discussed so far, the supercooled PT does not affect the final relic abundance set by the freeze-out mechanism discussed here. This is the production mechanism considered for dilaton portal DM in the past literature [46–50]. We have updated these results by combining our freeze-out calculation with collider, direct and indirect detection limits, in figures 3 and 4. (In plotting the direct and indirect detection constraints, we assume our DM saturates the observed cosmological DM abundance, independently of the relation between $m_{\rm DM}$ and f required by the mechanism setting the relic abundance.) We have also extended the analysis to dilaton normalization strength $Z \neq 1$, which had not previously been considered in this context. We now go on to see how the picture is changed once the novel effects pointed out in [45], arising during supercooled confinement, are taken into account.

4 Supercooled dilaton-mediated composite DM

A late period of thermal inflation such as a supercooled phase transition will alter the abundance of primordial particles. Determining the abundance of composite states following supercooling requires the inclusion of a number of novel effects recently explored in a sister publication [45], which we recapitulate here for completeness.

Sketch of the mechanism. The initial vacuum dominated phase leads to a dilution of the fundamental constituents (from now named dark techniquanta or quarks for brevity), which is an effect already familiar for studies considering elementary relics. As the dark quarks enter the bubbles of strongly-coupled phase, however, we must account for the dynamics of confinement. When entering the bubbles, the dark quarks are separated by large distances compared with the confinement scale, 1/f. In [45] it was argued that it is energetically favorable for the chromo-electric flux to form a string like configuration toward the bubble wall. Thus minimizing its length inside the strongly-coupled phase. The fragmentation of the flux string via pair-creation effects leads to the formation of additional composite states. Kinematics demands that these are boosted in the original plasma frame. These states undergo deep inelastic scatterings in their return to kinetic equilibrium which further enhances the yield of the composite DM. Finally thermal effects, such as the $2 \leftrightarrow 2$ scatterings familiar from freeze-out, must be taken into account following reheating.

We now provide quantitative estimates of the above effects in the context and notation of the current model. This allows us to estimate the yield of composite DM following the supercooling and provide predictions in terms of the dilaton mass. This will allow us to compare the parameter space of interest with current and future experimental searches (direct, indirect, collider, gravitational wave).

4.1 Dilution of the fundamental quanta

Initial quark abundance. We assume that DM is a composite state formed of dark techniquanta. These are massless before the phase transition, so that their abundance follows a thermal distribution for massless particles which, when normalised to the entropy density, reads

$$Y_{\rm TC}^{\rm eq} \equiv \frac{n_{\rm TC}}{s} = \frac{45\zeta(3)\,g_{\rm TC}}{2\pi^4 g_{*\rm s}},\tag{4.1}$$

where g_{*s} is the effective total number of relativistic degrees of freedom, and g_{TC} is the effective number of degrees of freedom of dark techniquanta, which typically consists of some model dependent number of dark quarks, g_q , and dark gluons, e.g. $g_g = 2(N^2 - 1)$ for a dark SU(N).

Supercooling stage. The supercooling stage starts when the free energy in eq. (2.15) becomes vacuum dominated,

$$\frac{\pi^2}{30} \left(g_{\rm SM} + g_{\rm q} + 45N^2/4 \right) T_{\rm start}^4 \simeq Z^2 \frac{m_\sigma^2 f^2}{16} \quad \Longrightarrow \quad T_{\rm start} \stackrel{N \gg 1}{\simeq} \left(\frac{Z \, m_\sigma f}{\sqrt{6}\pi N} \right)^{1/2}. \tag{4.2}$$

In this model T_{start} is generally slightly below T_c , defined in eq. (2.20). Supercooling ends at the nucleation temperature, T_{nuc} . Within the bubble the dilaton then rolls towards the minimum of the potential on a timescale $\sim 1/T_{\text{nuc}}$ (see [45, appendix A]). The dilaton condensate decays into the SM following bubble collision. For $m_{\sigma} \gg m_h$ the dilaton dominantly decays into the four components of the Higgs doublet¹³

$$\Gamma_{\chi} \approx \frac{m_{\sigma}^3}{8\pi Z^2 f^2}.$$
(4.3)

Hence the decay rate is much larger than the Hubble factor, $H \sim f^2/M_{\rm pl}$, so that we can neglect the short period of time the dilaton redshifts as matter during its coherent oscillations. Therefore, all the vacuum energy of the transition is efficiently converted into radiation at reheating

$$\frac{\pi^2}{30}g_{\rm SM}T_{\rm RH}^4 \simeq Z^2 \frac{m_\sigma^2 f^2}{16} + \frac{\pi^2}{30} \left(g_{\rm SM} + g_{\rm q} + 45N^2/4\right) T_{\rm nuc}^4,\tag{4.4}$$

$$\implies T_{\rm RH} \simeq \left(\frac{106.75 + g_{\rm q} + 45N^2/4}{106.75}\right)^{1/4} T_{\rm start} \stackrel{N \gg 1}{\simeq} 0.6\sqrt{N} \, T_{\rm start}, \tag{4.5}$$

with T_{start} defined in eq. (4.2).

Dilution of the quarks. As a result of the supercooling period, the dark quark abundance is diluted according to [29, 146, 147]

$$Y_{\rm TC}^{\rm SC} = Y_{\rm TC}^{\rm eq} \left(\frac{T_{\rm nuc}}{T_{\rm start}}\right)^3 \frac{T_{\rm RH}}{T_{\rm start}}.$$
(4.6)

 $^{^{13}}$ Or equivalently — by virtue of the Goldstone equivalence theorem [108, 109] — into the physical Higgs boson and longitudinal modes of the WW and ZZ channels, in the broken electroweak phase.



Figure 5. The string formation and fragmentation mechanism as seen in the wall frame. Highly energetic quarks impinge on the wall, leading to a string-like flux configuration. Its centre-of-mass energy is set by geometric mean of the initial quark energy and the energy of the quark ejected from the end of the string. The latter is taken to be of the order of the strong scale. The fragmentation of the string forms hadrons in the confined phase. The fact that the string is attached to the moving wall acts as a catapult for said hadrons which are then boosted with respect to the plasma frame.

This can be derived by using standard accounting of entropy factors before and after the PT. The number of e-foldings of the late inflationary phase is given by

$$N_e \equiv \log\left(\frac{T_{\text{start}}}{T_{\text{nuc}}}\right) \stackrel{N \gg 1}{\simeq} \log\left(\left[\frac{Zm_{\sigma}}{\sqrt{6}\pi Nf}\right]^{1/2} \frac{f}{T_{\text{nuc}}}\right),\tag{4.7}$$

where in the last equality we have used eq. (4.2).

4.2 Enhancement by string breaking

String formation. A binding potential is switched on when, at T_{nuc} , the composite sector confines. The potential increases approximately linearly with the distance between the dark techniquanta [148–156]

$$E_{\rm TC} \simeq f^2 \, d. \tag{4.8}$$

The overall picture of the string fragmentation mechanism we will now discuss is illustrated in figure 5 (more detail of the modelling can be found in [45]). After the supercooling period, the inter-quark distance is $d \simeq n^{-1/3} \simeq 1/T_{\text{nuc}}$, much larger than the confinement distance 1/f. The confinement scale seen by the quarks when crossing the bubble wall is close to the zero temperature value because the dilaton rolls quickly to its minimum. The flux confines in a string-like configuration, starting at the dark quark and terminating at the bubble wall. This minimizes the energy compared to if a flux line were to connect two nearest neighbour quarks.

String fragmentation. As the initial quark further penetrate inside the bubble, the flux string fragment into dark sector hadrons. Conservation of colour requires the ejection of a dark quark from the end of the string back into the deconfined phase, see figure 5. Its energy is estimated dimensionally as $E_{\rm ej,w} \sim f$ in the wall frame. The energy in the string

center-of-mass frame is found to be [45],

$$E_{\rm CM} \approx \sqrt{3\gamma_{\rm wp}T_{\rm nuc}f},$$
 (4.9)

where γ_{wp} is the bubble-wall Lorentz factor in the plasma frame. For values $\gamma_{wp} > f/T_{nuc}$ it is energetically possible for the quarks to enter the bubble.

Bubble wall velocity. In the run-away regime, which will apply in our scenario, one finds the Lorentz factor $\gamma_{\rm wp}$ is the ratio of the bubble size to the bubble size at nucleation. At collision time the former is set by the timescale of the transition, denoted β^{-1} to match onto the literature, and the latter is typically $\sim T_{\rm nuc}^{-1}$. Thus close to bubble-wall collision, i.e. when the majority of the volume is changing phase, we have

$$\gamma_{\rm wp} \approx \frac{\sqrt{48} \, T_{\rm nuc} M_{\rm pl}}{\beta / H Z m_{\sigma} f},\tag{4.10}$$

where for typical supercooled phase transitions we have $\beta/H \sim 10$.

Number of string fragments. The fragmentation of the string produces a number of composite states, $N_{\psi}^{\text{Str.}}$, which on general grounds, we expect $N_{\psi}^{\text{Str.}} = \mathcal{P}(\log[E_{\text{cm}}/m_*])$, where \mathcal{P} is a polynomial function, and $m_* \equiv g_* f$ is the mass scale of hadrons with $1 \leq g_* \leq 4\pi$. (As in QCD, where the multiplicity of final state particles grows as a polynomial function of $\log [\sqrt{s}/\text{GeV}]$, with current data being well fitted by a cubic polynomial with $\mathcal{O}(1)$ coefficients [157, 158].) The yield of composite states, ψ , after string fragmentation is

$$Y_{\psi}^{\text{Str.}} \approx Y_{\text{TC}}^{\text{eq}} \left(\frac{T_{\text{nuc}}}{T_{\text{start}}}\right)^3 \frac{T_{\text{RH}}}{T_{\text{start}}} \mathcal{P}\left(\log\left[\frac{E_{\text{cm}}}{m_*}\right]\right).$$
(4.11)

As dark gluons can also initiate strings, we include their contribution to the degrees-offreedom in the above equation. Note there is significant model uncertainty as to the precise form of \mathcal{P} . Nevertheless, as long as certain assumptions hold, the yield following the next step of deep inelastic scattering becomes insensitive to \mathcal{P} , as we shall now discuss.

4.3 Enhancement by deep inelastic scattering

Gluon string catapult. The Lorentz factor of the string COM frame in the wall frame is [45]

$$\gamma_{\rm cw} \approx \sqrt{\frac{3\gamma_{\rm wp}T_{\rm nuc}}{f}} \approx \sqrt{\frac{21M_{\rm pl}T_{\rm nuc}^2}{\beta/HZm_{\sigma}f^2}}.$$
(4.12)

And the Lorentz factor of the string centre-of-mass frame in the plasma frame is

$$\gamma_{\rm cp} \approx \frac{1}{2} \frac{\gamma_{\rm wp}}{\gamma_{\rm cw}} \approx \sqrt{\frac{M_{\rm pl}}{\beta/HZm_{\sigma}}}.$$
(4.13)

Therefore, the $N_{\psi}^{\text{Str.}}$ composite states formed after fragmentation of the string, are catapulted with the Lorentz boost factor in eq. (4.13) relative to the plasma frame.

String fragment energy. Following the string fragmentation, the average energy of the hadrons (which we denote population A) as measured in the plasma frame reads

$$E_{\rm A,p} \approx 2\gamma_{\rm cp} \frac{E_{\rm CM}}{N_{\psi}^{\rm Str.}(E_{\rm CM})} \approx \frac{\gamma_{\rm wp} f}{N_{\psi}^{\rm Str.}(E_{\rm CM})}.$$
(4.14)

Similarly the energy of the ejected quarks (population B) is

$$E_{\rm B,p} \approx \gamma_{\rm wp} f.$$
 (4.15)

These form a dense shell around the bubble and confine without the formation of extended strings (due to their close distance) when entering the opposing bubble.

Cascade of deep inelastic scattering. The kinetic energy of these populations of particles are dissipated through scatterings with the preheated plasma coming from the decay of the dilaton condensate after bubble collision. The energy of the particles in the preheated plasma is set by the oscillation frequency of the dilaton condensate $E_{\rm prh} \approx m_{\sigma}$. Scatterings of the boosted composite resonances with the preheated plasma are energetic enough to produce additional composite states provided $\sqrt{s} > m_*$. Above this threshold, a majority of the energy is dissipated through deep inelastic scattering, provided that $m_{\sigma}^4 \ll \Delta V$, see [45, section 8.2]. In our scenario this translates to $4m_{\sigma} < Zf$ which coincides with the region of significant supercooling, see figure 2. Otherwise, dissipation through elastic scattering dominates.

DM abundance after DIS. Assuming the kinetic energy above threshold is dissipated through a cascade of DIS, we find the DM to be independent of \mathcal{P} , and to read [45]

$$Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm DIS} \approx \frac{0.43 \,\mathrm{eV}}{m_*} \frac{\mathrm{BR}}{10^{-6}} \frac{1}{Z^{5/2}} \frac{g_{\rm TC}}{130} \frac{4\pi}{g_*} \left(\frac{10}{\beta/H}\right) \left(\frac{0.2}{m_\sigma/f}\right)^{3/2} \left(\frac{T_{\rm nuc}/f}{10^{-5.9}}\right)^4. \tag{4.16}$$

Here we have conveniently normalised to the observed DM density $Y_{\rm DM}m_{\rm DM} = 0.43 \,\mathrm{eV}$ [159] with the expectation that $m_{\rm DM} \approx m_*$. We have also included a model dependent pseudobranching fraction, BR, which takes into account that not only DM particles are created in the string fragmentation and DIS but also unstable composite states which decay into the SM. (Alternatively, for secluded dark sectors, the unstable states could decay to dark radiation rather than to the SM). The quantity BR is not a true decay branching fraction, but seeks to capture the overall suppression of DM production. This suppression may be significant, e.g. if DM is a heavy baryon of the strong sector, then we expect the light dilaton to be produced much more copiously in the string fragmentation and DIS. Taking into account various possibilities, typical estimates give BR ~ 10^{-6} to 10^{-3} [45, appendix C].

4.4 Thermal effects

Boltzmann equation. Finally, we must determine any non-negligible changes to the yield due to $2 \leftrightarrow 2$ scattering with the thermal bath after supercooling and reheating. (Assuming the DM annihilation products — or equivalently the initial states of the inverse annihilation — consist of relativistic bath particles in thermal equilibrium, as we do here,

our estimates also immediately capture any $2 \leftrightarrow N$ type processes because of detailed balance.) Following [147] we refer to this as the sub-thermal abundance. In this epoch, the DM abundance again evolves according to the Boltzmann equation, eq. (3.46), introduced in section 3.7. However, the initial conditions are now given by $x_{\rm RH} = m_{\rm DM}/T_{\rm RH}$ and $Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm DIS}$, the abundance after string breaking and DIS estimated in eq. (4.16).

We integrate from $x_{\rm RH}$ to ∞ and obtain the final DM abundance as a sum of the contribution in eq. (4.16) together with sub-thermal correction. For simplicity, we again neglect the change in velocity dependence arising from the Sommerfeld enhancement for our analytical estimates, but include it in our numerical calculations used for the plots. It is useful to introduce $Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm FO} = Y_{\rm DM}^{\infty}$, i.e. the standard freeze-out abundance obtained when $Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm DIS} \gg Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm eq}$.

Standard freeze-out. If the reheating temperature is above the freeze-out temperature, $T_{\rm RH} > T_{\rm FO}$, the DM abundance quickly relaxes to thermal equilibrium and the standard FO abundance in eq. (3.49) is recovered. However, if $T_{\rm RH} < T_{\rm FO}$, the usual freeze-out mechanism is not recovered. We discuss this case next.

Sub-freeze-out. If the DM yield after supercooling is larger than the yield at thermal equilibrium, i.e. if

$$Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm DIS} \gtrsim Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm EQ}(x_{\rm RH}), \quad \text{with} \quad Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm EQ}(x) = \frac{45g_{\rm DM}}{4\sqrt{2}\pi^{7/2}g_{\rm SM}}x^{3/2}e^{-x}, \quad (4.17)$$

then thermal effects annihilate a bit of DM and the final yield is given by

$$\frac{1}{Y_{\rm DM}} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm DIS}} + \frac{\lambda_s}{x_{\rm RH}}, & \text{for s-wave,} \\ \frac{1}{Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm DIS}} + \frac{\lambda_p}{2x_{\rm RH}^2}, & \text{for p-wave.} \end{cases}$$
(4.18)

Sub-freeze-in. If instead $Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm DIS} \lesssim Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm EQ}(x_{\rm RH})$, thermal effects produce a bit more of DM and the final yield is given by

$$Y_{\rm DM} = \begin{cases} Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm DIS} + \lambda_s \frac{2025g_{\rm DM}^2}{128\pi^7 g_{\rm SM}^2} e^{-2x_{\rm RH}} (1+2x_{\rm RH}), & \text{for s-wave,} \\ \\ Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm DIS} + \lambda_p \frac{2025g_{\rm DM}^2}{64\pi^7 g_{\rm SM}^2} e^{-2x_{\rm RH}}, & \text{for p-wave.} \end{cases}$$
(4.19)

Heavy thermal Dark Matter beyond the unitarity limit. We show the final DM relic abundance lines in figure 6. We can see that the introduction of a period of supercooling, ending at a temperature $T_{\rm nuc}$ before the strong sector confines — shown by the purple to blue lines — opens the parameter space of DM to masses beyond the unitarity bound at 100 TeV, shown by the red line. As shown explicitly in figure 1, the DM abundance along the horizontal blue-to-purple line is set by sub-freeze-in, eq. (4.19), while the vertical lines are set by sub-freeze-out, eq. (4.18). Note that whenever the reheating temperature is lower than the freeze-out temperature $T_{\rm RH} < T_{\rm FO}$, the DM abundance differs from standard



Figure 6. Supercooled dilaton-mediated scalar DM, for branching ratio of DM production (defined in eq. (4.16)) $BR = 10^{-3}$ (top) and $BR = 10^{-6}$ (bottom), and for wave-function renormalization (defined in section 2.1) Z = 1 (left) and Z = 5 (right). When $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 100$ TeV, the unitarity bound on the DM annihilation cross-section leads to DM overproduction, cf. section 3.3. However, in presence of supercooled confinement, DM can have a larger mass, cf. section 4. This is displayed by the lines where the correct relic abundance is reproduced for different values of the nucleation temperature $T_{\rm nuc}$ (purple to blue). Below the horizontal blue line the universe is overclosed, as can be understood by the dashed gray line lying very close to it, where the reheating temperature $T_{\rm RH}$, eq. (4.4), is larger than the would-be freeze-out temperature $T_{\rm FO}$, eq. (3.47). For masses larger than $\sim 10^6$ TeV, the techniquanta of the confining sector do not have enough kinetic energy to penetrate the bubbles [45], and our picture breaks down (yellow regions). If DM is a bound-state of the strong sector with confining scale f, we do not expect its mass to be $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 4\pi f$ (grey regions). We also display in red the line where the DM abundance would be obtained via the standard freeze-out mechanism, if there was no supercooling. The current constraints from direct-detection, indirect-detection, and the LHC, displayed with shadings as in figure 3, do not probe the regions opened by the presence of supercooling. The vector and fermion cases are shown in figures 15 and 16, respectively.

freeze-out even for vanishing supercooling (large T_{nuc}), cf. eq. (4.18). The limitation is set by the yellow region in figure 6 where the dark quarks have not enough kinetic energy to penetrate inside the bubble and our picture breaks down.

Impact of dilaton kinetic terms normalization Z. We comment that for a large renormalization of the dilaton kinetic term equal, Z = 5, supercooling can be relevant down to values of $m_{\rm DM}$ which are smaller, by a factor of a few, with respect to the case Z = 1. This is due to the suppression of DM annihilations, cf. eqs. (3.16), (3.17) and (3.21), and is visible in figure 6: the red line where the standard relic abundance would be reproduced is moved to smaller masses, leaving more space for the non-thermal abundance reproduced on the supercooled lines in blue. The relevance of this comment is limited to natural values of the compositeness scale, $f \leq 10$ TeV. We also note that one cannot increase Z arbitrarily, as this also increases $T_{\rm RH}$. Indeed, we checked that for $Z \gtrsim 10$ the supercool parameter space is pushed to the region $m_{\rm DM} \gtrsim 4\pi f$, which is both unexpected and where our EFT breaks down.

4.5 Phenomenology

Comparison of experimental coverage. Finally, we combine our results about the DM relic abundance with a calculation of the nucleation temperature in figure 7. This shows that large areas of parameter space of heavy DM are possible in this scenario provided the dilaton is somewhat light compared to f, namely for $m_{\sigma} \sim 0.2f$ for Z = 1 and $m_{\sigma} \sim 0.45f$ for Z = 5. These regions of heavy DM are out of reach of direct detection and collider probes. But they return a strong stochastic gravitational wave background (SGWB), details of which are given in the following section, which leads to a detectable signal-to-noise ratio in LISA, BDECIGO and/or ET (above astrophysical foregrounds). Projected sensitivities of future γ -ray and neutrino telescopes, such as CTA [1], LHAASO [2], SWGO [160, 161] and KM3NeT [3], typically cut plots at around 100 TeV. Naively extrapolating their results to higher $m_{\rm DM}$, however, shows such instruments are sensitive up to $m_{\rm DM} \approx 1000$ TeV, for DM annihilations in the Milky Way with cross section close to the unitarity bound, see section 3.4 for more details. We tentatively also indicate this region in our plots.

Rooms for refinement. We wish to emphasise that there are large uncertainties both in our determination of $Y_{\rm DM}^{\rm SC}$, as it involves non-perturbative physics, and our calculation of $T_{\rm nuc}$ in section 2.3, given the various approximations we have made in modelling the effective potential. Furthermore, QCD corrections should be added if $T_{\rm nuc} \leq 100$ MeV, indicated by a dashed line in figure 7. This adds further model dependence, as the QCD confinement scale can be suppressed in the high temperature phase of the new strong sector, and any QCD corrections to the effective potential come with their own uncertainties [30, 40].

5 Stochastic gravitational wave background

Supercooled cosmological phase transitions have generated much enthusiasm due to the prediction of a large Stochastic Gravitational Wave Background (SGWB) detectable by



Figure 7. Left: the parameter space for Z = 1 and $m_{\rm DM} = 4\pi f$ showing the required supercooling to match the relic abundance in the dark blue region (standard thermal freeze-out is recovered where the dark blue region morphs into a vertical line). The supercooling is achieved for $m_{\sigma} \sim 0.2 f$ with the precise mass of the dilaton depending on the scale f. The red contours terminate when the universe becomes trapped in the metastable state. In the yellow region in the bottom-right corner the quarks are insufficiently energetic to enter the first bubble they encounter. The stars indicate two benchmark points for which we show the gravitational wave spectrum in the following section. Regions testable with LISA, BDECIGO, ET ($SNR_{FGL} > 10^4$) and LIGO O5 ($SNR_{FGL} > 10$) are shown. (The gap between LISA and ET closes for $SNR_{FGL} = 10^2$.) The GW signal has only been calculated in the runaway regime, so that it is inaccurate in the top-left corner. Current direct and indirect detection limits are shaded in red and green, respectively. The LZ reach is not indicated to avoid clutter, as it falls in the region already excluded by HESS. The presumed reach of future γ -ray telescopes to DM annihilations with cross sections close to the unitarity bound, as predicted in our model, is indicated with a dashed green line. *Right:* the parameter space for Z = 5. The required supercooling is achieved for $m_{\sigma} \sim 0.45 f$. The number of e-folds has a small log dependence on m_{σ} , eq. (4.7), such that the approximate N_e is very accurate for both plots.

future GW interferometers. This was first discussed in the context of warped geometry [25–36] that relates by holography to nearly-conformal strong dynamics [38–43, 45]. Supercooled PTs were also studied in models described by classically conformal dynamics [77, 162–170]. In contrast, non-supercooled confining PTs have a weaker SGWB, while still possibly detectable [171–180].

5.1 GW from bubble collision

PT parameters. The SGWB depends on the bulk parameters of the transition, which can be taken to be the nucleation temperature T_{nuc} , the wall velocity v_w , the ratio of the vacuum energy density released in the transition to that of the radiation bath α_{PT} , the duration of the phase transition β^{-1} and the efficiency of the energy transfer from the vacuum energy to the scalar field gradient κ_{ϕ} :¹⁴

$$\alpha \equiv \frac{\Delta V}{\rho_{\rm rad}(T_{\rm nuc})}, \qquad \beta \equiv \frac{dS}{dt}\Big|_{\rm nuc} = -H_*T\frac{dS}{dT}\Big|_{\rm nuc}, \qquad \kappa_{\phi} \equiv \frac{\rho_{\phi}}{\Delta V}. \tag{5.1}$$

Here ΔV is the zero-temperature energy difference between the false vacuum and the true vacuum, eq. (2.10). Furthermore, $\alpha_{\rm PT} \gg 1$, $\kappa_{\phi} \simeq 1$, $v_w \simeq 1$, and β follows from our calculation of $T_{\rm nuc}$.

Choice of modeling. In [45], we show that in the regions of interest for DM, the bubbles collide in the runaway regime, therefore, all the vacuum energy is transferred to the gradient of the scalar field. Here we adopt the bulk flow model [181, 182] which shows an IR enhancement of the GW spectrum due to the long-lasting free propagation of the shells of anisotropic energy-momentum tensor after the collision (but also see possible subtleties raised in [183, 184]). The IR enhancement has been observed in lattice simulations [185] where it has been shown to be larger for thick-walled bubbles, which are found in the close-to-conformal vacuum type transitions studied in this work (also see [45, appendix A]).¹⁵ We use the estimate of the differential SGWB per logarithmic frequency interval for $v_w \simeq 1$ as given in [182]

$$h^{2}\Omega_{\phi} = 1.67 \times 10^{-5} \left(\frac{H_{*}}{\beta}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\kappa_{\phi}\alpha_{\rm PT}}{1+\alpha_{\rm PT}}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{0.0866v_{\rm w}^{3}}{1+0.354v_{\rm w}^{2}}\right) \left(\frac{100}{g_{\rm SM}}\right)^{1/3} S_{\phi}(\nu), \qquad (5.2)$$

where $S_{\phi}(\nu)$ describes the spectral shape

$$S_{\phi}(\nu) = \frac{3\nu_{\phi}^{2.1}\nu^{0.9}}{2.1\nu_{\phi}^3 + 0.9\nu^3},\tag{5.3}$$

and the peak frequency is

$$\nu_{\phi} = 2.62 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mHz} \left(\frac{1.24}{1 - 0.047v_w + 0.58v_w^2}\right) \left(\frac{\beta}{H_*}\right) \left(\frac{T_{\text{RH}}}{100 \text{ GeV}}\right) \left(\frac{g_{\text{SM}}}{100}\right)^{1/6}, \quad (5.4)$$

and in the above we assume the bath is dominated by $g_{\rm SM}$ following reheating. Compared to the envelope approximation [188–190], the bulk flow model predicts a softer IR and harder UV spectrum for supercooled transitions, while the peak frequency and amplitude remains relatively unchanged. In addition to the above, for redshifted frequencies smaller than $\nu_* = H_*/(2\pi)$ we impose an ν^3 scaling as required by causality [191–194].

¹⁴A more correct definition of β would be $\beta \equiv -(1/\Gamma)(d\Gamma/dt)|_{\text{nuc}}$ where Γ is the tunneling rate defined in eq. (2.16). Our choice, $\beta \equiv (dS/dt)|_{\text{nuc}}$, is of course, more conservative when finding the GW amplitude. Furthermore, estimates of $\beta/H \approx 1$ coming from the nucleation temperature tend to become inaccurate and bubble percolation must instead be taken into account.

¹⁵In contrast, for thin-walled bubbles, after collision the scalar field can be trapped back in the false vacuum, so that instead of propagating freely, the shells of energy-momentum tensor dissipates via multiple bounces of the walls [78, 186, 187].
5.2 Signal-to-noise ratio

Most optimistic SNR. One can check that the entire supercooled region of this model returns observable signatures at current or future interferometers. We use the signal-to-noise ratio $[195, 196]^{16}$

$$SNR = \sqrt{t_{obs} \int \left(\frac{\Omega_{GW}(\nu)}{\Omega_{sens}(\nu)}\right)^2 d\nu},$$
(5.5)

where $t_{\rm obs}$ is the observation time. (We set $t_{\rm obs} = 3$ years for LISA and BDECIGO, 10 years for ET, 30 days for LIGO Hanford-Livingston O1 [200], 99 days for Hanford-Livingston O2 [201], 168 days for Hanford-Livingston O3 [202], 160 days for Hanford-Virgo and Livingston-Virgo O3 [202], and 1 year for LIGO O5.) Here $\Omega_{\rm sens}(\nu)$ encodes the sensitivity of the detector,

$$h^2 \Omega_{\rm sens}(\nu) = \frac{2\pi^2 \nu^3}{3H_{100}^2} S_n(\nu), \tag{5.6}$$

where S_n is the noise spectral density, either for LISA [196], BDECIGO [203, 204], or ET [205].¹⁷ For LIGO and Virgo cross correlations we use [195]

$$h^2 \Omega_{\rm sens}(\nu) = \frac{\pi^2 \nu^3}{3H_{100}^2} \sqrt{\frac{2S_n^{\rm i} S_n^{\rm j}}{\Gamma_{\rm ij}^2}},\tag{5.7}$$

where S_n^i and S_n^j are the noise spectral densities for the interferometers, and Γ_{ij} is the overlap reduction function,¹⁸ and the cross correlation SNRs are combined in quadrature. Using the above SNR, the usual power-law-integrated sensitivity curves can be constructed [195]. Performing this exercise, we see our results agree with [196] for LISA, [204] for BDECIGO, and [206] for ET. However, we find our curves are approximately a factor of five more sensitive for LIGO-Virgo O3 and O5 compared to those found in the full LIGO-Virgo collaboration analysis [201, 202] (although the shapes match). We therefore weaken our respective SNRs for LIGO-Virgo by these factors, in order to conservatively mimic the complete analysis.

 $^{18}\mathrm{For}$ the S_n^i see:

- https://dcc.ligo.org/LIGO-T1600302/public,
- https://dcc.ligo.org/LIGO-T1500293-v13/public,
- https://dcc.ligo.org/LIGO-T1800042-v5/public.

For Γ_{ij} see https://dcc.ligo.org/public/0022/P1000128/026/figure1.dat.

¹⁶Equation (5.5) assumes the signal is sub-dominant to the noise in the detector. In the case in which the signal is large compared to the noise, the SNR can be roughly approximated by making the replacement $\Omega_{\text{sens}}^2 \rightarrow 2\Omega_{\text{GW}}^2 + 2\Omega_{\text{GW}}\Omega_{\text{sens}} + \Omega_{\text{sens}}^2$ in the denominator of eq. (5.5) [197–199]. The SNR eventually saturates to a maximum value of ~ 10³ for LISA, ~ 10⁴ for BDECIGO, and ~ 10⁵ for ET. As these are well inside the detectable regimes of parameter space, our qualitative results are not affected by assuming the simple noise-dominated SNR used in the literature.

¹⁷There is a factor of two difference in the formula for $\Omega_{\text{sens}}(\nu)$ in [196], due to a difference in the definition of S_n , which we take into account.



Figure 8. The stochastic gravitational wave background sourced by the bubble collisions following the supercooled phase transition for the two benchmark points. Foregrounds due to super-massive black hole, galactic and extragalactic white dwarf, neutron star, and black hole binaries are also shown [202, 207, 208]. Foreground subtraction techniques continue to be developed [208–215]. The power-law integrated sensitivity curves SNR = 10, defined in eq. (5.5), of various current and future detectors are also shown, constructed using the projected sensitivities described in the text.

Foreground-limited SNR. The above acts as a simple measure as to whether a signal is detectable. Full reconstruction requires more advanced techniques which we do not seek to emulate here but detailed analysis shows some signal is recoverable provided SNR > 10 [196]. Furthermore, there is an issue of contamination by astrophysical foregrounds, $\Omega_{\rm FG}(\nu)$. Dealing with such confusion noise requires more advanced techniques still under development [213–215]. In absence of such a treatment, but to still show that the phase transitions studied here are detectable, we define a foreground limited SNR

$$SNR_{FGL} = \sqrt{t_{obs} \int \left(\frac{Max[0, \Omega_{GW}(\nu) - \Omega_{FG}(\nu)]}{\Omega_{sens}(\nu)}\right)^2 d\nu}.$$
(5.8)

The first foreground we take into account here corresponds to the component of galactic white dwarf binaries which cannot be subtracted after four years of LISA datataking [208] (with the sign error correction noted in [216]). We also include extragalactic white dwarf binaries [207], together with the binary black hole and binary neutron stars from the median value shown in [202] (extrapolated to lower frequencies by assuming a $\propto \nu^{2/3}$ scaling). For other estimates see [217–219]. Note the binary neutron star and binary black hole signals could to some extent also be subtracted [209–212]. Example SGWB spectra for the two benchmark points, together with power-law-integrated sensitivity curves, and astrophysical foregrounds are shown in figure 8. Estimates of the signal-to-noise ratio are displayed in figure 9 showing our scenario is testable at upcoming experiments. Similarly, we have shown areas with large values of SNR_{FGL} in our summary plots in figure 7. Current limits do not constrain our scenario [220].

5.3 Analytical estimate

Supercooled PTs have large bubbles. The scenario is generically testable because small values $\beta/H \sim O(10)$ are typical of supercooled PTs from nearly-conformal poten-



Figure 9. The signal-to-noise ratio estimated for future measurements at LISA, BDECIGO, and ET. The curves have been calculated for Z = 1 and $m_{\sigma} = 0.17f$, 0.18f, 0.19f, 0.20f, 0.21f, 0.22f (from top to bottom). The curves terminate when the universe becomes stuck in the false vacuum. The plot on the right assumes degradation of the achievable signal due to white dwarf and neutron star binaries, cf. eq. (5.8). Even without foreground subtraction, the entire parameter space of this scenario can be tested with a combination of these interferometers.

tials [25, 26, 29, 40, 165]. As a result, the bubble radius at collision, $r_{\text{coll}} \sim v_w \beta^{-1}$, is larger and the typical GW signal is enhanced.

Beta parameter in the thick-wall limit. Along with our numerical determination above, this is well illustrated by making use of an analytical estimate for the beta parameter, starting with the O(4) action in the thick wall limit

$$S_4 = \frac{c_* \, 2\pi^2 Z^2 f^2}{m_\sigma^2 \log \left(T_c/T\right)},\tag{5.9}$$

following a derivation given in appendix B. Next, we characterize the duration of the supercooling by the number of e-foldings $N_e \equiv \log(T_{\text{start}}/T_{\text{nuc}})$ where T_{start} is the temperature when the inflation stage starts, defined in eq. (4.2). From this, we obtain

$$\frac{\beta}{H_*} \approx 10 \left(\frac{0.2Zf}{m_{\sigma}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{10}{N_{\rm e}}\right)^2,\tag{5.10}$$

showing approximate analytical agreement with our numerical result.

5.4 Comments

Three caveats to our conclusions are in order:

- QCD catalysis. We again caution that the eventual inclusion of QCD effects could change the predicted behaviour of the PT and hence GW signal if $T_{\rm nuc} \leq 100 \,\text{MeV}$ [30]. On the other hand, if QCD confinement is delayed due to the altered β function from the BSM field content, then these effects may be completely negligible.
- *Matter-dominated era*. The rapid decay of the dilaton means there is no early matter dominated phase following the phase transition, which would lead to additional

redshifting and a weaker GW signal [165, 170, 193, 194, 221, 222], as occurs the Coleman-Weinberg potential of radiative symmetry breaking studied in [147].

The rapid decay in our scenario arises due to the dilaton coupling generating the kinetic term of the SM Higgs, $(\sigma/f)(D_{\mu}H)^2$, which is present due to our implicitly assuming the Higgs is a pNGB of the same sector that breaks scale invariance.

In the Coleman-Weinberg example, the reheating instead occurs through a Higgs portal interaction of the form, $\lambda_{h\sigma}\sigma^2|H|^2$, where in order to generate the Higgs mass term, one needs $\lambda_{h\sigma} \sim (v_{\rm H}/f)^2 \ll 1$ in the limit $f \gg v_{\rm H}$. Hence, in this case, the decay of the condensate is suppressed compared to Hubble following the PT.

• *Hidden sector confinement.* The above construction, in particular the dilaton interactions with the SM, eq. (3.11), is that of a composite Higgs.

One may instead wish to consider a scenario in which the EW sector is external to the confining dark sector CFT. The scenario remains viable with the following changes:

- 1. To avoid matter domination after the phase transition, which falls outside the scope of our calculation, one requires rapid decay of the dilaton. This can be achieved by having the dilaton decay to lighter hidden sector degrees of freedom, as any portal coupling to the SM is now expected to be small (in analogy to the Coleman-Weinberg example).
- 2. Similarly, along these lines, direct detection constraints are severely weakened due to the suppressed portal coupling.
- 3. Indirect detection is also modified, with additional steps in the cascade possible if all light hidden sector degrees of freedom eventually decay to the SM. This leads to softer spectra and constraints that could be weaker or stronger, depending on the DM mass. If the dilaton decay products instead cascades into dark radiation there is, of course, no measurable indirect detection signal apart from possible changes to $N_{\rm eff}$. (Leaving only gravitational waves from the phase transition.)

6 Summary and outlook

We have considered Dark Matter as a composite state of a new confining sector where the dilaton, the pNGB associated with approximate scale symmetry (corresponding to the radion in the 5D dual description, see appendix A for the dictionary), mediates the interactions of DM to the Standard Model. We have provided a detailed analysis of this well-defined scenario, improving over [46–50] by including i) a non-canonical kinetic term for the dilaton, ii) recent experimental constraints, iii) the possibility that DM is also a pNGB, see figures 3 and 4.

This scenario naturally predicts a supercooled phase transition in the early universe. This induces a stage of inflation that dilutes the pre-existing abundance of any particle, and so allows for thermal DM masses well beyond the Griest and Kamionkowski unitarity bound of O(100) TeV [121].¹⁹

DM production in this scenario was studied in [45], which pointed out novel dynamical features and proposed a way to model them, that affected the DM abundance by orders of magnitudes with respect to the previous (wrong) treatment. In this paper we have built on the results of [45] (synthesised in section 4) by including in our description the dilaton. We made progress in two respects:

- 1. We have computed the nucleation temperature T_{nuc} , where the universe transits to the confined vacuum via bubble nucleation, as a function of the dilaton mass (T_{nuc} was treated instead as a free parameter in [45]). The essential message can be read in figure 1, which is a simplified version of figures 6, 15 and 16. Novelties with respect to previous works include:
 - 1.1 Unlike in previous studies of DM yields from supercooling, which used classically scale invariant potentials [147], we found reheating following the PT is generally efficient in this scenario. This is desirable aspect from the viewpoint of achieving a strong signal of GWs, as a period of matter domination following the PT leads to a suppression of the GW signal [165, 170, 193, 194, 221, 222].
 - 1.2 On a more technical side, we have numerically computed T_{nuc} and investigated its dependence on the dilaton wavefunction renormalization Z, see e.g. figure 2, and we have quantified in detail the O(3) vs O(4) contributions to nucleation together with the uncertainty of the analytical and other approximations, see appendix B.
- 2. We have studied the signals of the model at gravitational waves interferometers, colliders, direct and indirect detection experiments, for the cases where DM is a heavy scalar, fermion or vector resonance of the strong sector, or a pNGB. The progress with respect to previous literature can be summarised as follows:
 - 2.1 To the best of our knowledge, this is the first quantitative analysis of the interplay of gravitational wave interferometers with other telescopes in testing models of heavy DM. The summary of our results is shown in figure 7: while only GWs will potentially test all the parameter space up to $m_{\rm DM} \sim 10^6$ TeV, for DM masses of hundreds of TeV telescopes will provide a complementary access to the same models, realising a new kind of multimessenger approach to heavy DM.

¹⁹Other ways to evade this bound are, for example, DM dilution after a matter era [128, 223–233], or having a dark sector being much cooler than SM [234, 235], DM becoming heavy only after freezing-out [236], DM annihilating with one spectator field [237, 238] or with many of them [239], DM forming an extended object which undergoes a second annihilation stage [240–242]. Mechanisms involving phase transitions include the possibility of a short inflationary stage associated with perturbative DM mass generation [147], DM filtered [243–245] or squeezed-out [246–248] by non-relativistic bubble wall motion, DM produced by elastic bubble-bubble collisions [249] or perturbative plasma interactions with relativistic walls [250]. (In contrast with these last possibilities, the mechanism which we studied in [45] and which we review in the present work, relies on a strongly interacting theory, with relativistic bubble walls, which come from effective potentials which result in inelastic bubble wall collisions.)

More information on the gravitational wave signals is reported in section 5 (see e.g. figure 8 for two spectra), and a lot more details on the DM phenomenology are provided in figures 6, 15 and 16 in the supercooled case, and in figures 3, 4, 13 and 14 in the standard freeze-out one. Note that our results also constitute both an improvement and an update in the field of standard frozen-out composite DM, of particular relevance if the composite sector is motivated by the electroweak hierarchy problem.

2.2 We have calculated and reported a large number of quantities necessary to determine the signals of these models, in some cases completing and extending previous literature, for example with the dependence on Z of these results. In particular, the interested reader can find the DM and dilaton couplings in section 3, the non-relativistic DM potential relevant for the computation of Sommerfeld enhancement (including the case of pNGB DM) in appendix D, the DM cross sections for annihilation in appendix E and for direct detection in appendix F, the dilaton decay widths in appendix G, and finally Gravitational Waves predictions in section 5.

Although we have assumed for definiteness the Higgs to be a pNGB from the same sector of DM and the dilaton, the results summarised at point 1., as well as the important message that GWs and telescopes could interplay in testing these models, are not modified if instead the Higgs belong to another sector, as long as the dilaton decay width is not too suppressed.

In our calculation, a large number of uncertainties have entered. These include the modelling of the non-perturbative physics of string formation and breaking, deep inelastic scattering in the early universe, QCD effects in the effective potential at low temperatures, and the uncertainties in the predictions of the stochastic GW background. These aspects need to be improved in order to extract precise information about these models at upcoming GW observatories such as LISA, BDECIGO, and the ET, as well as at future colliders, DD experiments, and telescopes like KM3NeT, CTA, LHAASO, SWGO etc. The promising phemonenological findings of this paper motivate and encourage such a refinement.

Finally, our results adds to the motivation (see e.g. [128]) to employ current and future telescope data to test models of annihilating heavy Dark Matter. Their complementarity with GW interferometers, studied in this paper, could open a new multimessenger approach in the quest for DM.

Acknowledgments

We thank Kallia Petraki for clarifications regarding Sommerfeld enhancement, and Camilo Garcia Cely, Andreas Goudelis, Oleksii Matsedonskyi and Andrea Tesi for additional useful discussions. IB, YG and FS are grateful to GGI for hospitality and partial support during the completion of this work. YG thanks the commune of Rozier-en-Donzy for hospitality during the COVID pandemic.

Funding information. The work of YG and FS was partly supported by a PIER Seed Project funding (Project ID PIF-2017-72). YG is grateful to the Azrieli Foundation for the award of an Azrieli Fellowship. IB is a postdoctoral researcher of the F.R.S.–FNRS with the project "*Exploring new facets of DM*". This work was partly supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft under Germany Excellence Strategy — EXC 2121 "Quantum Universe" — 390833306".

A 5D dual picture

A.1 Dilaton in warped extra dimensions

A warped extra dimension. The five dimensional (5D) line-element in warped extra dimensions (WED) reads [251]

$$ds^{2} = e^{-2kT(x)|\phi|}g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + T(x)^{2}d\phi^{2}$$
(A.1)

where ϕ is an angular dimensionless variable and where, in units where c = 1 and denoting length dimensions by L, $[T(x)] = [k]^{-1} = L$. The WED solution to the hierarchy problem of the Fermi scale is tied to the values [251]

$$\langle T \rangle \equiv r_c \simeq \mathcal{O}(10)/k, \qquad k = \mathcal{O}(M_{\rm Pl}), \tag{A.2}$$

where the latter size is in units of $\hbar = 1$ ($[M_{\rm Pl}] = [\text{vev}]$). One then has

$$M_{\rm Pl}^2 = \frac{M_5^3}{k} (1 - e^{-2kr_c}) \simeq \frac{M_5^3}{k}, \tag{A.3}$$

where M_5 is the 5D Planck scale.²⁰

Stability of the IR brane. Let us now define the position of the IR brane z and the running mass scale μ as

$$z(x) \equiv \frac{1}{\mu(x)} \equiv \frac{1}{k e^{-\pi k T(x)}}, \qquad z_1^{-1} \equiv \langle \mu \rangle = k e^{-\pi k r_c} \simeq \text{TeV}.$$
(A.4)

The Goldberger and Wise potential [252] that stabilises the IR brane at $z = z_1$ reads [26, 65]

$$V_{\rm GW} \simeq v_1^2 \mu^4 \left(\left(4 + 2\delta\right) \left[1 - \frac{v_0}{v_1} \left(\frac{\mu}{k}\right)^{\delta}\right]^2 - \delta_a \right),\tag{A.5}$$

where v_0 and v_1 are the vevs of the 5D scalar field on the UV and IR brane in units of $m^{3/2}$ and δ , δ_a are small dimensionless parameters. This potential has extrema at

$$\langle \mu \rangle = 0, \qquad \langle \mu \rangle = k \left(\frac{v_1}{v_0} \right)^{\frac{1}{\delta}} X_{\pm}^{\frac{1}{\delta}}, \quad X_{\pm} = \frac{4 + \delta \pm \sqrt{4\delta_a + \delta^2}}{4 + 2\delta}, \tag{A.6}$$

where X_+ (X_-) is a minumum for $\delta > 0$ ($\delta < 0$). By choosing $\delta_a > 0$ one guarantees that the minimum $\langle \mu \rangle \neq 0$ is deeper than the minimum at $\langle \mu \rangle = 0$. An IR-UV hierarchy $\langle \mu \rangle / k \approx 10^{-15}$, as needed to solve the big hierarchy problem, is achieved for a moderate hierarchy between the vevs on the UV and IR branes and for a moderately small δ .

 $^{{}^{20}}S_5 = \int d^4x \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} d\phi \sqrt{-G} (2M_5^3 R - \Lambda), \text{ with } G \text{ the 5D metric, } R \text{ the 5D Ricci scalar, and } [M_5] = [k] [\text{vev}]^2.$

4D kinetic terms. The action for the 5D Ricci induces the following 4D kinetic term for μ [65]

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm kin} = 12 \frac{M_5^3}{k} (\partial^{\mu} (e^{-\pi k T(x)}))^2 = 24 \frac{M_5^3}{k^3} \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \mu)^2}{2}.$$
 (A.7)

Masses of the 4D resonances. Finally, the 4D masses m_{kk} of KK-modes, i.e. the 4D composite resonances, read [65]

$$m_{kk} \simeq \left(n + \frac{1}{4}\right) \frac{\pi}{z_1} \approx \frac{1}{z_1} = \langle \mu \rangle \equiv g_{\chi} f ,$$
 (A.8)

where the last equality defines a 4-D strong coupling g_{χ} and a scale f, whose notation anticipates the connection with the 4D picture considered in the main body of this paper.

A.2 From 5D to 4D

4D CFT viewed as holographic dual of warped AdS_5 . We rely now on the 4D holographic picture of WED [253, 254] by employing the relation

$$\left(\frac{M_5}{k}\right)^3 \equiv \frac{N^2}{16\pi^2} \equiv \frac{1}{g_\chi^2},\tag{A.9}$$

where g_{χ} is a 4D coupling that for simplicity we identify with the one of eq. (A.8) and where we have made a choice for an order one ambiguity in the correspondence. In terms of the canonically normalised field χ (now with $[\chi] = [vev]$),

$$\chi(x) = \frac{\sqrt{24}}{g_{\chi}} \mu(x) , \qquad (A.10)$$

and choosing for definiteness $\delta < 0$, one then has (in WED $[v_1^2] = [\hbar] = [m]^{-2} [vev]^2$))

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} \chi)^2 - \frac{4v_1^2 g_{\chi}^4}{24^2} \chi^4 \left((1 + \delta/2) \left[1 - X_- \left(\frac{\chi}{\langle \chi \rangle} \right)^{\delta} \right]^2 - \delta_a \right), \quad \langle \chi \rangle = \frac{\sqrt{24}}{g_{\chi}} \langle \mu \rangle = \sqrt{24} f.$$
(A.11)

Normalization of dilaton kinetic terms Z. In the notation of the main text, WED then predicts [254]

$$Z = \sqrt{24} \tag{A.12}$$

as well as

$$m_{\sigma}^2 = -4\delta c_{\chi} g_{\chi}^2 \frac{f^2}{Z^2}, \qquad \Delta V = V(\chi = 0) - V(\chi = Zf) \simeq \left(\frac{Zm_{\sigma}f}{4}\right)^2,$$
(A.13)

where both expressions are valid up to relative $O(|\delta|)$, and where we have defined the order one number $c_{\chi} = 4v_1^2 g_{\chi}^2 (\sqrt{\delta_a} - \delta_a/2)$. We have then recovered all the quantities of interest for our 4D study in the main text.

B Analytical tunneling approximations

B.1 The thick wall limit

Minimal gradient energy. When the potential barrier is small compared to the potential energy difference, the wall thickness is as large as possible in order to minimize the gradient energy. This is the thick-wall limit.

O(4)-bounce action. The O(4)-symmetric bounce action reads

$$S_4 = \pi^2 R^3 \delta R \left(\frac{\delta \phi}{\delta R}\right)^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{2} R^4 \bar{V}$$
(B.1)

where $\delta\phi$ is the field excursion while δR is the wall thickness. In the thick-wall limit, we can set $\delta R = R$. The quantity $\bar{V} < 0$ is the potential energy averaged in the bubble volume. We approximate it as $\bar{V} = V(\phi_*) - V(\phi_{\rm FV})$ where ϕ_* is the initial field value, at the center of the bubble.²¹ Additionally, we assume (without lack of generality) that the false vacuum energy and the corresponding field value (at asymptotic distance) are zero, $V(\phi_{\rm FV}) = 0$ and $\phi_{\rm FV} = 0$, such that we can write $\bar{V} = V(\phi_*)$ and $\delta\phi = \phi_*$. Hence, we obtain

$$S_4 = \pi^2 R^2 \,\delta R \,\phi_*^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{2} \,R^4 \,V(\phi_*), \tag{B.2}$$

where ϕ_* is understood as the value which minimizes the bounce action. Upon solving for the critical bubble radius R_c , solution of $\delta S_4/\delta R = 0$, and reinjecting into eq. (B.2), we obtain [25, 26, 255]

$$R_c^2 = \frac{\phi_*^2}{-V(\phi_*)}$$
 and $S_4 = \frac{\pi^2}{2} \frac{\phi_*^4}{-V(\phi_*)}$. (B.3)

O(3)-bounce action. Repeating straightforwardly the same steps for the O(3)-symmetrical bounce leads to

$$R_c^2 = \frac{\phi_*^2}{-2V(\phi_*)}$$
 and $S_3 = \frac{4\pi}{3} \frac{\phi_*^3}{\sqrt{-2V(\phi_*)}}$. (B.4)

Whether the tunneling completes via O(3) or O(4) bounce depends on the ratio

$$\frac{S_4}{S_3/T} = \frac{3\pi}{4} \frac{\phi_*}{\sqrt{-2V(\phi_*)}} T \sim 2 R_c T.$$
(B.5)

B.2 Application to the light-dilaton scenario

B.2.1 High-temperature or low-temperature expansion

We now apply the general findings of the previous subsection to the scenario which we study in this paper, where the effective potential in eq. (2.15) can be written as

$$V(\chi) - V(0) \simeq \begin{cases} \frac{m_{\text{eff}}^2}{2} \chi^2 - \frac{\lambda_{\text{eff}}(\chi)}{4} \chi^4 & \text{if } \chi \lesssim T/g_{\chi}, \\ bN^2 T^4 - \frac{\lambda_{\text{eff}}(\chi)}{4} \chi^4 & \text{if } \chi \gtrsim T/g_{\chi}, \end{cases}$$
(B.6)

²¹In the thick-wall limit, the initial field value ϕ_* is generally close to the zero of the potential ϕ_{zero} defined by $V(\phi_{\text{zero}}) \equiv V(\phi_{\text{FV}})$.

with

$$b \equiv \frac{\pi^2}{8}, \qquad m_{\text{eff}}^2 \equiv \frac{15}{16} \frac{N^2 g_{\chi}^2}{Z^2} T^2,$$
 (B.7)

$$\lambda_{\rm eff}(\chi) \equiv 4 \frac{c_{\chi}}{Z^4} g_{\chi}^2 \left[1 - \frac{1}{1 + \gamma_{\epsilon}/4} \left(\frac{\chi}{Zf}\right)^{\gamma_{\epsilon}} \right] \simeq \frac{m_{\sigma}^2}{Z^2 f^2} \log\left(\frac{Zf}{\chi}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\gamma_{\epsilon}^2). \tag{B.8}$$

In the first line of eq. (B.6), we expanded the function $J_b(m_{\text{CFT}}^2/T^2)$ in eq. (2.12) in the socalled 'high-temperature' limit $J_b(x) \underset{x\to\infty}{\sim} -\frac{\pi^4}{45} + \frac{\pi^2}{12}x$, while in the second line we considered the 'low-temperature' limit $J_b(x) \underset{x\to\infty}{\sim} 0$. We have expanded the quartic $\lambda_{\text{eff}}(\chi)$ in eq. (B.8) in the conformal limit $\gamma_{\epsilon} \to 0$. We recall that the anomalous dimension γ_{ϵ} controls the beta function of the confining sector and is related to the dilaton mass m_{σ} through

$$m_{\sigma}^2 = -4\gamma_{\epsilon} c_{\chi} g_{\chi}^2 \frac{f^2}{Z^2}.$$
(B.9)

B.2.2 O(3) thick-wall action

Formula. We can compute the thick-wall approximated O(3)-bounce action by injecting eq. (B.6) into eq. (B.4), so that we get

$$S_{3} \simeq \begin{cases} c_{*} \frac{4\pi}{3} \, \min_{\chi_{*}} \frac{\chi_{*}^{3}}{\sqrt{-2 \left(m_{\text{eff}}^{2} \chi_{*}^{2} / 2 - \lambda_{\text{eff}} \chi_{*}^{4} / 4\right)}}, & \text{if } \chi_{*} \lesssim T/g_{\chi}, \\ c_{*} \frac{4\pi}{3} \, \min_{\chi_{*}} \frac{\chi_{*}^{3}}{\sqrt{-2 \left(b \, N^{2} \, T^{4} - \lambda_{\text{eff}} \, \chi_{*}^{4}\right)}}, & \text{if } \chi_{*} \gtrsim T/g_{\chi}, \end{cases}$$
(B.10)

where c_* is a coefficient which we add and which we fit on the numerical solution. We later set

$$c_* \simeq 2, \tag{B.11}$$

for both the O(3)- and O(4)-bounce actions.

Minimization. After minimization with respect to χ_* , we obtain

$$S_3/T \simeq \begin{cases} c_* \frac{16\pi}{3\lambda_*} \frac{m_{\text{eff}}}{T}, \\ c_* \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{\chi_*/T}{\sqrt{\lambda_*}}, \end{cases} \qquad \chi_* \simeq \begin{cases} \frac{2m_{\text{eff}}}{\sqrt{\lambda_*}}, & \text{if } \chi_* \lesssim T/g_{\chi}, \\ \left(\frac{12 \, b \, N^2}{\lambda_*}\right)^{1/4} & \text{if } \chi_* \gtrsim T/g_{\chi}. \end{cases}$$
(B.12)

We now evaluate the quantity $g_{\chi} \chi_*/T$ for the two lines in eq. (B.12), in the conformal limit $\gamma_{\epsilon} \to 0$

$$\frac{g_{\chi} \chi_{*}}{T} \simeq \begin{cases} 77 \left(\frac{5}{N}\right) \left(\frac{10}{N_{e}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{0.25}{m_{\sigma}/f}\right) \gg 1, \\ 12 \left(\frac{5}{N}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{10}{N_{e}}\right)^{1/4} \left(\frac{0.25}{m_{\sigma}/f}\right)^{1/2} Z^{1/2} \gg 1, \end{cases}$$
(B.13)

where N_e is the number of e-fold of supercooling

$$N_e \simeq \log\left(\frac{f}{T}\right).$$
 (B.14)

Final result. Hence we conclude that the second line of eq. (B.12) is the correct solution, meaning that the thermal corrections can be neglected at the tunneling point. To be clearer for the reader we report the final solution here

$$\frac{S_3}{T} = c_* \, \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{3}} \frac{\chi_*/T}{\sqrt{\lambda_*}},\tag{B.15}$$

with

$$\lambda_* \equiv \lambda_{\text{eff}}(\chi_*), \qquad \chi_* = \left(\frac{12 \, b \, N^2}{\lambda_*}\right)^{1/4} \, T + \mathcal{O}(\gamma_\epsilon^2), \qquad (B.16)$$

and b, λ_{eff} , c_* defined in eq. (B.7), (B.8), (B.11).

B.2.3 O(4) thick-wall action

Formula. We repeat the procedure for the O(4)-bounce by plugging eq. (B.6) into eq. (B.3)

$$S_4 \simeq \begin{cases} c_* \frac{\pi^2}{2} & \min_{\chi_*} \frac{\chi_*^4}{-(m_{\text{eff}}^2 \chi_*^2/2 - \lambda_{\text{eff}} \chi_*^4/4)}, & \text{if } \chi_* \lesssim T/g_{\chi}, \\ c_* \frac{\pi^2}{2} & \min_{\chi_*} \frac{\chi_*^4}{-(b N^2 T^4 - \lambda_{\text{eff}} \chi_*^4/4)}, & \text{if } \chi_* \gtrsim T/g_{\chi}. \end{cases}$$
(B.17)

Minimization of the expression for $\chi_* \gtrsim T/g_{\chi}$ leads to $\chi_* = 0$, which is not a viable bounce solution.

Final result. The minimization of the expression for $\chi_* \lesssim T/g_{\chi}$ leads to

$$S_4 = c_* \frac{2\pi^2}{\lambda_*},$$
 (B.18)

with

$$\lambda_* \equiv \lambda_{\text{eff}}(\chi_*), \qquad \chi_* = \left(4(4+\gamma_\epsilon) \, b \, N^2 \, T^4(Z \, f)^{2+\gamma_\epsilon} / m_\sigma^2\right)^{\frac{1}{4+\gamma_\epsilon}} = \left(\frac{16 \, b \, N^2}{\lambda_*}\right)^{1/4} \, T + \mathcal{O}(\gamma_\epsilon^2). \tag{B.19}$$

Backward check. We backward check that the thermal corrections are negligible at the tunneling point

$$\frac{g_{\chi} \chi_*}{T} \simeq 13 \left(\frac{5}{N}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{10}{N_e}\right)^{1/4} \left(\frac{0.25}{m_{\sigma}/f}\right)^{1/2} Z^{1/2} \gg 1, \tag{B.20}$$

hence confirming that the second line of eq. (B.17) is the correct solution.

B.3 Analytical expression for the nucleation temperature

B.3.1 O(3) nucleation temperature

Instantaneous nucleation approximation. The nucleation happens when the tunneling rate in eq. (2.16) becomes comparable to the Hubble expansion rate per Hubble volume, see appendix B.4 for a justification. For O(3)-dominance, the nucleation temperature is solution of

$$\frac{S_3(T_{\rm nuc})}{T_{\rm nuc}} \simeq 4\log\frac{T_{\rm nuc}}{H(T_{\rm nuc})} + \frac{3}{2}\log\frac{S_3/T_{\rm nuc}}{2\pi},\tag{B.21}$$

where the Hubble parameter is defined by eqs. (2.10) and (2.11),

$$H^{2}(T) = H_{\Lambda}^{2} + H_{\rm rad}^{2} = Z^{2} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{2} f^{2} / 16}{3M_{\rm pl}^{2}} + \frac{\pi^{2} g_{*} T^{4}}{90M_{\rm pl}^{2}}, \quad g_{*} = 106.75 + \frac{45N^{2}}{4}.$$
 (B.22)

O(3) nucleation temperature. An analytical expression of the nucleation temperature can be obtained in the conformal limit $m_{\sigma} \to 0$ by inverting the thick-wall formula for the S_3 bounce action in eq. (B.15),

$$\left(\frac{T_{\rm nuc}}{T_c}\right)^4 \simeq \exp\left(-c_*^4 \frac{1024 \,\pi^4}{3(S_3^{\rm crit}/T_{\rm nuc})^4} b \,N^2 \frac{Z^2}{y_\sigma^2}\right),\tag{B.23}$$

where S_3^{crit} is solution of eq. (B.21), where $y_{\sigma} \equiv m_{\sigma}/f$, and where T_c is the critical temperature, defined by eq. (2.20), and which we recall here

$$T_c = \left(\frac{Z m_\sigma f}{4\sqrt{b}N}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (B.24)

Note that from using eq. (2.8) and $g_{\chi} = 4\pi/N$, we can rewrite eq. (B.23) in terms of the anomalous dimension γ_{ϵ}

$$\left(\frac{T_{\rm nuc}}{T_c}\right)^4 \simeq \exp\left(-c_*^4 \frac{16\,\pi^2 \, b \, Z^4 \, N^4}{3 \, c_\chi \, |\gamma_\epsilon| \, (S_3^{\rm crit}/T_{\rm nuc})^4}\right).\tag{B.25}$$

B.3.2 O(4) nucleation temperature

Instantaneous nucleation approximation. We now consider the case where tunneling occurs via O(4)-symmetric bounce. The nucleation temperature is solution of

$$S_4(T_{\rm nuc}) \simeq 4 \log \frac{R_c^{-1}}{H(T_{\rm nuc})} + \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{S_4}{2\pi},$$
 (B.26)

where R_c is the bubble radius which according to the thick-wall formula in eq. (B.3), reads

$$R_{c} = \left(\frac{Z^{3}f/m_{\sigma}}{\sqrt{b} N \log \frac{T_{c}}{T}}\right)^{1/2} T^{-1} \sim T^{-1}.$$
 (B.27)

Solution. From rewriting the S_4 bounce action in eq. (B.18) in the conformal limit $m_{\sigma} \to 0$ as

$$S_4 = \frac{A_4}{\log T_c/T}, \quad \text{with} \quad A_4 = c_* \ \frac{\pi^2}{2} \frac{Z^4}{|\gamma_\epsilon|} \ c_\chi g_\chi^2} = c_* \ 2\pi^2 \frac{Z^2 f^2}{m_\sigma^2}, \quad (B.28)$$

and from injecting it into eq. (B.26), we obtain

$$T_{\rm nuc} = \sqrt{H_{\Lambda} T_c} \left(\frac{2\pi}{S_4}\right)^{1/16} \, \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-A_4 + \left(\log\frac{T_c}{H_{\Lambda}} + \frac{1}{8}\log\frac{S_4}{2\pi}\right)^2}\right).$$
(B.29)



Figure 10. We compare the temperature of nucleation via O(3)-symmetric bounce to the temperature of nucleation via O(4)-symmetric bounce, computed numerically with an overshoot-undershoot method. We can see that the O(4) bounce dominates over the O(3) bounce for large supercooling f/T_{nuc} , Z = 1 and $N \ge 3$.

Universe stuck forever in false vacuum. Neglecting the $S_4/2\pi$ terms, we conclude that there is no nucleation solution when [42]

$$A_4 \gtrsim \log \frac{T_c}{H_\Lambda},\tag{B.30}$$

and that the minimal nucleation temperature is

$$T_{\rm nuc}^{\rm min} \simeq \sqrt{H_{\Lambda} T_c} \simeq 0.1 f \ Z^{3/4} \left(\frac{m_{\sigma}}{f}\right)^{3/4} \left(\frac{f}{M_{\rm pl}}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (B.31)

That minimal temperature can be visualized as the end points of the lines in figure 10. In the parameter space beyond those end points, we can rely on the confinement of an additional strong sector (possibly QCD) to boost the tunneling rate and trigger the nucleation [30, 31, 40, 44].

O(4) nucleation temperature. Note that from inverting eq. (B.28), we can write

$$\left(\frac{T_{\rm nuc}}{T_c}\right)^4 \simeq \exp\left(-c_* \frac{2\pi^2}{S_4^{\rm crit}} \frac{Z^2}{y_\sigma^2}\right),\tag{B.32}$$

where S_4^{crit} is solution of eq. (B.26) and where $y_{\sigma} \equiv m_{\sigma}/f$. The advantage of eq. (B.32) is to make explicit that the nucleation temperature is exponentially suppressed for small dilaton mass m_{σ} , or equivalently for small anomalous coupling $|\gamma_{\epsilon}|$. Note also that from using eq. (2.8) and $g_{\chi} = 4\pi/N$, we can rewrite eq. (B.32) as

$$\left(\frac{T_{\rm nuc}}{T_c}\right)^4 \simeq \exp\left(-c_* \frac{Z^4 N^2}{32 c_\chi |\gamma_\epsilon| S_4^{\rm crit}}\right),\tag{B.33}$$



Figure 11. We compare the nucleation temperature computed after numerically solving for the O(3)or O(4)-bounce action with the overshoot-undershoot method, to the analytical approximations in the thick-wall limit presented in section B.2. *Right:* the O(4) analytical formula, in eq. (B.18), is a quite good approximation. *Left:* the O(3) case, in eq. (B.15), while relatively good approximation for Z = 1, worsens for larger Z. This was expected since it has been derived in the conformal limit $\gamma_{\epsilon} \to 0$.

and we recover that at fixed γ_{ϵ} , the nucleation temperature scales like $T_{\rm nuc}/f \propto e^{-N^2}$, e.g. [40].

B.3.3 Discussion

In contrast to the O(3) thick-wall solution which can only be computed in the conformal limit, eq. (B.16), the O(4) thick-wall solution can be computed for finite γ_{ϵ} , eq. (B.19). In figure 11, we can see that the thick-wall formula for the O(3) and O(4) bounce compare quite well with the numerical solution. Only the O(3) formula becomes wrong away from the conformal limit, e.g. for $Z \gtrsim 2$ or $N \gtrsim 20$. We can compare the analytical formula for the O(3)- and O(4)-bounce actions in the $\gamma_{\epsilon} \to 0$ limit

$$\frac{S_4}{S_3/T} = 1.0 \left(\frac{10}{N_e}\right)^{1/4} \left(\frac{3}{N}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{0.2}{m_\sigma/f}\right)^{1/2} Z^{1/2}$$
(B.34)

This analytical approximation predicts that the O(4) bounce overtakes over the O(3) bounce for $N \gtrsim 3$, Z = 1 and large N_e . However, note the aforementioned inaccuracies for O(3)for $Z \gtrsim 2$. Indeed, contrary to the prediction made in eq. (B.34), the O(3) bounce governs nucleation for Z = 5 in the numerical results of figure 10.

B.4 Precise percolation temperature

In this appendix we make a refined estimate of the temperature at which the phase transition completes, following the work of [256-260].

Volume fraction converted into true vacuum. The number of bubbles formed per unit of time and per unit of comoving volume is given by

$$\Gamma(t') a(t')^3. \tag{B.35}$$

The comoving volume of a bubble which has nucleated at t' and expanded at the speed of light until t is

$$\frac{4\pi}{3} \left(\int_{t'}^{t} \frac{d\tilde{t}}{a(\tilde{t})} \right)^{3}.$$
 (B.36)

We deduce the volume fraction converted into true vacuum at time t, including bubble overlapping²²

$$I(t) = \int_{t_c}^{t} dt' \, \Gamma(t') \, a(t')^3 \, \frac{4\pi}{3} \, \left(\int_{t'}^{t} \frac{d\tilde{t}}{a(\tilde{t})} \right)^3. \tag{B.37}$$

We can also interpret I(t) as the average number of bubbles inside which, a given point of space is contained. It can be larger than 1 because it includes overlapping. Hence, one defines $P_{\text{false}}(t) \equiv e^{-I(t)}$, where multiple counting has been subtracted by the exponentiation.²³ This is the probability that a given point remains in the false vacuum at time t. We also define the physical volume remaining in the false vacuum per unit of comoving volume $\mathcal{V}_{\text{false}}(t) \equiv a(t)^3 P_{\text{false}}(t)$.

Percolation time. We consider the percolation to occur when

$$P_{\text{false}}(t) \lesssim 1/e \implies I(t) \gtrsim 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\mathcal{V}_{\text{false}}(t)}{dt} \lesssim 0.$$
 (B.38)

The second condition is necessary to prevent the possibility that the probability that a given point has been converted to the true vacuum tends to 1, while the physical volume of false vacuum goes to infinity [260].

Percolation temperature. Finally, upon using the adiabatic relations H dt = -dT/T and d(T a) = 0, the nucleation temperature T_{nuc} is obtained from

$$\frac{4\pi}{3} \int_{T_{\rm nuc}}^{T_c} \frac{dT'}{T'} \frac{\Gamma(T')}{T'^3 H(T')} \left(\int_{T_{\rm nuc}}^{T'} \frac{d\tilde{T}}{H(\tilde{T})} \right)^3 \simeq 1, \tag{B.39}$$

after checking that

$$3 + T_{\rm nuc} \frac{dI(T)}{dT}\Big|_{T_{\rm nuc}} < 0.$$
(B.40)

Instantaneous nucleation approximation is enough. As shown in figure 12, for the class of logarithmic potential which we consider in this paper, the difference between the percolation temperature derived from eq. (B.39) and eq. (B.40), and the instantaneous nucleation temperature derived from $\Gamma \simeq H^4$ is tiny. This justifies the use of the latter prescription in section 2.3.

²²Note that we have neglected the initial size of the bubble just after it nucleates. Including it would give $I(t) = \int_{t_c}^{t} dt' \Gamma(t') \frac{4\pi}{3} \left(\int_{t'}^{t} \frac{a(t')}{a(t)} d\tilde{t} + R(t') \right)^3 = \frac{4\pi}{3} \int_{T_{nuc}}^{T_c} \frac{dT'}{T'} \frac{\Gamma(T')}{T'^3 H(T')} \left(\int_{T_{nuc}}^{T'} \frac{d\tilde{T}}{H(\tilde{T})} + R(T') T' \right)^3$ where R' is the bubble radius at nucleation. The correction is of order $R(T') H' \sim \frac{\text{TeV}}{M_{\text{Pl}}}$ and is completely negligible.

²³The probability $P_{\text{false}}(t)$ that a given point remains in the false vacuum is the $N \to \infty$ limit of the product $\prod_{n=1}^{N} \left(1 - dt \frac{dI(t_n)}{dt}\right)$ where $dt = \frac{t-t_c}{N}$ and $1 - dt \frac{dI(t_n)}{dt}$ is the probability of remaining in the false vacuum between $t_n = t_c + (t - t_c) \frac{n}{N}$ and t_{n+1} .



Figure 12. We compare the nucleation temperature computed from the analytical O(4) action in the thick-wall limit, using either the instantaneous approximation in eq. (2.21), or the refined percolation conditions in eq. (B.39) and eq. (B.40).

C More plots

C.1 Non-supercooled dilaton-mediated composite DM

We provide the phenomenological constraints, coming from direct detection, indirect detection and colliders on dilaton-mediated DM, in absence of supercooling. Figure 13 extends the scalar DM scenario of figure 3 in section 3, to the fermionic and vector DM cases. If DM is a fermion, the DM annihilation is p-wave and the ID signal is too weak to lead to any constraints. If DM is a vector, a scalar, or a pNGB, the ID signal is still too weak to be probed by currents ID experiments, however future experiments could probe region up to 100 TeV, cf. figures 3 and 13.

Additionally, figure 14 extends the pNGB scenario of figure 4 to the case in which the pNGB mass receives its dominant contributions from the bottom quark instead of the top quark, such that the Higgs mixing $\lambda_{h\eta}$ is reduced.

C.2 Supercooled dilaton-mediated composite DM

We show the new parameter space which is opened when introducing a period of supercooling preceding the confinement. They complete figure 6 in section 4. We show the cases where DM is a vector in figure 15 and a fermion in figure 16. We vary the string-to-DM branching ratio from 10^{-3} to 10^{-6} and the dilaton normalization strength from Z = 1 to Z = 5. We can see that the constraints coming from direct detection, indirect detection and colliders are far from reaching the new opened regions. However, they can be probed by GW, see figure 7.



Figure 13. Dilaton-mediated DM in the standard freeze-out case. We display DM as a fermion (top), vector (middle) and scalar (bottom) resonance of the strong sector, cf. section 3.1. Lines and shadings as in figure 3. In the fermionic case, the DM annihilation cross-section is p-wave, cf. eq. (3.18), so that the indirect-detection constraints are suppressed compared to the scalar and vector cases.



Figure 14. Dilaton-mediated O(6)/O(5) pNGB DM in the standard freeze-out case. Lines and shadings as in figure 3. All the rest as in figure 4, where here we additionally display the case where the shift symmetry is broken by the bottom quark, such that direct detection is dominated by dilaton exchange, as opposed to Higgs exchange in the case of top-breaking, see eq. (3.40).

D DM non-relativistic potential

Non-relativistic potential. The non-relativistic potential between the DM wave-functions can be computed as the Fourier transform

$$V(r) = -\frac{1}{4im_{\rm DM}^2} \int \frac{d\vec{k}^3}{(2\pi)^3} \mathcal{W}(\vec{k}) \, e^{-i\vec{k}\vec{r}} \tag{D.1}$$

of the four-point function amplitude $\mathcal{W}(\vec{k})$ with one-boson mediator exchange [114], where \vec{k} is the momentum of the exchanged boson. See an example in figure 17.



Figure 15. Supercooled dilaton-mediated vector DM. Lines and shadings as in figure 6.

D.1 Dilaton-mediated channel

Non-relativistic and instantaneous approximation. In what follows, we work in the non-relativistic and instantaneous approximation limit [114]

$$v_{\rm rel}, \, \alpha \lesssim 1 \quad \Longrightarrow \quad k_0 \simeq \frac{\vec{k}^2}{2\mu} \lesssim |\vec{k}| \quad \text{with } |\vec{k}| \simeq (\mu v_{\rm rel}, \, \mu \alpha) \text{ and } \mu \equiv m_{\rm DM}/2.$$
 (D.2)

4-point function amplitude. For dilaton-mediated DM, scalar resonance, scalar pNGB, fermion resonance and vector resonance have the same 4-point amplitude

$$\mathcal{W}(\vec{k}) \simeq \frac{4m_{\rm DM}^4}{(Zf)^2} \frac{i}{\vec{k}^2 + m_{\sigma}^2}.$$
 (D.3)



Figure 16. Supercooled dilaton-mediated fermionic DM. Lines and shadings as in figure 6. The indirect-detection constraints are suppressed compared to the scalar and vector cases, because the annihilation cross-section of fermion DM is p-wave, cf. eq. (3.18).

We defined k as the momentum running in the dilaton propagator and p_1 , p_2 as the momenta of the incoming DM particles, see figure 17. To help the reader, we provide the detailed computations for scalar resonance DM, cf. eq. (3.2)

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{scalar}}(\vec{k}) = \frac{-2im_{\text{DM}}^2}{(Zf)} \frac{i}{k^2 - m_{\sigma}^2} \frac{-2im_{\text{DM}}^2}{(Zf)}$$
$$\stackrel{v_{\text{rel}},\alpha}{\simeq} \stackrel{\alpha}{\simeq} \stackrel{1}{=} \frac{4m_{\text{DM}}^4}{(Zf)^2} \frac{i}{\vec{k}^2 + m_{\sigma}^2}, \tag{D.4}$$



Figure 17. Feynman diagram of the 4-point function amplitude $\mathcal{W}(\vec{k})$, either dilaton σ or Higgs h mediated, for pNGB DM η . Generalization to scalar, fermion and vector resonance DM is straightforward.

for scalar pNGB DM, cf. eq. (3.6)

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{pNGB},\sigma}(\vec{k}) = \frac{2i\left(p_{1}.(p_{1}-k)-2m_{\text{DM}}^{2}\right)}{Zf} \frac{i}{k^{2}-m_{\sigma}^{2}} \frac{2i\left(p_{2}.(p_{2}+k)-2m_{\text{DM}}^{2}\right)}{Zf}$$
$$= -\frac{4m_{\text{DM}}^{4}+8m_{\text{DM}}^{2}k(p_{1}-p_{2})-4(kp_{1})(kp_{2})}{(Zf)^{2}} \frac{i}{k^{2}-m_{\sigma}^{2}}$$
$$\overset{v_{\text{rel}},\alpha}{\simeq} \stackrel{\alpha}{\simeq} \frac{1}{4} \frac{4m_{\text{DM}}^{4}}{(Zf)^{2}} \frac{i}{\vec{k}^{2}+m_{\sigma}^{2}},$$
(D.5)

for fermion resonance DM, cf. eq. (3.3)

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{fermion}}(\vec{k}) = (-1) \frac{-im_{\text{DM}}}{Zf} \bar{u}(p_1') u(p_1) \frac{i}{k^2 - m_{\sigma}^2} \frac{-im_{\text{DM}}}{Zf} \bar{v}(p_2) v(p_2')$$
(D.6)

$${}^{v_{\rm rel}, \alpha} \stackrel{\alpha}{\simeq} \stackrel{\leq}{}^{1} (-1) \frac{m_{\rm DM}^{2}}{(Zf)^{2}} \bar{u}(p_{1}) u(p_{1}) \frac{i}{\vec{k}^{2} + m_{\sigma}^{2}} \frac{m_{\rm DM}}{Zf} \bar{v}(p_{2}) v(p_{2})$$
$$= \frac{4m_{\rm DM}^{4}}{(Zf)^{2}} \frac{i}{\vec{k}^{2} + m_{\sigma}^{2}},$$
(D.7)

and for vector resonance DM, cf. eq. (3.4)

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{vector}}(\vec{k}) = \frac{-2im_{\text{DM}}^2}{Zf} \epsilon^{\mu}(p_1) \epsilon^*_{\mu}(p_1') \frac{i}{k^2 - m_{\sigma}^2} \frac{-2im_{\text{DM}}^2}{Zf} \epsilon^*_{\alpha}(p_2) \epsilon^{\alpha}(p_2')
\stackrel{v_{\text{rel}},\alpha}{\simeq} \stackrel{\sim}{\simeq} \frac{1}{Zf} \frac{2m_{\text{DM}}^2}{Zf} \epsilon^{\mu}(p_1) \epsilon^*_{\mu}(p_1) \frac{i}{\vec{k}^2 + m_{\sigma}^2} \frac{2m_{\text{DM}}^2}{Zf} \epsilon^*_{\alpha}(p_2) \epsilon^{\alpha}(p_2)
= \frac{4m_{\text{DM}}^2}{(Zf)^2} \frac{i}{\vec{k}^2 + m_{\sigma}^2}.$$
(D.8)

For the fermion and vector cases, we have used the normalization rules [108]

$$\bar{u}^r(p)u^s(p) = 2m\delta^{rs}, \qquad \bar{u}^r(p)u^s(p) = -2m\delta^{rs}, \tag{D.9}$$

$$\epsilon^*_{\mu}(p)\epsilon^{\mu}(p) = -1.$$
 (D.10)

The minus sign in eq. (D.6) arises from fermion permutations [108, section 4.7].

Yukawa potential. After injecting eq. (D.3) into eq. (D.1), we get the Yukawa potential

$$\begin{aligned} V_{\sigma}(r) &= -\frac{2\pi}{(2\pi)^{3}4im_{\rm DM}^{2}} \frac{4m_{\rm DM}^{4}}{(Zf)^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dk \, k^{2} \, \int_{0}^{\pi} d\theta \, \sin\theta \, \frac{i}{k^{2} + m_{\sigma}^{2}} \, e^{-ikr\cos\theta} \\ &= -\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2}4im_{\rm DM}^{2}} \frac{4m_{\rm DM}^{4}}{(Zf)^{2}} 2 \int_{0}^{\infty} dk \, k^{2} \, \frac{i}{k^{2} + m_{\sigma}^{2}} \, \frac{\sin kr}{r} \\ &= -\frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2}4m_{\rm DM}^{2}} \frac{4m_{\rm DM}^{4}}{(Zf)^{2}} \pi \frac{e^{-m_{\chi}r}}{r} \\ &= -\alpha_{\sigma} \frac{e^{-m_{\chi}r}}{r}, \end{aligned} \tag{D.11}$$

with

$$\alpha_{\sigma} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{(Zf)^2}.\tag{D.12}$$

Our result for the pNGB case, eq. (D.5), differs from [49] where the authors find a value of α_{σ} which is 9 times larger.

D.2 Higgs-mediated channel

Couplings. Due to the coset structure of composite Higgs models, pNGB DM has also interactions with the Higgs boson. The lagrangian in eq. (3.7), valid for the coset SO(6)/SO(5), leads after SSB, $H = (0, (h + v_H)/\sqrt{2})$, to the interaction terms

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{\lambda_{h\eta} v_H}{2} h \, \eta^2 + \frac{v_H}{4(Zf)^2} (\partial_\mu h \partial^\mu \eta) \eta. \tag{D.13}$$

4-point function. They give the following respective Higgs-mediated four-point function amplitudes

$$\mathcal{W}_{\mathrm{h,\,quartic}}(k) \simeq \lambda_{h\eta} v_H \frac{i}{|\vec{k}|^2 + m_{\sigma}^2}, \qquad \mathcal{W}_{\mathrm{h,\,derivative}}(k) \simeq \frac{v_H}{4(Zf)^4} \frac{i|\vec{k}|^4}{|\vec{k}|^2 + m_{\sigma}^2}. \tag{D.14}$$

Higgs-mediated Yukawa potential. From introducing the first term of eq. (D.14) into eq. (D.1), we get a Yukawa potential

$$V_{\rm h,\,quartic}(r) = -\alpha_{\rm h,\,quartic} \frac{e^{-m_{\chi}r}}{r}, \qquad \alpha_{\rm h,\,quartic} = \frac{1}{16\pi} \frac{\lambda_{h\eta}^2 v_{\rm H}^2}{m_{\rm DM}^2}.$$
 (D.15)

The injection of the second term of eq. (D.14) into eq. (D.1) leads to a divergent integral which must be cut-off at the EFT scale $|\vec{k}| \leq f$. We obtain

$$V_{\rm h,\,derivative}(r) \simeq \frac{v_H}{64\pi^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 (Zf)^4} \frac{2fr \left(6 + (m_{\sigma}^2 - f^2)r^2\right)\cos fr - 2\left(6 + (m_{\sigma}^2 - 3f^2)r^2\right)\sin fr}{r^5}$$
$$\simeq \frac{v_H}{64\pi^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 (Zf)^4} \times \begin{cases} 2f(m_{\sigma}^2 - f^2)\frac{\cos fr}{r^2}, & r \gtrsim f^{-1}, \\ -\frac{2}{3}f^3m_{\sigma}^2, & r \lesssim f^{-1}. \end{cases}$$
(D.16)



Figure 18. Non-relativistic potentials between 2 pNGN DM particles assuming either the dilatonmediated channel or the Higgs-mediated channel. In the later case, we consider either the quartic interaction or the derivative one, cf. eq. (D.13).

Higgs- and dilaton-mediated Yukawa potential. The non-relativistic potential between pNGB DM particles is the sum of eq. (D.11), eq. (D.15) and eq. (D.16)

$$V_{\rm pNGB}(r) = -\alpha_{\sigma} \frac{e^{-m_{\sigma}r}}{r} - \alpha_{\rm h,\,quartic} \frac{e^{-m_{\sigma}r}}{r} + V_{\rm h,\,derivative}(r). \tag{D.17}$$

We compare the three pNGB DM potentials in figure 18.

In contrast to the other two, $V_{\rm h,\,derivative}(r)$ is not a Yukawa potential. Instead, at large distance $r \gtrsim f^{-1}$, the potential oscillates around attractive and repulsive behavior with a $1/r^2$ envelop, and at small distance $r \lesssim f^{-1}$, it flattens. The impact of such a potential on the annihilation cross-section of pNGB is beyond the scope of this work. In any case, in the scenaro which we study in this work and for the chosen values of the parameters,

$$V_{\sigma}(r) \gtrsim V_{\rm h,\,quartic}(r) \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad \lambda_{h\eta} \lesssim \frac{6m_{\rm DM}^2}{v_H(Zf)},$$
 (D.18)

$$V_{\sigma}(f^{-1}) \gtrsim V_{\rm h,\,derivative}(f^{-1}) \implies m_{\rm DM}^2 \gtrsim 6\sqrt{6\pi} Z m_{\sigma} v_H,$$
 (D.19)

the full potential is always dominated by the dilaton-mediated contribution shown in orange in figure 18.

E DM annihilation cross-sections

Thermally averaged annihilation cross-section. In order to compute the thermal effects on the DM abundance after the supercooling stage we need to compute the thermally averaged DM annihilation cross-section. Considering the process $A_1 + A_2 \longrightarrow A_3 + A_4$ with $m_1 = m_2 = m_i$ and $m_3 = m_4 = m_f$, the reference [261] gives

$$\langle \sigma v_{\rm rel} \rangle = \frac{\int \sigma v_{\rm rel} e^{-E_1/T} e^{-E_2/T} d^3 p_1 d^3 p_2}{\int e^{-E_1/T} e^{-E_2/T} d^3 p_1 d^3 p_2} = \frac{1}{8m_i^4 T K_2^2 \left(\frac{m_i}{T}\right)} \int_{4m_i^2}^{\infty} (S - 4m_i^2) \sqrt{S} K_1 \left(\frac{\sqrt{S}}{T}\right) \sigma dS, \tag{E.1}$$

where the annihilation cross-section σ reads [108]

$$\sigma = \frac{1}{16\pi S} \sqrt{\frac{S - 4m_f^2}{S - 4m_i^2}} \int \frac{d\Omega}{4\pi} \frac{1}{N_I!} \frac{1}{\sigma_1 \sigma_2} \sum_{\sigma_1, \sigma_2 \sigma_3 \sigma_4} |M|^2,$$
(E.2)

where N_I is the number of identical particles in the final state and σ_1 , σ_2 are the number of internal degrees of freedom of the initial states. We compute the transition amplitude Mwith Feyncalc [262].

Integration over the scattering angle. Integration over the scattering angle in the center of mass frame $d\Omega = 2\pi \sin\theta d\theta$ can be performed after replacing the Mandelstram variable $t = (p_1 - p_3)^2$ by

$$t = m_1^2 + m_3^2 - \frac{(S + m_1^2 - m_2^2)(S + m_3^2 - m_4^2)}{2S} + \frac{1}{2S}\lambda^{1/2}(S, m_1^2, m_2^2)\lambda^{1/2}(S, m_3^2, m_4^2)\cos\theta,$$
(E.3)

with $S = (p_1 + p_2)^2$ and $\lambda(a, b, c)$ being the so-called triangle function [263]

$$\lambda(a, b, c) = a^2 + b^2 + c^2 - 2ab - 2ac - 2bc.$$
(E.4)

Non-relativistic limit. Note that the non-relativistic limit, which is sufficient for computing the indirect detection constraints, is recovered by setting the Mandelstram variables S to

$$S = 4m_i^2 \left(1 + \frac{v_{\rm rel}^2}{4}\right),\tag{E.5}$$

where $v_{\rm rel}$ is the relative velocity between the incoming particles in their center of mass frame.

Sommerfeld enhancement. As discussed in section 3.3, non-perturbative Sommerfeld enhancement of the interaction probability is included after multiplying the perturbative cross-section σ_{pert} in eq. (E.2) by the factor $S_H^{(l)}$ in eq. (3.25)

$$\sigma_{\text{non-pert}} = \sigma_{\text{pert}} \times S_H^{(l)}.$$
(E.6)

Goldstone equivalence theorem. The cross-sections for DM annihilation into Higgs pairs, $\sigma(\text{DMDM} \rightarrow hh)$, are different from [47] due to the coupling of the dilaton to the Higgs kinetic term in eq. (3.11), needed in order to respect the Goldstone equivalence theorem

$$\sigma(\text{DMDM} \to hh) \underset{S \gg m_Z}{\sim} \sigma(\text{DMDM} \to ZZ).$$
 (E.7)

We find the cross-section for vector DM annihilation into dilaton pair ≈ 4 times smaller than [47], in the large $m_{\rm DM}$ limit.

Formulae. In the next subsections, we give the analytical formulae of the DM annihilation cross-sections for scalar, vector and fermion DM and we plot them in figure 19. Because of their length, we chose to not report the analytical formulae of the pNGB DM annihilation cross-sections in the present article, but instead we simply show their plot in figure 20.



Figure 19. DM annihilation cross-section in the scenarios where DM is a scalar (top), a vector (middle) or a fermionic (bottom) resonance of the confining sector. On the left panels we fix the confining scale f = 10 TeV while on the right panels, we fix it equal to the DM mass $f = m_{\rm DM}$. For all plots, we set the dilaton mass to $m_{\sigma} = 0.5 f$ and the relative velocity to $v_{\rm rel} = 0.1$. The wiggles are consequences of Sommerfeld effects, cf. 3.3.



Figure 20. DM annihilation cross-section in the scenario where DM is a O(6)/O(5) pNGB. We consider the pNGB shift symmetry to be explicitly broken either by the top interactions (top) or by the bottom ones (bottom). On the left panels, we fix the confining scale to f = 1 TeV while on the right panels, we fix it to $f = 20 m_{\rm DM}$. In all plots, we set the dilaton mass to $m_{\sigma} = 0.5 f$ and the relative velocity to $v_{\rm rel} = 0.1$. The wiggles are consequences of Sommerfeld effects, cf. 3.3.

E.1 Fermion

We compute

$$\sigma v_{\rm rel}(\text{DMDM} \to hh) = v_{\rm rel} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2 (S + 2m_h^2)^2 \sqrt{(S - 4m_h^2)(S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2)}}{64\pi (Zf)^4 S \left[(S - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2\right]}$$
(E.8)

$$\underset{v_{\rm rel}\ll 1}{\Longrightarrow} v_{\rm rel}^2 \frac{m_{\rm DM} \sqrt{m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_h^2} (2m_{\rm DM}^2 + m_h^2)^2}{32\pi (Zf)^4 \left[(4m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2 \right]}$$
(E.9)

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM} \gg m_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} v_{\rm rel}^2 \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{128\pi (Zf)^4}.$$
 (E.10)

$$\sigma v_{\rm rel}(\text{DMDM} \to ff) = v_{\rm rel} N_c \frac{m_f^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 (S - 4m_f^2)^{3/2} \sqrt{S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2}}{16\pi (Zf)^4 S \left[(S - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2 \right]}$$
(E.11)

$$\underset{v_{\rm rel} \ll 1}{\longrightarrow} v_{\rm rel}^2 N_c \frac{m_f^2 m_{\rm DM} (m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_f^2)^{3/2}}{8\pi (Zf)^4 \left[(4m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2 \right]}$$
(E.12)

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM}\gg\bar{m}_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} v_{\rm rel}^2 N_c \frac{m_f^2}{128\pi (Zf)^4}.$$
(E.13)

$$\sigma v_{\rm rel}(\text{DMDM} \to WW) = 2 \sigma v_{\rm rel}(\text{DMDM} \to ZZ)|_{m_W \leftrightarrow m_Z}$$
(E.14)

$$= v_{\rm rel} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2 \sqrt{S - 4m_W^2} \sqrt{S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2}}{32\pi (Zf)^4 S} \frac{12m_W^4 - 4m_W^4 S + S^2}{(S - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2} \quad (E.15)$$

$$\underset{v_{\rm rel} \ll 1}{\Longrightarrow} v_{\rm rel}^2 \frac{m_{\rm DM} \sqrt{m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_W^2}}{16\pi (Zf)^4} \frac{3m_W^4 + 4m_{\rm DM}^4 - 4m_{\rm DM}^2 m_W^2}{(4m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2}$$
(E.16)

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM}\ggm_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} v_{\rm rel}^2 \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{64\pi (Zf)^4}.$$
(E.17)

 $\sigma v_{\rm rel}({\rm DMDM} \rightarrow \sigma \sigma)$

$$= v_{\rm rel} m_{\rm DM}^2 \left[(S - 2m_{\sigma}^2) \sqrt{(S - 4m_{\sigma}^2)(S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2)} \left[m_{\sigma}^8 (25S - 66m_{\rm DM}^2) + 2m_{\sigma}^6 m_{\rm DM}^2 (-3\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 + 136m_{\rm DM}^2 - 64S) + m_{\sigma}^4 (-32m_{\rm DM}^6 + 32m_{\rm DM}^4 (\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 + S) + 19m_{\rm DM}^2 S^2) + 4m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^4 (16m_{\rm DM}^2 S - \Gamma_{\sigma}^2 (8m_{\rm DM}^2 + S)) - 4m_{\rm DM}^4 S^2 (8m_{\rm DM}^2 + S) \right] - 4m_{\sigma}^2 (m_{\sigma}^4 - 4m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 + m_{\rm DM}^2 S) \left[(S - m_{\sigma}^2) [34m_{\sigma}^6 + 2m_{\sigma}^4 (5S - 72m_{\rm DM}^2) + m_{\sigma}^2 (32m_{\rm DM}^4 + 48m_{\rm DM}^2 S - 15S^2) + S (-32m_{\rm DM}^4 + 16m_{\rm DM}^2 S + S^2) \right] - \Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\sigma}^2 (6m_{\sigma}^4 - 4m_{\sigma}^2 (4m_{\rm DM}^2 + S) - 32m_{\rm DM}^4 + 16m_{\rm DM}^2 S + S^2) \right] \times$$

$$ArcCoth \left(\frac{2m_{\sigma}^2 - S}{\sqrt{(S - 4m_{\sigma}^2)(S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2)}} \right) \right] / \left[64\pi (Zf)^4 S (S - 2m_{\sigma}^2) (S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2) \times (m_{\sigma}^4 - 4m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 + m_{\rm DM}^2 S) (\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\sigma}^2 + (S - m_{\sigma}^2)^2) \right]$$

$$(E.18)$$

$$\underset{v_{\rm rel} \ll 1}{\Longrightarrow} v_{\rm rel}^2 m_{\rm DM} \sqrt{m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_{\sigma}^2 \left(75m_{\sigma}^{12} - 680m_{\sigma}^{10}m_{\rm DM}^2 + 2672m_{\sigma}^8 m_{\rm DM}^4 \right. \\ \left. + 32m_{\sigma}^6 m_{\rm DM}^4 (\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 - 187m_{\rm DM}^2) + 32m_{\sigma}^4 (255m_{\rm DM}^8 - 4\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^6) \right. \\ \left. + 16m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^8 (9\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 - 400m_{\rm DM}^2) + 2304m_{\rm DM}^{12} \right) / \\ \left[384\pi (Zf)^4 (m_{\sigma}^2 - 2m_{\rm DM}^2)^4 (m_{\sigma}^4 + m_{\sigma}^2 (\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 - 8m_{\rm DM}^2) + 16m_{\rm DM}^4) \right]$$

$$(E.19)$$

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM} \gg m_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} v_{\rm rel}^2 \frac{3m_{\rm DM}^2}{128\pi (Zf)^4}.$$

$$(E.20)$$

E.2 Scalar

We compute

$$\sigma v_{\rm rel}(\text{DMDM} \to hh) = v_{\rm rel} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^4 \sqrt{S - 4m_h^2} (S + 2m_h^2)^2}{8\pi (Zf)^4 S \sqrt{S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2} \left[(S - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2 \right]}$$
(E.21)

$$\underset{v_{\rm rel} \ll 1}{\longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\rm DM} \sqrt{m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_h^2 (2m_{\rm DM}^2 + m_h^2)^2}}{4\pi (Zf)^4 \left[(4m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2 \right]}$$
(E.22)

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM}\ggm_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{16\pi (Zf)^4}.$$
 (E.23)

$$\sigma v_{\rm rel}(\text{DMDM} \to ff) = v_{\rm rel} N_c \frac{m_f^2 m_{\rm DM}^4 (S - 4m_f^2)^{3/2}}{2\pi (Zf)^4 S \sqrt{S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2} \left[(S - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2 \right]}$$
(E.24)

$$\underset{v_{\rm rel}\ll 1}{\Longrightarrow} N_c \frac{m_f^2 m_{\rm DM} (m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_f^2)^{3/2}}{\pi (Zf)^4 \left[(4m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2 \right]}$$
(E.25)

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM} \gg m_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} N_c \frac{m_f^2}{16\pi (Zf)^4}.$$
 (E.26)

$$\sigma v_{\rm rel}(\text{DMDM} \to WW) = 2 \sigma v_{\rm rel}(\text{DMDM} \to ZZ)|_{m_W \leftrightarrow m_Z}$$
 (E.27)

$$= v_{\rm rel} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^4 \sqrt{S - 4m_W^2}}{4\pi (Zf)^4 S \sqrt{S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2}} \frac{12m_W^4 - 4m_W^4 S + S^2}{(S - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2}$$
(E.28)

$$\underset{v_{\rm rel} \ll 1}{\Longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\rm DM} \sqrt{m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_W^2}}{2\pi (Zf)^4} \frac{3m_W^4 + 4m_{\rm DM}^4 - 4m_{\rm DM}^2 m_W^2}{(4m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2} \tag{E.29}$$

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM}\ggm_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{8\pi (Zf)^4}.$$
(E.30)

$$\begin{split} \sigma v_{\rm rel}({\rm DMDM} \to \sigma \sigma) \\ &= v_{\rm rel} \Biggl[m_{\rm DM}^4 (8m_{\sigma}^4 - 6m_{\sigma}^2 S + S^2) (4m_{\rm DM}^2 - S) \Bigl(16m_{\sigma}^8 \\ &+ m_{\sigma}^6 \bigl(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 - 64m_{\rm DM}^2 + 8S \bigr) + m_{\sigma}^4 \bigl(8m_{\rm DM}^4 - 4m_{\rm DM}^2 \bigl(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 + 4S \bigr) + S^2 \bigr) \\ &+ m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 \bigl(8m_{\rm DM}^2 \bigl(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 - 2S \bigr) + S \bigl(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 + 4S \bigr) \bigr) + m_{\rm DM}^2 S^2 \bigl(8m_{\rm DM}^2 + S \bigr) \Bigr) \\ &- 16m_{\rm DM}^6 \sqrt{(S - 4m_{\sigma}^2)(S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2)} (m_{\sigma}^4 - 4m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 + m_{\rm DM}^2 S) \times \\ \Bigl(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\sigma}^2 (S - 2(m_{\sigma}^2 + m_{\rm DM}^2)) + (m_{\sigma}^2 - S) (8m_{\sigma}^4 - 2m_{\sigma}^2 (m_{\rm DM}^2 + S) + S(2m_{\rm DM}^2 - S)) \Bigr) \Bigr) \\ &\times {\rm ArcCoth} \left(\frac{2m_{\sigma}^2 - S}{\sqrt{(S - 4m_{\sigma}^2)(S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2)}} \right) \Biggr] / \Bigl[8\pi (Zf)^4 S (2m_{\sigma}^2 - S) \sqrt{S - 4m_{\sigma}^2} \times \\ (S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2)^{3/2} (m_{\sigma}^4 - 4m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 + m_{\rm DM}^2 S) (\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\sigma}^2 + (m_{\sigma}^2 - S)^2) \Bigr] \qquad (E.31) \\ \xrightarrow[V_{\rm rel} \leqslant 1] \frac{m_{\rm DM} \sqrt{m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_{\sigma}^2} \Bigl(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\sigma}^2 (m_{\sigma}^2 + 2m_{\rm DM}^2)^2 + 16(m_{\sigma}^4 - 2m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 + 2m_{\rm DM}^4)^2 \Bigr) }{16\pi (Zf)^4 (m_{\sigma}^2 - 2m_{\rm DM}^2)^2 (\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\sigma}^2 + (m_{\sigma}^2 - 4m_{\rm DM}^2)^2)} \end{aligned}$$

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM}\ggm_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{16\pi (Zf)^4}.$$
(E.33)

E.3 Vector

We compute

$$\sigma v_{\rm rel}(\text{DMDM} \to hh) = v_{\rm rel} \frac{\sqrt{S - 4m_h^2}(S + 2m_h^2)^2}{288\pi (Zf)^4 S \sqrt{S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2}} \frac{12m_{\rm DM}^4 - 4m_{\rm DM}^4 S + S^2}{[(S - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2]}$$
(E.34)

$$\underset{v_{\rm rel} \ll 1}{\Longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\rm DM} \sqrt{m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_h^2 (2m_{\rm DM}^2 + m_h^2)^2}}{12\pi (Zf)^4 \left[(4m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2 \right]},\tag{E.35}$$

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM} \gg m_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{48\pi (Zf)^4}.$$
 (E.36)

$$\sigma v_{\rm rel}(\text{DMDM} \to ff) = v_{\rm rel} N_c \frac{m_f^2 (S - 4m_f^2)^{3/2}}{72\pi (Zf)^4 S \sqrt{S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2}} \frac{12m_{\rm DM}^4 - 4m_{\rm DM}^4 S + S^2}{[(S - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2]}$$
(E.37)

$$\underset{v_{\rm rel} \ll 1}{\Longrightarrow} N_c \frac{m_f^2 m_{\rm DM} (m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_f^2)^{3/2}}{3\pi (Zf)^4 \left[(4m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2 \right]}$$
(E.38)

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM}\ggm_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} N_c \frac{m_f^2}{48\pi (Zf)^4}.$$
(E.39)

$\begin{aligned} \sigma v_{\rm rel}({\rm DMDM} \to WW) &= 2 \,\sigma v_{\rm rel}({\rm DMDM} \to ZZ)|_{m_W \leftrightarrow m_Z} \end{aligned} \tag{E.40} \\ &= v_{\rm rel} \frac{\sqrt{S - 4m_W^2}}{144\pi (Zf)^4 S \sqrt{S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2}} \frac{(12m_{\rm DM}^4 - 4m_{\rm DM}^4 S + S^2) (12m_W^4 - 4m_W^4 S + S^2)}{(S - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2 \Gamma_\sigma^2} \end{aligned}$

$$\underset{v_{\rm rel}\ll 1}{\longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\rm DM}\sqrt{m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_W^2}}{6\pi(Zf)^4} \frac{3m_W^4 + 4m_{\rm DM}^4 - 4m_{\rm DM}^2m_W^2}{(4m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_\sigma^2)^2 + m_\sigma^2\Gamma_\sigma^2} \tag{E.42}$$

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM}\ggm_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{24\pi (Zf)^4}.$$
(E.43)

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma v_{\rm rel}({\rm DMDM} \to \sigma \sigma) \\ &= v_{\rm rel}(12m_{\rm DM}^4 - 4m_{\rm DM}^2S + S^2) \left[16m_{\rm DM}^2(m_{\sigma}^4 - 4m_{\sigma}^2m_{\rm DM}^2 + m_{\rm DM}^2S) \times \right] \\ &\left[\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\sigma}^2(S - 2(m_{\sigma}^2 + m_{\rm DM}^2)) + (m_{\sigma}^2 - S) \left(8m_{\sigma}^4 - 2m_{\sigma}^2(m_{\rm DM}^2 + S) + S(2m_{\rm DM}^2 - S) \right) \right] {\rm ArcCoth} \left(\frac{2m_{\sigma}^2 - S}{\sqrt{(S - 4m_{\sigma}^2)(S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2)}} \right) \\ &- (2m_{\sigma}^2 - S) \sqrt{(S - 4m_{\sigma}^2)(S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2)} \left[16m_{\sigma}^8 + m_{\sigma}^6(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 - 64m_{\rm DM}^2 + 8S) + m_{\sigma}^4(8m_{\rm DM}^4 - 4m_{\rm DM}^2(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 + 4S) + S^2) + m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\chi}^2(8m_{\chi}^2(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 - 2S) + S(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 + 4S)) \\ &+ m_{\chi}^2 S^2(8m_{\chi}^2 + S) \right] \right] / \left[288\pi(Zf)^4 S(S - 2m_{\sigma}^2)(S - 4m_{\rm DM}^2) \times \right] \\ &(m_{\sigma}^4 - 4m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 + m_{\chi}^2 S)(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\sigma}^2 + (S - m_{\sigma}^2)^2) \right] \\ &(E.44) \\ \xrightarrow{v_{\rm rel} \ll 1} \frac{m_{\rm DM} \sqrt{m_{\rm DM}^2 - m_{\sigma}^2} \left(\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\sigma}^2(m_{\sigma}^2 + 2m_{\rm DM}^2)^2 + 16(m_{\sigma}^4 - 2m_{\sigma}^2 m_{\rm DM}^2 + 2m_{\rm DM}^4)^2 \right)}{48\pi(Zf)^4 (m_{\sigma}^2 - 2m_{\rm DM}^2)^2 (\Gamma_{\sigma}^2 m_{\sigma}^2 + (m_{\sigma}^2 - 4m_{\rm DM}^2)^2)} \end{aligned}$$

$$\underset{m_{\rm DM}\gg\bar{m}_{\rm other}}{\Longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{48\pi(Zf)^4}.$$
(E.46)

F Direct-detection cross-sections

We compute the DM-nucleon scattering cross-section for fermion, scalar and vector DM resonance. The constants y_n and c_n are defined in eq. (3.31) and eq. (3.41), respectively.

F.1 Fermion

$$\sigma(\mathrm{DM}n \to \mathrm{DM}n) = \frac{y_n^2}{2\pi} \left(\frac{m_n m_{\mathrm{DM}}}{m_n + m_{\mathrm{DM}}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{m_{\mathrm{DM}}}{Zf}\right)^2 \frac{1}{m_{\sigma}^4}.$$
 (F.1)

F.2 Vector

$$\sigma(\mathrm{DM}n \to \mathrm{DM}n) = \frac{3y_n^2}{2\pi} \left(\frac{m_n m_{\mathrm{DM}}}{m_n + m_{\mathrm{DM}}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{m_{\mathrm{DM}}}{Zf}\right)^2 \frac{1}{m_{\sigma}^4}.$$
 (F.2)

F.3 Scalar

$$\sigma(\mathrm{DM}n \to \mathrm{DM}n) = \frac{y_n^2}{\pi} \left(\frac{m_n m_{\mathrm{DM}}}{m_n + m_{\mathrm{DM}}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{m_{\mathrm{DM}}}{Zf}\right)^2 \frac{1}{m_{\sigma}^4}.$$
 (F.3)

F.4 pNGB

$$\sigma(\mathrm{DMn} \to \mathrm{DMn}) \simeq \begin{cases} \frac{y_n^2}{\pi} \left(\frac{m_n m_{\mathrm{DM}}}{m_n + m_{\mathrm{DM}}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{m_{\mathrm{DM}}}{Zf}\right)^2 \frac{1}{m_{\sigma}^4} & \text{bottom-breaking}, \\ \frac{c_n^2}{\pi} \left(\frac{m_n}{m_n + m_{\mathrm{DM}}}\right)^2 & \text{top-breaking}, \end{cases}$$
(F.4)

$$\sigma(\text{DMn} \to \text{DMn}) \simeq \frac{y_n^2}{\pi} \left(\frac{m_n m_{\text{DM}}}{m_n + m_{\text{DM}}}\right)^2 \left(\frac{m_{\text{DM}}}{Zf}\right)^2 \frac{1}{m_\sigma^4} + \frac{c_n^2}{\pi} \left(\frac{m_n}{m_n + m_{\text{DM}}}\right)^2.$$
(F.5)

G Dilaton decay width

We compute the dilaton decay width into SM. The decay width $\Gamma(\sigma \rightarrow hh)$ is different from [47] due to the coupling of the dilaton to the Higgs kinetic mixing in eq. (3.11), needed in order to respect the Goldstone equivalence theorem

$$\Gamma(\sigma \to hh) \underset{m_{\sigma} \gg m_Z}{\sim} \Gamma(\sigma \to ZZ).$$
 (G.1)

G.1 Into WW and ZZ

$$\Gamma(\sigma \to WW) = \frac{m_W^4}{4\pi m_\sigma (Zf)^2} \sqrt{1 - 4\frac{m_W^2}{m_\sigma^2}} \left(2 + \frac{(m_\sigma^2 - 2m_W^2)^2}{4m_W^4}\right)$$
(G.2)

$$\underset{m_{\sigma} \gg m_{W}}{\Longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{3}}{16\pi (Zf)^{2}}.$$
 (G.3)

$$\Gamma(\sigma \to ZZ) = \frac{m_Z^4}{8\pi m_\sigma (Zf)^2} \sqrt{1 - 4\frac{m_Z^2}{m_\sigma^2}} \left(2 + \frac{(m_\sigma^2 - 2m_Z^2)^2}{4m_Z^4}\right)$$
(G.4)

$$\underset{m_{\sigma} \gg m_Z}{\longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\sigma}^3}{32\pi (Zf)^2}.$$
 (G.5)

G.2 Into Higgs

$$\Gamma(\sigma \to hh) = \frac{m_{\sigma}^3}{32\pi (Zf)^2} \left(1 - 4\frac{m_h^2}{m_{\sigma}^2}\right)^{1/2} \left(1 + 2\frac{m_h^2}{m_{\sigma}^2}\right)^2$$
(G.6)

$$\underset{m_{\sigma} \gg m_{h}}{\longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{*}}{32\pi (Zf)^{2}}.$$
(G.7)

G.3 Into fermions

$$\Gamma(\sigma \to ff) = N_c \frac{m_\sigma m_f^2}{8\pi (Zf)^2} \left(1 - 4\frac{m_f^2}{m_\sigma^2}\right)^{3/2}.$$
 (G.8)

G.4 Into pNGB DM

$$\Gamma(\sigma \to \eta \eta) = \frac{m_{\sigma}^3}{32\pi (Zf)^2} \left(1 - 4\frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{m_{\sigma}^2}\right)^{1/2} \left(1 + 2\frac{m_{\rm DM}^2}{m_{\sigma}^2}\right)^2 \tag{G.9}$$

$$\underset{m_{\sigma} \gg m_{\rm DM}}{\Longrightarrow} \frac{m_{\sigma}^{3}}{32\pi (Zf)^{2}}.$$
 (G.10)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- [1] CTA CONSORTIUM collaboration, Science with the Cherenkov Telescope Array, World Scientific, Singapore (2018) [DOI] [arXiv:1709.07997] [INSPIRE].
- [2] LHAASO collaboration, The Large High Altitude Air Shower Observatory (LHAASO) Science Book (2021 Edition), Chin. Phys. C 46 (2022) 035001 [arXiv:1905.02773]
 [INSPIRE].
- [3] https://www.km3net.org/.
- [4] LUX-ZEPLIN collaboration, Projected WIMP sensitivity of the LUX-ZEPLIN dark matter experiment, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 052002 [arXiv:1802.06039] [INSPIRE].
- [5] DARWIN collaboration, DARWIN: towards the ultimate dark matter detector, JCAP 11 (2016) 017 [arXiv:1606.07001] [INSPIRE].
- [6] LISA collaboration, Laser Interferometer Space Antenna, arXiv:1702.00786 [INSPIRE].
- S. Kawamura et al., Current status of space gravitational wave antenna DECIGO and B-DECIGO, PTEP 2021 (2021) 05A105 [arXiv:2006.13545] [INSPIRE].
- [8] M. Maggiore et al., Science Case for the Einstein Telescope, JCAP 03 (2020) 050 [arXiv:1912.02622] [INSPIRE].
- [9] O. Antipin, M. Redi, A. Strumia and E. Vigiani, Accidental Composite Dark Matter, JHEP 07 (2015) 039 [arXiv:1503.08749] [INSPIRE].
- [10] V.A. Rubakov, Grand unification and heavy axion, JETP Lett. 65 (1997) 621 [hep-ph/9703409] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M. Redi and R. Sato, Composite Accidental Axions, JHEP 05 (2016) 104
 [arXiv:1602.05427] [INSPIRE].
- R. Contino, The Higgs as a Composite Nambu-Goldstone Boson, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: Physics of the Large and the Small, pp. 235–306 (2011) [DOI] [arXiv:1005.4269] [INSPIRE].

- [13] G. Panico and A. Wulzer, The Composite Nambu-Goldstone Higgs, Lect. Notes Phys. 913 (2016) 1 [arXiv:1506.01961] [INSPIRE].
- [14] Z. Chacko, H.-S. Goh and R. Harnik, The Twin Higgs: Natural electroweak breaking from mirror symmetry, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 231802 [hep-ph/0506256] [INSPIRE].
- [15] M. Geller and O. Telem, *Holographic Twin Higgs Model*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **114** (2015) 191801
 [arXiv:1411.2974] [INSPIRE].
- [16] R. Barbieri, D. Greco, R. Rattazzi and A. Wulzer, The Composite Twin Higgs scenario, JHEP 08 (2015) 161 [arXiv:1501.07803] [INSPIRE].
- [17] M. Low, A. Tesi and L.-T. Wang, Twin Higgs mechanism and a composite Higgs boson, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 095012 [arXiv:1501.07890] [INSPIRE].
- [18] P.W. Graham, D.E. Kaplan and S. Rajendran, Cosmological Relaxation of the Electroweak Scale, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 221801 [arXiv:1504.07551] [INSPIRE].
- [19] B. Batell, M.A. Fedderke and L.-T. Wang, Relaxation of the Composite Higgs Little Hierarchy, JHEP 12 (2017) 139 [arXiv:1705.09666] [INSPIRE].
- [20] E. Witten, Dynamical Breaking of Supersymmetry, Nucl. Phys. B 188 (1981) 513 [INSPIRE].
- [21] Y. Shadmi and Y. Shirman, Dynamical supersymmetry breaking, Rev. Mod. Phys. 72 (2000)
 25 [hep-th/9907225] [INSPIRE].
- [22] P. Carruthers, Broken scale invariance, Phys. Rev. D 2 (1970) 2265 [INSPIRE].
- [23] E.W. Kolb and S. Wolfram, Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking and the Expansion Rate of the Early Universe, Astrophys. J. 239 (1980) 428 [INSPIRE].
- [24] P. Creminelli, A. Nicolis and R. Rattazzi, Holography and the electroweak phase transition, JHEP 03 (2002) 051 [hep-th/0107141] [INSPIRE].
- [25] L. Randall and G. Servant, Gravitational waves from warped spacetime, JHEP 05 (2007) 054 [hep-ph/0607158] [INSPIRE].
- [26] G. Nardini, M. Quirós and A. Wulzer, A Confining Strong First-Order Electroweak Phase Transition, JHEP 09 (2007) 077 [arXiv:0706.3388] [INSPIRE].
- [27] B. Hassanain, J. March-Russell and M. Schvellinger, Warped Deformed Throats have Faster (Electroweak) Phase Transitions, JHEP 10 (2007) 089 [arXiv:0708.2060] [INSPIRE].
- [28] T. Konstandin, G. Nardini and M. Quirós, Gravitational Backreaction Effects on the Holographic Phase Transition, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 083513 [arXiv:1007.1468] [INSPIRE].
- [29] T. Konstandin and G. Servant, Cosmological Consequences of Nearly Conformal Dynamics at the TeV scale, JCAP 12 (2011) 009 [arXiv:1104.4791] [INSPIRE].
- [30] B. von Harling and G. Servant, QCD-induced Electroweak Phase Transition, JHEP 01 (2018) 159 [arXiv:1711.11554] [INSPIRE].
- [31] K. Fujikura, Y. Nakai and M. Yamada, A more attractive scheme for radion stabilization and supercooled phase transition, JHEP 02 (2020) 111 [arXiv:1910.07546] [INSPIRE].
- [32] D. Bunk, J. Hubisz and B. Jain, A Perturbative RS I Cosmological Phase Transition, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 78 [arXiv:1705.00001] [INSPIRE].
- [33] B.M. Dillon, B.K. El-Menoufi, S.J. Huber and J.P. Manuel, Rapid holographic phase transition with brane-localized curvature, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 086005
 [arXiv:1708.02953] [INSPIRE].

- [34] E. Megías, G. Nardini and M. Quirós, Cosmological Phase Transitions in Warped Space: Gravitational Waves and Collider Signatures, JHEP 09 (2018) 095 [arXiv:1806.04877]
 [INSPIRE].
- [35] E. Megías, G. Nardini and M. Quirós, Gravitational Imprints from Heavy Kaluza-Klein Resonances, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 055004 [arXiv:2005.04127] [INSPIRE].
- [36] K. Agashe, P. Du, M. Ekhterachian, S. Kumar and R. Sundrum, Phase Transitions from the Fifth Dimension, JHEP 02 (2021) 051 [arXiv:2010.04083] [INSPIRE].
- [37] S. ArunaSalam, A. Kobakhidze, C. Lagger, S. Liang and A. Zhou, Low temperature electroweak phase transition in the Standard Model with hidden scale invariance, Phys. Lett. B 776 (2018) 48 [arXiv:1709.10322] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S. Bruggisser, B. Von Harling, O. Matsedonskyi and G. Servant, *Baryon Asymmetry from a Composite Higgs Boson*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **121** (2018) 131801 [arXiv:1803.08546] [INSPIRE].
- [39] S. Bruggisser, B. Von Harling, O. Matsedonskyi and G. Servant, *Electroweak Phase Transition and Baryogenesis in Composite Higgs Models*, *JHEP* 12 (2018) 099
 [arXiv:1804.07314] [INSPIRE].
- [40] P. Baratella, A. Pomarol and F. Rompineve, The Supercooled Universe, JHEP 03 (2019) 100 [arXiv:1812.06996] [INSPIRE].
- [41] K. Agashe, P. Du, M. Ekhterachian, S. Kumar and R. Sundrum, Cosmological Phase Transition of Spontaneous Confinement, JHEP 05 (2020) 086 [arXiv:1910.06238] [INSPIRE].
- [42] L. Delle Rose, G. Panico, M. Redi and A. Tesi, Gravitational Waves from Supercool Axions, JHEP 04 (2020) 025 [arXiv:1912.06139] [INSPIRE].
- [43] B. Von Harling, A. Pomarol, O. Pujolàs and F. Rompineve, Peccei-Quinn Phase Transition at LIGO, JHEP 04 (2020) 195 [arXiv:1912.07587] [INSPIRE].
- [44] I.M. Bloch, C. Csáki, M. Geller and T. Volansky, Crunching away the cosmological constant problem: dynamical selection of a small Λ, JHEP 12 (2020) 191 [arXiv:1912.08840]
 [INSPIRE].
- [45] I. Baldes, Y. Gouttenoire and F. Sala, String Fragmentation in Supercooled Confinement and Implications for Dark Matter, JHEP 04 (2021) 278 [arXiv:2007.08440] [INSPIRE].
- [46] Y. Bai, M. Carena and J. Lykken, Dilaton-assisted Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 103 (2009) 261803 [arXiv:0909.1319] [INSPIRE].
- [47] K. Blum, M. Cliche, C. Csáki and S.J. Lee, WIMP Dark Matter through the Dilaton Portal, JHEP 03 (2015) 099 [arXiv:1410.1873] [INSPIRE].
- [48] A. Efrati, E. Kuflik, S. Nussinov, Y. Soreq and T. Volansky, Constraining the Higgs-Dilaton with LHC and Dark Matter Searches, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 055034 [arXiv:1410.2225] [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Kim, S.J. Lee and A. Parolini, WIMP Dark Matter in Composite Higgs Models and the Dilaton Portal, arXiv:1602.05590 [INSPIRE].
- [50] B. Fuks, M.D. Goodsell, D.W. Kang, P. Ko, S.J. Lee and M. Utsch, *Heavy dark matter through the dilaton portal*, *JHEP* 10 (2020) 044 [arXiv:2007.08546] [INSPIRE].
- [51] R. Contino, A. Pomarol and R. Rattazzi, *The naturally light dilaton or how to break dilations spontaneously and naturally*, unpublished work, https://indico.cern.ch/event/75810/contributions/1250635/attachments/1050757/1498158/Rattazzi.pdf.

- [52] T. Appelquist and Y. Bai, A Light Dilaton in Walking Gauge Theories, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 071701 [arXiv:1006.4375] [INSPIRE].
- [53] B. Bellazzini, C. Csáki, J. Hubisz, J. Serra and J. Terning, A Naturally Light Dilaton and a Small Cosmological Constant, Eur. Phys. J. C 74 (2014) 2790 [arXiv:1305.3919] [INSPIRE].
- [54] F. Coradeschi, P. Lodone, D. Pappadopulo, R. Rattazzi and L. Vitale, A naturally light dilaton, JHEP 11 (2013) 057 [arXiv:1306.4601] [INSPIRE].
- [55] Z. Chacko, R.K. Mishra and D. Stolarski, Dynamics of a Stabilized Radion and Duality, JHEP 09 (2013) 121 [arXiv:1304.1795] [INSPIRE].
- [56] E. Megías and O. Pujolàs, Naturally light dilatons from nearly marginal deformations, JHEP 08 (2014) 081 [arXiv:1401.4998] [INSPIRE].
- [57] E. Megías, G. Panico, O. Pujolàs and M. Quirós, Light dilatons in warped space: Higgs boson and LHCb anomalies, Nucl. Part. Phys. Proc. 282-284 (2017) 194 [arXiv:1609.01881]
 [INSPIRE].
- [58] V. Gorbenko, S. Rychkov and B. Zan, Walking, Weak first-order transitions, and Complex CFTs, JHEP 10 (2018) 108 [arXiv:1807.11512] [INSPIRE].
- [59] LATTICE STRONG DYNAMICS collaboration, Nonperturbative investigations of SU(3) gauge theory with eight dynamical flavors, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 014509 [arXiv:1807.08411] [INSPIRE].
- [60] Z. Fodor, K. Holland, J. Kuti and C.H. Wong, Tantalizing dilaton tests from a near-conformal EFT, PoS LATTICE2018 (2019) 196 [arXiv:1901.06324] [INSPIRE].
- [61] Z. Fodor, K. Holland, J. Kuti and C.H. Wong, *Dilaton EFT from p-regime to RMT in the* ϵ -regime, *PoS* LATTICE2019 (2020) 246 [arXiv:2002.05163] [INSPIRE].
- [62] T. Appelquist, J. Ingoldby and M. Piai, Dilaton EFT Framework For Lattice Data, JHEP 07 (2017) 035 [arXiv:1702.04410] [INSPIRE].
- [63] T. Appelquist, J. Ingoldby and M. Piai, Analysis of a Dilaton EFT for Lattice Data, JHEP
 03 (2018) 039 [arXiv:1711.00067] [INSPIRE].
- [64] T. Appelquist, J. Ingoldby and M. Piai, Nearly Conformal Composite Higgs Model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 191804 [arXiv:2012.09698] [INSPIRE].
- [65] R. Rattazzi, Cargese lectures on extra-dimensions, in Cargese School of Particle Physics and Cosmology: the Interface, pp. 461–517 (2003) [hep-ph/0607055] [INSPIRE].
- [66] B. Bellazzini, C. Csáki, J. Hubisz, J. Serra and J. Terning, A Higgslike Dilaton, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2333 [arXiv:1209.3299] [INSPIRE].
- [67] W.D. Goldberger, B. Grinstein and W. Skiba, Distinguishing the Higgs boson from the dilaton at the Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100 (2008) 111802 [arXiv:0708.1463] [INSPIRE].
- [68] S.R. Coleman and E.J. Weinberg, Radiative Corrections as the Origin of Spontaneous Symmetry Breaking, Phys. Rev. D 7 (1973) 1888 [INSPIRE].
- [69] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253
 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [70] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space, thermal phase transition, and confinement in gauge theories, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 505 [hep-th/9803131] [INSPIRE].

- S.R. Coleman, The Fate of the False Vacuum. 1. Semiclassical Theory, Phys. Rev. D 15 (1977) 2929 [Erratum ibid. 16 (1977) 1248] [INSPIRE].
- [72] C.G. Callan, Jr. and S.R. Coleman, The Fate of the False Vacuum. 2. First Quantum Corrections, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 1762 [INSPIRE].
- [73] A.D. Linde, Fate of the False Vacuum at Finite Temperature: Theory and Applications, Phys. Lett. B 100 (1981) 37 [INSPIRE].
- [74] A.D. Linde, Decay of the False Vacuum at Finite Temperature, Nucl. Phys. B 216 (1983) 421
 [Erratum ibid. 223 (1983) 544] [INSPIRE].
- [75] S. Coleman, Aspects of Symmetry: Selected Erice Lectures, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. (1985) [DOI] [INSPIRE].
- [76] E. Witten, Cosmological Consequences of a Light Higgs Boson, Nucl. Phys. B 177 (1981) 477
 [INSPIRE].
- [77] S. Iso, P.D. Serpico and K. Shimada, QCD-Electroweak First-Order Phase Transition in a Supercooled Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 119 (2017) 141301 [arXiv:1704.04955] [INSPIRE].
- [78] T. Konstandin and G. Servant, Natural Cold Baryogenesis from Strongly Interacting Electroweak Symmetry Breaking, JCAP 07 (2011) 024 [arXiv:1104.4793] [INSPIRE].
- [79] G. Servant, Baryogenesis from Strong CP Violation and the QCD Axion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 171803 [arXiv:1407.0030] [INSPIRE].
- [80] G.D. Kribs and E.T. Neil, Review of strongly-coupled composite dark matter models and lattice simulations, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A **31** (2016) 1643004 [arXiv:1604.04627] [INSPIRE].
- [81] Z. Chacko and R.K. Mishra, Effective Theory of a Light Dilaton, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 115006 [arXiv:1209.3022] [INSPIRE].
- [82] B. Gripaios, A. Pomarol, F. Riva and J. Serra, Beyond the Minimal Composite Higgs Model, JHEP 04 (2009) 070 [arXiv:0902.1483] [INSPIRE].
- [83] M. Frigerio, A. Pomarol, F. Riva and A. Urbano, Composite Scalar Dark Matter, JHEP 07 (2012) 015 [arXiv:1204.2808] [INSPIRE].
- [84] D. Marzocca and A. Urbano, Composite Dark Matter and LHC Interplay, JHEP 07 (2014) 107 [arXiv:1404.7419] [INSPIRE].
- [85] R. Balkin, M. Ruhdorfer, E. Salvioni and A. Weiler, Charged Composite Scalar Dark Matter, JHEP 11 (2017) 094 [arXiv:1707.07685] [INSPIRE].
- [86] R. Balkin, M. Ruhdorfer, E. Salvioni and A. Weiler, Dark matter shifts away from direct detection, JCAP 11 (2018) 050 [arXiv:1809.09106] [INSPIRE].
- [87] L. Da Rold and A.N. Rossia, The Minimal Simple Composite Higgs Model, JHEP 12 (2019) 023 [arXiv:1904.02560] [INSPIRE].
- [88] N. Fonseca, R. Zukanovich Funchal, A. Lessa and L. Lopez-Honorez, Dark Matter Constraints on Composite Higgs Models, JHEP 06 (2015) 154 [arXiv:1501.05957] [INSPIRE].
- [89] S. Bruggisser, F. Riva and A. Urbano, Strongly Interacting Light Dark Matter, SciPost Phys.
 3 (2017) 017 [arXiv:1607.02474] [INSPIRE].
- [90] M. Chala, R. Gröber and M. Spannowsky, Searches for vector-like quarks at future colliders and implications for composite Higgs models with dark matter, JHEP 03 (2018) 040 [arXiv:1801.06537] [INSPIRE].
- [91] M. Ramos, Composite dark matter phenomenology in the presence of lighter degrees of freedom, JHEP 07 (2020) 128 [arXiv:1912.11061] [INSPIRE].
- [92] G. Ballesteros, A. Carmona and M. Chala, Exceptional Composite Dark Matter, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 468 [arXiv:1704.07388] [INSPIRE].
- [93] Y. Wu, T. Ma, B. Zhang and G. Cacciapaglia, Composite Dark Matter and Higgs, JHEP 11 (2017) 058 [arXiv:1703.06903] [INSPIRE].
- [94] G. Cacciapaglia, T. Ma, S. Vatani and Y. Wu, Towards a fundamental safe theory of composite Higgs and Dark Matter, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 1088 [arXiv:1812.04005] [INSPIRE].
- [95] A. Carmona and M. Chala, Composite Dark Sectors, JHEP 06 (2015) 105 [arXiv:1504.00332] [INSPIRE].
- [96] R. Balkin, G. Perez and A. Weiler, Little composite dark matter, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 104 [arXiv:1707.09980] [INSPIRE].
- [97] T. Alanne, D. Buarque Franzosi, M.T. Frandsen and M. Rosenlyst, Dark matter in (partially) composite Higgs models, JHEP 12 (2018) 088 [arXiv:1808.07515] [INSPIRE].
- [98] G. Cacciapaglia, H. Cai, A. Deandrea and A. Kushwaha, Composite Higgs and Dark Matter Model in SU(6)/SO(6), JHEP 10 (2019) 035 [arXiv:1904.09301] [INSPIRE].
- [99] J. Mrazek, A. Pomarol, R. Rattazzi, M. Redi, J. Serra and A. Wulzer, The Other Natural Two Higgs Doublet Model, Nucl. Phys. B 853 (2011) 1 [arXiv:1105.5403] [INSPIRE].
- [100] S. De Curtis, L. Delle Rose, S. Moretti and K. Yagyu, Supersymmetry versus Compositeness: 2HDMs tell the story, Phys. Lett. B 786 (2018) 189 [arXiv:1803.01865] [INSPIRE].
- [101] S. De Curtis, L. Delle Rose, S. Moretti and K. Yagyu, A Concrete Composite 2-Higgs Doublet Model, JHEP 12 (2018) 051 [arXiv:1810.06465] [INSPIRE].
- [102] A. Davoli, A. De Simone, D. Marzocca and A. Morandini, Composite 2HDM with singlets: a viable dark matter scenario, JHEP 10 (2019) 196 [arXiv:1905.13244] [INSPIRE].
- [103] B. Bellazzini, C. Csáki and J. Serra, Composite Higgses, Eur. Phys. J. C 74 (2014) 2766 [arXiv:1401.2457] [INSPIRE].
- [104] N. Fonseca, E. Morgante, R. Sato and G. Servant, Relaxion Fluctuations (Self-stopping Relaxion) and Overview of Relaxion Stopping Mechanisms, JHEP 05 (2020) 080 [Erratum ibid. 01 (2021) 012] [arXiv:1911.08473] [INSPIRE].
- [105] N. Fonseca, E. Morgante, R. Sato and G. Servant, Axion fragmentation, JHEP 04 (2020) 010 [arXiv:1911.08472] [INSPIRE].
- [106] E. Morgante, W. Ratzinger, R. Sato and B.A. Stefanek, Axion fragmentation on the lattice, JHEP 12 (2021) 037 [arXiv:2109.13823] [INSPIRE].
- [107] C. Csáki, J. Hubisz and S.J. Lee, Radion phenomenology in realistic warped space models, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 125015 [arXiv:0705.3844] [INSPIRE].
- [108] M.E. Peskin and D.V. Schroeder, An Introduction to quantum field theory, Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA, U.S.A. (1995).
- [109] M.S. Chanowitz and M.K. Gaillard, The TeV Physics of Strongly Interacting W's and Z's, Nucl. Phys. B 261 (1985) 379 [INSPIRE].

- [110] W.E. Caswell, Asymptotic Behavior of Nonabelian Gauge Theories to Two Loop Order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 33 (1974) 244 [INSPIRE].
- [111] D.B. Kaplan, Flavor at SSC energies: A New mechanism for dynamically generated fermion masses, Nucl. Phys. B 365 (1991) 259 [INSPIRE].
- [112] R. Contino and A. Pomarol, Holography for fermions, JHEP 11 (2004) 058 [hep-th/0406257] [INSPIRE].
- [113] R. Contino, T. Kramer, M. Son and R. Sundrum, Warped/composite phenomenology simplified, JHEP 05 (2007) 074 [hep-ph/0612180] [INSPIRE].
- [114] K. Petraki, M. Postma and M. Wiechers, Dark-matter bound states from Feynman diagrams, JHEP 06 (2015) 128 [arXiv:1505.00109] [INSPIRE].
- [115] S. Cassel, Sommerfeld factor for arbitrary partial wave processes, J. Phys. G 37 (2010) 105009 [arXiv:0903.5307] [INSPIRE].
- [116] T.R. Slatyer, The Sommerfeld enhancement for dark matter with an excited state, JCAP 02 (2010) 028 [arXiv:0910.5713] [INSPIRE].
- [117] K. Petraki, M. Postma and J. de Vries, Radiative bound-state-formation cross-sections for dark matter interacting via a Yukawa potential, JHEP 04 (2017) 077 [arXiv:1611.01394]
 [INSPIRE].
- [118] R. Oncala and K. Petraki, Dark matter bound states via emission of scalar mediators, JHEP
 01 (2019) 070 [arXiv:1808.04854] [INSPIRE].
- [119] R. Oncala and K. Petraki, Dark matter bound state formation via emission of a charged scalar, JHEP 02 (2020) 036 [arXiv:1911.02605] [INSPIRE].
- [120] I. Baldes and K. Petraki, Asymmetric thermal-relic dark matter: Sommerfeld-enhanced freeze-out, annihilation signals and unitarity bounds, JCAP 09 (2017) 028 [arXiv:1703.00478] [INSPIRE].
- [121] K. Griest and M. Kamionkowski, Unitarity Limits on the Mass and Radius of Dark Matter Particles, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64 (1990) 615 [INSPIRE].
- [122] B. von Harling and K. Petraki, Bound-state formation for thermal relic dark matter and unitarity, JCAP 12 (2014) 033 [arXiv:1407.7874] [INSPIRE].
- [123] J. Smirnov and J.F. Beacom, TeV-Scale Thermal WIMPs: Unitarity and its Consequences, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 043029 [arXiv:1904.11503] [INSPIRE].
- [124] M. Cirelli, P. Panci, K. Petraki, F. Sala and M. Taoso, Dark Matter's secret liaisons: phenomenology of a dark U(1) sector with bound states, JCAP 05 (2017) 036 [arXiv:1612.07295] [INSPIRE].
- [125] J.D. Lewin and P.F. Smith, Review of mathematics, numerical factors, and corrections for dark matter experiments based on elastic nuclear recoil, Astropart. Phys. 6 (1996) 87
 [INSPIRE].
- [126] H.E.S.S. collaboration, Search for dark matter annihilations towards the inner Galactic halo from 10 years of observations with H.E.S.S, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 111301
 [arXiv:1607.08142] [INSPIRE].
- [127] S. Profumo, F.S. Queiroz, J. Silk and C. Siqueira, Searching for Secluded Dark Matter with H.E.S.S., Fermi-LAT, and Planck, JCAP 03 (2018) 010 [arXiv:1711.03133] [INSPIRE].

- M. Cirelli, Y. Gouttenoire, K. Petraki and F. Sala, Homeopathic Dark Matter, or how diluted heavy substances produce high energy cosmic rays, JCAP 02 (2019) 014 [arXiv:1811.03608]
 [INSPIRE].
- [129] FERMI-LAT collaboration, Searching for Dark Matter Annihilation from Milky Way Dwarf Spheroidal Galaxies with Six Years of Fermi Large Area Telescope Data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 231301 [arXiv:1503.02641] [INSPIRE].
- [130] G. Giesen, M. Boudaud, Y. Génolini, V. Poulin, M. Cirelli, P. Salati et al., AMS-02 antiprotons, at last! Secondary astrophysical component and immediate implications for Dark Matter, JCAP 09 (2015) 023 [arXiv:1504.04276] [INSPIRE].
- [131] AMS collaboration, Antiproton Flux, Antiproton-to-Proton Flux Ratio, and Properties of Elementary Particle Fluxes in Primary Cosmic Rays Measured with the Alpha Magnetic Spectrometer on the International Space Station, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 091103
 [INSPIRE].
- [132] CTA collaboration, Sensitivity of the Cherenkov Telescope Array to a dark matter signal from the Galactic centre, JCAP 01 (2021) 057 [arXiv:2007.16129] [INSPIRE].
- [133] KM3NET and ANTARES collaborations, Searches for dark matter with the ANTARES and KM3NeT neutrino telescopes, PoS ICRC2019 (2020) 552 [INSPIRE].
- [134] V. Lefranc, E. Moulin, P. Panci, F. Sala and J. Silk, Dark Matter in γ lines: Galactic Center vs dwarf galaxies, JCAP 09 (2016) 043 [arXiv:1608.00786] [INSPIRE].
- [135] J. Ellis, N. Nagata and K.A. Olive, Uncertainties in WIMP Dark Matter Scattering Revisited, Eur. Phys. J. C 78 (2018) 569 [arXiv:1805.09795] [INSPIRE].
- [136] M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein and V.I. Zakharov, Remarks on Higgs Boson Interactions with Nucleons, Phys. Lett. B 78 (1978) 443 [INSPIRE].
- [137] G. Jungman, M. Kamionkowski and K. Griest, Supersymmetric dark matter, Phys. Rept. 267 (1996) 195 [hep-ph/9506380] [INSPIRE].
- [138] XENON collaboration, Dark Matter Search Results from a One Ton-Year Exposure of XENON1T, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 111302 [arXiv:1805.12562] [INSPIRE].
- [139] CMS collaboration, Combined Higgs boson production and decay measurements with up to 137 fb^{-1} of proton-proton collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV. CMS-PAS-HIG-19-005 (2020).
- [140] ATLAS collaboration, A combination of measurements of Higgs boson production and decay using up to 139 fb⁻¹ of proton-proton collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 13$ TeV collected with the ATLAS experiment, ATLAS-CONF-2020-027 (2020).
- [141] M. Cepeda et al., Report from Working Group 2: Higgs Physics at the HL-LHC and HE-LHC, CERN Yellow Rep. Monogr. 7 (2019) 221 [arXiv:1902.00134] [INSPIRE].
- [142] O. Matsedonskyi, G. Panico and A. Wulzer, Top Partners Searches and Composite Higgs Models, JHEP 04 (2016) 003 [arXiv:1512.04356] [INSPIRE].
- [143] A. Ahmed, A. Mariotti and S. Najjari, A light dilaton at the LHC, JHEP 05 (2020) 093 [arXiv:1912.06645] [INSPIRE].
- [144] E.W. Kolb and M.S. Turner, The Early Universe, Front. Phys. 69 (1990) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [145] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, Review of Particle Physics, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 030001 [INSPIRE].

- [146] C. Wainwright and S. Profumo, The Impact of a strongly first-order phase transition on the abundance of thermal relics, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 103517 [arXiv:0909.1317] [INSPIRE].
- [147] T. Hambye, A. Strumia and D. Teresi, Super-cool Dark Matter, JHEP 08 (2018) 188
 [arXiv:1805.01473] [INSPIRE].
- [148] C.B. Thorn, Asymptotic Freedom in the Infinite Momentum Frame, Phys. Rev. D 20 (1979) 1934 [INSPIRE].
- [149] J. Greensite, Monte Carlo Evidence for the Gluon Chain Model of QCD String Formation, Nucl. Phys. B 315 (1989) 663 [INSPIRE].
- [150] G.I. Poulis, Abelian dominance and adjoint sources in lattice QCD, Phys. Rev. D 54 (1996)
 6974 [hep-lat/9601013] [INSPIRE].
- [151] Y.-K. Ko, Derivation of a quark confinement potential from QCD, nucl-th/9901025 [INSPIRE].
- [152] J. Greensite and C.B. Thorn, Gluon chain model of the confining force, JHEP 02 (2002) 014
 [hep-ph/0112326] [INSPIRE].
- [153] K. Bardakci and C.B. Thorn, A Mean field approximation to the world sheet model of planar phi**3 field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 652 (2003) 196 [hep-th/0206205] [INSPIRE].
- [154] J. Greensite and Š. Olejník, Coulomb energy, vortices, and confinement, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 094503 [hep-lat/0302018] [INSPIRE].
- [155] J. Greensite, The Confinement problem in lattice gauge theory, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 51 (2003) 1 [hep-lat/0301023] [INSPIRE].
- [156] A.P. Trawiński, S.D. Głazek, S.J. Brodsky, G.F. de Téramond and H.G. Dosch, Effective confining potentials for QCD, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 074017 [arXiv:1403.5651] [INSPIRE].
- [157] J.F. Grosse-Oetringhaus and K. Reygers, Charged-Particle Multiplicity in Proton-Proton Collisions, J. Phys. G 37 (2010) 083001 [arXiv:0912.0023] [INSPIRE].
- [158] A. Kumar, B.K. Singh, P.K. Srivastava and C.P. Singh, Wounded Quarks and Multiplicity at Relativistic Ion Colliders, Eur. Phys. J. Plus 128 (2013) 45 [arXiv:1210.1323] [INSPIRE].
- [159] PLANCK collaboration, Planck 2018 results. VI. Cosmological parameters, Astron. Astrophys.
 641 (2020) A6 [Erratum ibid. 652 (2021) C4] [arXiv:1807.06209] [INSPIRE].
- [160] SWGO collaboration, A next-generation ground-based wide field-of-view gamma-ray observatory in the southern hemisphere, PoS ICRC2019 (2020) 785 [arXiv:1908.08858]
 [INSPIRE].
- [161] A. Viana, H. Schoorlemmer, A. Albert, V. de Souza, J.P. Harding and J. Hinton, Searching for Dark Matter in the Galactic Halo with a Wide Field of View TeV Gamma-ray Observatory in the Southern Hemisphere, JCAP 12 (2019) 061 [arXiv:1906.03353] [INSPIRE].
- [162] R. Jinno and M. Takimoto, Probing a classically conformal B-L model with gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 015020 [arXiv:1604.05035] [INSPIRE].
- [163] L. Marzola, A. Racioppi and V. Vaskonen, Phase transition and gravitational wave phenomenology of scalar conformal extensions of the Standard Model, Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) 484 [arXiv:1704.01034] [INSPIRE].
- [164] C. Marzo, L. Marzola and V. Vaskonen, Phase transition and vacuum stability in the classically conformal B-L model, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 601 [arXiv:1811.11169]
 [INSPIRE].

- [165] I. Baldes and C. Garcia-Cely, Strong gravitational radiation from a simple dark matter model, JHEP 05 (2019) 190 [arXiv:1809.01198] [INSPIRE].
- [166] T. Prokopec, J. Rezacek and B. Świeżewska, Gravitational waves from conformal symmetry breaking, JCAP 02 (2019) 009 [arXiv:1809.11129] [INSPIRE].
- [167] V. Brdar, A.J. Helmboldt and M. Lindner, Strong Supercooling as a Consequence of Renormalization Group Consistency, JHEP 12 (2019) 158 [arXiv:1910.13460] [INSPIRE].
- [168] J. Ellis, M. Lewicki, J.M. No and V. Vaskonen, Gravitational wave energy budget in strongly supercooled phase transitions, JCAP 06 (2019) 024 [arXiv:1903.09642] [INSPIRE].
- [169] J. Ellis, M. Lewicki and J.M. No, Gravitational waves from first-order cosmological phase transitions: lifetime of the sound wave source, JCAP 07 (2020) 050 [arXiv:2003.07360] [INSPIRE].
- [170] J. Ellis, M. Lewicki and V. Vaskonen, Updated predictions for gravitational waves produced in a strongly supercooled phase transition, JCAP 11 (2020) 020 [arXiv:2007.15586] [INSPIRE].
- [171] P. Schwaller, Gravitational Waves from a Dark Phase Transition, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 181101 [arXiv:1504.07263] [INSPIRE].
- [172] M. Aoki, H. Goto and J. Kubo, Gravitational Waves from Hidden QCD Phase Transition, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 075045 [arXiv:1709.07572] [INSPIRE].
- [173] M. Aoki and J. Kubo, Gravitational waves from chiral phase transition in a conformally extended standard model, JCAP 04 (2020) 001 [arXiv:1910.05025] [INSPIRE].
- [174] S. De Curtis, L. Delle Rose and G. Panico, Composite Dynamics in the Early Universe, JHEP 12 (2019) 149 [arXiv:1909.07894] [INSPIRE].
- [175] A. Azatov and M. Vanvlasselaer, *Phase transitions in perturbative walking dynamics*, *JHEP* 09 (2020) 085 [arXiv:2003.10265] [INSPIRE].
- [176] F. Bigazzi, A. Caddeo, A.L. Cotrone and A. Paredes, Dark Holograms and Gravitational Waves, JHEP 04 (2021) 094 [arXiv:2011.08757] [INSPIRE].
- [177] F.R. Ares, M. Hindmarsh, C. Hoyos and N. Jokela, Gravitational waves from a holographic phase transition, JHEP 04 (2021) 100 [arXiv:2011.12878] [INSPIRE].
- [178] W.-C. Huang, M. Reichert, F. Sannino and Z.-W. Wang, Testing the dark SU(N) Yang-Mills theory confined landscape: From the lattice to gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 035005 [arXiv:2012.11614] [INSPIRE].
- [179] J. Halverson, C. Long, A. Maiti, B. Nelson and G. Salinas, *Gravitational waves from dark Yang-Mills sectors*, JHEP 05 (2021) 154 [arXiv:2012.04071] [INSPIRE].
- [180] M. Reichert, F. Sannino, Z.-W. Wang and C. Zhang, Dark confinement and chiral phase transitions: gravitational waves vs matter representations, JHEP 01 (2022) 003 [arXiv:2109.11552] [INSPIRE].
- [181] R. Jinno and M. Takimoto, Gravitational waves from bubble dynamics: Beyond the Envelope, JCAP 01 (2019) 060 [arXiv:1707.03111] [INSPIRE].
- [182] T. Konstandin, Gravitational radiation from a bulk flow model, JCAP 03 (2018) 047 [arXiv:1712.06869] [INSPIRE].
- [183] M. Lewicki and V. Vaskonen, Gravitational wave spectra from strongly supercooled phase transitions, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 1003 [arXiv:2007.04967] [INSPIRE].

- M. Lewicki and V. Vaskonen, Gravitational waves from colliding vacuum bubbles in gauge theories, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 437 [Erratum ibid. 81 (2021) 1077] [arXiv:2012.07826]
 [INSPIRE].
- [185] D. Cutting, E.G. Escartin, M. Hindmarsh and D.J. Weir, Gravitational waves from vacuum first order phase transitions II: from thin to thick walls, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 023531 [arXiv:2005.13537] [INSPIRE].
- [186] R. Jinno, T. Konstandin and M. Takimoto, *Relativistic bubble collisions a closer look*, JCAP 09 (2019) 035 [arXiv:1906.02588] [INSPIRE].
- [187] M. Lewicki and V. Vaskonen, On bubble collisions in strongly supercooled phase transitions, Phys. Dark Univ. 30 (2020) 100672 [arXiv:1912.00997] [INSPIRE].
- [188] M. Kamionkowski, A. Kosowsky and M.S. Turner, Gravitational radiation from first order phase transitions, Phys. Rev. D 49 (1994) 2837 [astro-ph/9310044] [INSPIRE].
- [189] S.J. Huber and T. Konstandin, Gravitational Wave Production by Collisions: More Bubbles, JCAP 09 (2008) 022 [arXiv:0806.1828] [INSPIRE].
- [190] R. Jinno and M. Takimoto, Gravitational waves from bubble collisions: An analytic derivation, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 024009 [arXiv:1605.01403] [INSPIRE].
- [191] R. Durrer and C. Caprini, Primordial magnetic fields and causality, JCAP 11 (2003) 010 [astro-ph/0305059] [INSPIRE].
- [192] C. Caprini, R. Durrer, T. Konstandin and G. Servant, General Properties of the Gravitational Wave Spectrum from Phase Transitions, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 083519 [arXiv:0901.1661]
 [INSPIRE].
- [193] R.-G. Cai, S. Pi and M. Sasaki, Universal infrared scaling of gravitational wave background spectra, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 083528 [arXiv:1909.13728] [INSPIRE].
- [194] A. Hook, G. Marques-Tavares and D. Racco, Causal gravitational waves as a probe of free streaming particles and the expansion of the Universe, JHEP 02 (2021) 117 [arXiv:2010.03568] [INSPIRE].
- [195] E. Thrane and J.D. Romano, Sensitivity curves for searches for gravitational-wave backgrounds, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 124032 [arXiv:1310.5300] [INSPIRE].
- [196] C. Caprini, D.G. Figueroa, R. Flauger, G. Nardini, M. Peloso, M. Pieroni et al., Reconstructing the spectral shape of a stochastic gravitational wave background with LISA, JCAP 11 (2019) 017 [arXiv:1906.09244] [INSPIRE].
- [197] B. Allen and J.D. Romano, Detecting a stochastic background of gravitational radiation: Signal processing strategies and sensitivities, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 102001
 [gr-qc/9710117] [INSPIRE].
- [198] H. Kudoh, A. Taruya, T. Hiramatsu and Y. Himemoto, Detecting a gravitational-wave background with next-generation space interferometers, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 064006 [gr-qc/0511145] [INSPIRE].
- [199] D. Brzeminski, A. Hook and G. Marques-Tavares, Precision Early Universe Cosmology from Stochastic Gravitational Waves, arXiv:2203.13842 [INSPIRE].
- [200] LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, Upper Limits on the Stochastic Gravitational-Wave Background from Advanced LIGO's First Observing Run, Phys. Rev. Lett.
 118 (2017) 121101 [Erratum ibid. 119 (2017) 029901] [arXiv:1612.02029] [INSPIRE].

- [201] LIGO SCIENTIFIC and VIRGO collaborations, Search for the isotropic stochastic background using data from Advanced LIGO's second observing run, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 061101 [arXiv:1903.02886] [INSPIRE].
- [202] KAGRA, VIRGO and LIGO SCIENTIFIC collaborations, Upper limits on the isotropic gravitational-wave background from Advanced LIGO and Advanced Virgo's third observing run, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 022004 [arXiv:2101.12130] [INSPIRE].
- [203] S. Isoyama, H. Nakano and T. Nakamura, Multiband Gravitational-Wave Astronomy: Observing binary inspirals with a decihertz detector, B-DECIGO, PTEP 2018 (2018) 073E01 [arXiv:1802.06977] [INSPIRE].
- [204] M. Breitbach, J. Kopp, E. Madge, T. Opferkuch and P. Schwaller, Dark, Cold, and Noisy: Constraining Secluded Hidden Sectors with Gravitational Waves, JCAP 07 (2019) 007 [arXiv:1811.11175] [INSPIRE].
- [205] S. Hild et al., Sensitivity Studies for Third-Generation Gravitational Wave Observatories, Class. Quant. Grav. 28 (2011) 094013 [arXiv:1012.0908] [INSPIRE].
- [206] Y. Gouttenoire, G. Servant and P. Simakachorn, Beyond the Standard Models with Cosmic Strings, JCAP 07 (2020) 032 [arXiv:1912.02569] [INSPIRE].
- [207] P.A. Rosado, Gravitational wave background from binary systems, Phys. Rev. D 84 (2011) 084004 [arXiv:1106.5795] [INSPIRE].
- [208] T. Robson, N.J. Cornish and C. Liu, The construction and use of LISA sensitivity curves, Class. Quant. Grav. 36 (2019) 105011 [arXiv:1803.01944] [INSPIRE].
- [209] C. Cutler and J. Harms, BBO and the neutron-star-binary subtraction problem, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 042001 [gr-qc/0511092] [INSPIRE].
- [210] M.R. Adams and N.J. Cornish, Discriminating between a Stochastic Gravitational Wave Background and Instrument Noise, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 022002 [arXiv:1002.1291]
 [INSPIRE].
- [211] M.R. Adams and N.J. Cornish, Detecting a Stochastic Gravitational Wave Background in the presence of a Galactic Foreground and Instrument Noise, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 022001 [arXiv:1307.4116] [INSPIRE].
- [212] S. Sachdev, T. Regimbau and B.S. Sathyaprakash, Subtracting compact binary foreground sources to reveal primordial gravitational-wave backgrounds, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 024051 [arXiv:2002.05365] [INSPIRE].
- [213] R. Flauger, N. Karnesis, G. Nardini, M. Pieroni, A. Ricciardone and J. Torrado, Improved reconstruction of a stochastic gravitational wave background with LISA, JCAP 01 (2021) 059 [arXiv:2009.11845] [INSPIRE].
- [214] G. Boileau, N. Christensen, R. Meyer and N.J. Cornish, Spectral separation of the stochastic gravitational-wave background for LISA: Observing both cosmological and astrophysical backgrounds, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 103529 [arXiv:2011.05055] [INSPIRE].
- [215] K. Martinovic, P.M. Meyers, M. Sakellariadou and N. Christensen, Simultaneous estimation of astrophysical and cosmological stochastic gravitational-wave backgrounds with terrestrial detectors, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 043023 [arXiv:2011.05697] [INSPIRE].
- [216] K. Schmitz, LISA Sensitivity to Gravitational Waves from Sound Waves, Symmetry 12 (2020) 1477 [arXiv:2005.10789] [INSPIRE].

- [217] A.J. Farmer and E.S. Phinney, The gravitational wave background from cosmological compact binaries, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 346 (2003) 1197 [astro-ph/0304393] [INSPIRE].
- [218] T. Regimbau, The astrophysical gravitational wave stochastic background, Res. Astron. Astrophys. 11 (2011) 369 [arXiv:1101.2762] [INSPIRE].
- [219] C. Périgois, C. Belczynski, T. Bulik and T. Regimbau, StarTrack predictions of the stochastic gravitational-wave background from compact binary mergers, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 043002 [arXiv:2008.04890] [INSPIRE].
- [220] A. Romero, K. Martinovic, T.A. Callister, H.-K. Guo, M. Martínez, M. Sakellariadou et al., Implications for First-Order Cosmological Phase Transitions from the Third LIGO-Virgo Observing Run, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 151301 [arXiv:2102.01714] [INSPIRE].
- [221] G. Barenboim and W.-I. Park, Gravitational waves from first order phase transitions as a probe of an early matter domination era and its inverse problem, Phys. Lett. B 759 (2016) 430 [arXiv:1605.03781] [INSPIRE].
- [222] H.-K. Guo, K. Sinha, D. Vagie and G. White, Phase Transitions in an Expanding Universe: Stochastic Gravitational Waves in Standard and Non-Standard Histories, JCAP 01 (2021) 001 [arXiv:2007.08537] [INSPIRE].
- [223] G.F. Giudice, E.W. Kolb and A. Riotto, Largest temperature of the radiation era and its cosmological implications, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 023508 [hep-ph/0005123] [INSPIRE].
- [224] A.V. Patwardhan, G.M. Fuller, C.T. Kishimoto and A. Kusenko, Diluted equilibrium sterile neutrino dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 103509 [arXiv:1507.01977] [INSPIRE].
- [225] A. Berlin, D. Hooper and G. Krnjaic, PeV-Scale Dark Matter as a Thermal Relic of a Decoupled Sector, Phys. Lett. B 760 (2016) 106 [arXiv:1602.08490] [INSPIRE].
- [226] A. Berlin, D. Hooper and G. Krnjaic, Thermal Dark Matter From A Highly Decoupled Sector, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 095019 [arXiv:1609.02555] [INSPIRE].
- [227] J. Bramante and J. Unwin, Superheavy Thermal Dark Matter and Primordial Asymmetries, JHEP 02 (2017) 119 [arXiv:1701.05859] [INSPIRE].
- [228] S. Hamdan and J. Unwin, Dark Matter Freeze-out During Matter Domination, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 33 (2018) 1850181 [arXiv:1710.03758] [INSPIRE].
- [229] R. Allahverdi and J.K. Osiński, Nonthermal dark matter from modified early matter domination, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 083517 [arXiv:1812.10522] [INSPIRE].
- [230] R. Contino, A. Mitridate, A. Podo and M. Redi, *Gluequark Dark Matter*, JHEP 02 (2019) 187 [arXiv:1811.06975] [INSPIRE].
- [231] P. Chanda, S. Hamdan and J. Unwin, Reviving Z and Higgs Mediated Dark Matter Models in Matter Dominated Freeze-out, JCAP 01 (2020) 034 [arXiv:1911.02616] [INSPIRE].
- [232] R. Contino, A. Podo and F. Revello, Composite Dark Matter from Strongly-Interacting Chiral Dynamics, JHEP 02 (2021) 091 [arXiv:2008.10607] [INSPIRE].
- [233] R. Garani, M. Redi and A. Tesi, Dark QCD matters, JHEP 12 (2021) 139 [arXiv:2105.03429] [INSPIRE].
- [234] L. Heurtier and F. Huang, Inflaton portal to a highly decoupled EeV dark matter particle, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 043507 [arXiv:1905.05191] [INSPIRE].
- [235] T. Hambye, M. Lucca and L. Vanderheyden, Dark matter as a heavy thermal hot relic, Phys. Lett. B 807 (2020) 135553 [arXiv:2003.04936] [INSPIRE].

- [236] H. Davoudiasl and G. Mohlabeng, Getting a THUMP from a WIMP, JHEP 04 (2020) 177 [arXiv:1912.05572] [INSPIRE].
- [237] E.D. Kramer, E. Kuflik, N. Levi, N.J. Outmezguine and J.T. Ruderman, Heavy Thermal Dark Matter from a New Collision Mechanism, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 081802 [arXiv:2003.04900] [INSPIRE].
- [238] L. Bian, X. Liu and K.-P. Xie, Probing superheavy dark matter with gravitational waves, JHEP 11 (2021) 175 [arXiv:2107.13112] [INSPIRE].
- [239] H. Kim and E. Kuflik, Superheavy Thermal Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 191801 [arXiv:1906.00981] [INSPIRE].
- [240] K. Harigaya, M. Ibe, K. Kaneta, W. Nakano and M. Suzuki, Thermal Relic Dark Matter Beyond the Unitarity Limit, JHEP 08 (2016) 151 [arXiv:1606.00159] [INSPIRE].
- [241] A. Mitridate, M. Redi, J. Smirnov and A. Strumia, Dark Matter as a weakly coupled Dark Baryon, JHEP 10 (2017) 210 [arXiv:1707.05380] [INSPIRE].
- [242] M. Geller, S. Iwamoto, G. Lee, Y. Shadmi and O. Telem, Dark quarkonium formation in the early universe, JHEP 06 (2018) 135 [arXiv:1802.07720] [INSPIRE].
- [243] M.J. Baker, J. Kopp and A.J. Long, Filtered Dark Matter at a First Order Phase Transition, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 151102 [arXiv:1912.02830] [INSPIRE].
- [244] D. Chway, T.H. Jung and C.S. Shin, Dark matter filtering-out effect during a first-order phase transition, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 095019 [arXiv:1912.04238] [INSPIRE].
- [245] M. Ahmadvand, Filtered asymmetric dark matter during the Peccei-Quinn phase transition, JHEP 10 (2021) 109 [arXiv:2108.00958] [INSPIRE].
- [246] P. Asadi, E.D. Kramer, E. Kuflik, G.W. Ridgway, T.R. Slatyer and J. Smirnov, Thermal squeezeout of dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 095013 [arXiv:2103.09827] [INSPIRE].
- [247] P. Asadi, E.D. Kramer, E. Kuflik, G.W. Ridgway, T.R. Slatyer and J. Smirnov, Accidentally Asymmetric Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 211101 [arXiv:2103.09822] [INSPIRE].
- [248] C. Gross, G. Landini, A. Strumia and D. Teresi, Dark Matter as dark dwarfs and other macroscopic objects: multiverse relics?, JHEP 09 (2021) 033 [arXiv:2105.02840] [INSPIRE].
- [249] A. Falkowski and J.M. No, Non-thermal Dark Matter Production from the Electroweak Phase Transition: Multi-TeV WIMPs and 'Baby-Zillas', JHEP 02 (2013) 034 [arXiv:1211.5615] [INSPIRE].
- [250] A. Azatov, M. Vanvlasselaer and W. Yin, Dark Matter production from relativistic bubble walls, JHEP 03 (2021) 288 [arXiv:2101.05721] [INSPIRE].
- [251] L. Randall and R. Sundrum, A Large mass hierarchy from a small extra dimension, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 (1999) 3370 [hep-ph/9905221] [INSPIRE].
- [252] W.D. Goldberger and M.B. Wise, Modulus stabilization with bulk fields, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 (1999) 4922 [hep-ph/9907447] [INSPIRE].
- [253] N. Arkani-Hamed, M. Porrati and L. Randall, Holography and phenomenology, JHEP 08 (2001) 017 [hep-th/0012148] [INSPIRE].
- [254] R. Rattazzi and A. Zaffaroni, Comments on the holographic picture of the Randall-Sundrum model, JHEP 04 (2001) 021 [hep-th/0012248] [INSPIRE].

- [255] G.W. Anderson and L.J. Hall, The Electroweak phase transition and baryogenesis, Phys. Rev. D 45 (1992) 2685 [INSPIRE].
- [256] A.H. Guth and S.H.H. Tye, Phase Transitions and Magnetic Monopole Production in the Very Early Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 44 (1980) 631 [Erratum ibid. 44 (1980) 963] [INSPIRE].
- [257] A.H. Guth and E.J. Weinberg, Cosmological Consequences of a First Order Phase Transition in the SU(5) Grand Unified Model, Phys. Rev. D 23 (1981) 876 [INSPIRE].
- [258] A.H. Guth and E.J. Weinberg, Could the Universe Have Recovered from a Slow First Order Phase Transition?, Nucl. Phys. B 212 (1983) 321 [INSPIRE].
- [259] K. Enqvist, J. Ignatius, K. Kajantie and K. Rummukainen, Nucleation and bubble growth in a first order cosmological electroweak phase transition, Phys. Rev. D 45 (1992) 3415 [INSPIRE].
- [260] M.S. Turner, E.J. Weinberg and L.M. Widrow, Bubble nucleation in first order inflation and other cosmological phase transitions, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 2384 [INSPIRE].
- [261] P. Gondolo and G. Gelmini, Cosmic abundances of stable particles: Improved analysis, Nucl. Phys. B 360 (1991) 145 [INSPIRE].
- [262] V. Shtabovenko, R. Mertig and F. Orellana, New Developments in FeynCalc 9.0, Comput. Phys. Commun. 207 (2016) 432 [arXiv:1601.01167] [INSPIRE].
- [263] G. Källén, Elementary particle physics, Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA, U.S.A. (1964).